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Preface

[~

THIS book is written from a defimte pomt of view. It 1s that the

accidents of personality play a great réle in lstory. As Bertrand
Russell says, the Russian revolution might not have occurred without
Lenin, and modern European development would have been very dif-
ferent if Bismarck had died as a child. The personality of Karl Marx
himself has powerfully influenced the econommc interpretation of history.
Important political, religious, demographic, nationalist, as well as eco-
nomic factors are not, I believe, neglected mn this book. But its main
trend is personal.

The fact may be an outrage to reason, but it cannot be denied: unre-
solved personal conflicts in the lives of various European politicians may
contribute to the collapse of our civilization. This is the age of great
dictatorial leaders ; millions depend for life or death on the will of Hitler,
Mussolini, Stalin. Never have politics been so vital and dynamic as
to-day, and so pervasively obtrusive in nonpolitical affairs. The politicians
usurp other fields. What fictional drama can compare with the dramatic
reality of Mussolini’s career? What literary craftsman ever wrote his-
tory as Trotsky both wrote and made it? What books in the realm of
art have had the sale or influence of Hitler’s Mein Kampf?

These men and their lesser contemporaries—French politicians like
Daladier and Blum, crude and boisterous adventurers of the type of
Goering, nationalist officers like General Franco, British leaders like
Chamberlain and Churchill, Balkan kings hike Carol—are playing deci-
sive roles in the stupendous drama of Europe at war. It is very difficult
to explore usefully the private lives of these men. This is not a peephole
book. It contains no gossip for gossip’s sake. But it tries to tell the
intimate story of these leaders, the personal sources of their power, the
reasons for their impact on history. Who are these men who would
dominate our lives?

The book begins with Hitler, then makes a tour around him. I have
tried to note the impingement of Hitler’s Germany on every European
country, and to include an analysis of every important European crisis
and situation. We visit, in a counterclockwise circle, France, Spain, Italy;
make a detour upward to that dominant island, England, proceed

ix



x PREFACE

through the deceased states of Central Europe and the battered sur-
vivors of the Balkans; finish the circle around Germagy with what
was once Poland; visit Scandinavia and the neutral states briefly;
inspect what we have seen of Western Europe at Geneva; and emerge
finally in the Soviet Union.

J. G



Bibliographical Note

NSIDE EUROPE was first written in the summer and autumn of

1935, and published in both the Umted States and England in Jan-
uary, 1936. Since that time 1t has been revised and republished so
frequently that a word of explanation is perhaps necessary.

The original American edition is designated on the back of the title
page with the key letters A-L to H-L inclusive. In March, 1936 I wrote
a new preface, carrying on events; oddly enough I finished this preface
on the very day that Hitler marched into the Rhineland. Soon there-
after—in May, 1936—another new preface became necessary, although
the original text of the book was unchanged.

In the late summer of 1936 my publishers suggested that I rewrite
considerable portions of the book, so as to bring it up to date more
comprehensively. This was an adventurous undertaking to which I
gladly agreed. So in October, 1936, the first completely revised and
reset edition appeared. I eliminated some material that had already
become outdated, made numerous minor changes, added new sections
on the Rhineland crisis and the Ethiopian war, and wrote two entirely
new chapters, one on Léon Blum, one on De Valera. This edition was
called simply the “Revised Edition,” and is identified by the key letters
I-L through M-L.

In February, 1937 a new chapter was inserted in this edition, dealing
with the Simpson crisis and the abdication of King Edward VIIL

The pressure of European events increased, the march of the groan-
ing continent continued. In the autumn of 1937 I undertook another
complete revision, which was published in the last days of that year.
This was called the “New 1938 Edition,” and was identified by the
initials K-M to F-N inclusive. It was the 39th printing since first publica-
tion. This “1938 Edition” was fully reset and published anew. It con-
tained a map, 800 textual revisions and about 30,000 new words, with
new chapters on the Russian treason trials, the neutral states (which I
had hitherto neglected), the war in Spain, and Neville Chamberlain.

Various minor changes were made during 1938, while I was absent
in Asia. One series of editions contained illustrations; they were sub-
sequently dropped. In the spring of 1938, after the seizure of Austria,
my publishers added footnotes here and there.

X1



xii BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTE

After the Munich crisis, in October, 1938, I wrote two new chap-
ters, which were promptly incorporated into the book. One was a dis~
cussion of the Austrian and Czechoslovak crises, called “The Fascist
Offensive” ; one was a new introduction summarizing the events of the
year. This edition containing these new chapters, numbered K-N to L-O,
and marking the 5oth printing since original publication, was called the
“Peace” Edition.

From that time until the present, events came so quickly that a new
comprehensive revision was impossible. Now, after the outbreak of
war, I have attempted it. The present edition, known as the
“War Edition,” is again—for the third time—completely rewritten
and reset. I have made multitudinous additions and subtractions, with
about 2,000 textual changes and perhaps 20,000 new words. (When
Inside Europe was first published in 1936 it was 180,000 words long;
it now runs to about 265,000.) I have included new sections on Daladier
and Churchill, new material on almost every country, and a new chapter
on the events from Munich to the invasion of Poland. There is also
a brief introduction summarizing events since the outbreak of war.

Despite all these changes, insertions, subtractions, revisions, and
additions, the essential structure and point of view of Imside Europe
have remained unchanged. It still begins with Hitler, it still ends
with Stalin. During the unprecedented turbulence and dynamism of
the last five years, I have naturally had to modify some early opinions,
but basically the book conforms still to the structure I first gave it.

As T write this I feel that I will never revise Inside Europe again.
The war brings new perspectives. I hope, however, to add a brief
preface or introduction each year. But the present edition will be the
last, I think, to be completely rewritten and reset.

Since its first appearance Inside Europe has been published in four-
teen countries. It has been translated into French, German, Spanish
(two Spanish editions exist), Chinese, Japanese, Dutch, Swedish,
Norwegian, Danish, Czechoslovak, Hungarian, Jugoslav, and Esto-
nian. Parts of it have appeared in other languages.

J. G



Introduction

~ A~ A

N SEPTEMBER, 1939, the catastrophe of war again descended on

shaken Europe. No one wanted this war. In the tremendous week
from August 21 to August 27 I flew from Moscow to London, stopping
off in the Baltic and Scandinavian states, I kept watching the fronters.
From the air you can’t tell where Russia stops, where Latvia starts.
You can't tell the difference, crossing from Sweden to Denmark te
Germany to Holland, between one country and the next. The greenish
brown fields, the red brick houses, the slate roofs, are the same.
They all seem part of a common whole, a common organism. You
can’t tell frontiers apart—~from the air. But you certainly have to learn
to tell them apart, on earth.

In the stormy summer of 1939 I visited eighteen European coun-
tries. I circumnavigated Germany, which means going to thirteen
different states, and I spent some time in Germany itself, in the Soviet
Union, and in Great Britain. Everywhere the common people wanted
peace. The shopkeepers in Amsterdam and Cologne; the peasants har-
vesting wheat from Belgium to Estonia—they wanted peace. In Latvia
and Poland I talked to housewrves, to telegraph clerks, to waiters in the
coffee houses; they wanted peace. Flying across the Baltic I stopped
for a moment in a Finnish town; the pretty girls on that golden beach
wanted peace; so did the shipmasters in their old schooners. Every-
where, in every country, the common people wanted peace. They didn’t
want war. But war was what they got.

Nor did any European government want war. The British govern-
ment certainly did not want war. Nor did the French government.
Nor did the Polish government. Nor, I think, did the German gov-
ernment. Up to the very last moment,! it seems reasonably clear,
Hitler thought that he could—once more—manufacture an enormous
crisis, bluff his way through it, and emerge with victory without having
to fight. He thought that by the Russo-German pact he could frighten
the British off, nip Danzig away from Poland, and retire triumphantly
without conflict. Hitler did not want war. He must know that, by all
the imperatives of reason, war will destroy hum. What he wanted was

1 The Polish crisis and events leading up to the outbreak of the war are described
in Chapter IX below, a new chapter 1 this edition.
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victory without war. His whole prestige rested on the concept o
victory without war.

Why, then, did war come? First, because Hitler made his colossa
miscalculation. Such a miscalculation was, however, inevitable fron
the nature of the Nazi movement. Hitler became a prisoner of force:
stronger than he was. He had to expand, or burst. He built his ow:
dynamics ; they swept him on.

Second, war came because the British decided to resist. They de
cided to resist, I think, for three main reasons: (a) “fed-upness” witt
the recurring Hitler crises, a feeling that even warfare was bette:
than the intolerable assault on nerves and the disruption of all norma
activity that each fresh crisis brought; (b) realization that, if Hitles
took Danzig, the whole of Poland would go next, and after tha
whatever Hitler chose to grab, until all Europe might be his; (c) forme
British weakness. Because the British had previously been weak, i
was doubly necessary to be strong.

The war was not popular, though the British faced it with stubborr
grimness. No war can be popular nowadays. People know too much. They
remember the last war, which ended only twenty-one short years ago
They remember slogans like “Save the World for Democracy” and “The
War to End War.” They cannot so readily believe in slogans this
time. Almost the most astonishing thing I saw in London during the
first weird month of war was a brass band—astonishing because it:
martial music, normally something to be taken for granted, seemec
strangely out of place. There was no Rupert Brooke in 1939. There
was no glamour left to warfare.

The British are a decent, a kindly, a humanitarian, an intensely
civilized folk; they know that war costs much, and that it may settle
little; they abhor the pain, the suffering, the tremendous human dis
location that this war—or any war—must bring. Nevertheless, they
had to fight. They fought with grim and even bitter determination
Germany was unified by the feeling that Britain sought to destroy
Germany. Britain was unified by the conviction that no peace, no law
and order, no fruitful development of national life, no security fo1
small or big states, no decency in international relations, was possible
until Hitlerism was destroyed.
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So war began—and surely it was the strangest war ever fought any-
where, at least in its first few months. Inspect the picture: massive
armies were locked in naked embrace on the Western Front, and scarcely
moved an inch. Enormous masses of men, with their inordinate cargoes
of munitions, tiptoed toward action as if on eggshells. The great capital
cities were blacked out against air raids that did not come.

The reason for this somber inactivity in the west was surely not
far to seek. Neither side dared to attack the other fromtally, with
artillery and infantry in the conventional manner, because of the terri-
ble losses a major offensive would entail. The Maginot and Siegfried
lines are probably the strongest positions any army ever faced. General
Gamelin could have smashed through the Westwall if he had been willing
to lose a million men. But no nation nowadays can risk such appalling
casualties. Finally, there was the question of man power. Late in 1939
the British and French were still outnumbered in the west. But a big
offensive, to have even a remote chance of success, needs great superior-
ity on the part of the attacking force. Therefore the French and British
had to wait.

London expected catastrophic and cataclysmic air raids almost at once.
The first sirens blew twenty-two minutes after Mr. Chamberlain declared
that a state of war existed. In London alone, the hospitals were cleared
to take care of 300,000 casualties in the first week. But neither side
bombed the great western cities. Indeed the war in the air was fought,
in the first few months at least, with extraordinary politeness, with
gloves on as it were. British aviators mapped the entire Siegfried line,
at times flying for miles at a very low altitude indeed, without being
molested In fact German troops waved them on cheerfully. German
pilots, who took part in raids on British naval bases in Scotland, said
that they were subject to courtmartial and the death penalty if—by
some error—they bombed open towns.

There were several reasons why the great cities were not bombed.
From the British side one may mention three. First, the early raids on
military objectives, like that at Kiel the second night of the war,
caused severe losses. It became clear that in a major raid the attacking
force would lose between 20 and 30 per cent of its planes. The British
could not risk such losses, since the German air force has about a
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10 to 7 superiority over British and French air fleets combined. But
time will, it is presumed, redress this disadvantage; therefore it was
good sense on the part of the British to wait. Second, the British did
not want to risk bombing civilians, and they knew that in a big bom-
bardment some women and children were bound to get hit. Third,
the British feared retaliation., They did not bomb Germany because
they did not want to get bombed themselves.

The Germans did not begin serious assaults on British cities for
similar reasons. They too hated to risk precious planes. They too hesi-
tated to provoke retaliation. Besides, during the first months of the war,
German plans were based on the idea of a “peace offensive.” They
hoped to persuade the British to call off the war. Therefore they would
not risk inflaming Britain by severe raids. They used the threat of attack
as a weapon with which they hoped to force peace.

I cannot, at this date (December 22, 1939), pretend to make any
detailed or exhaustive history of the first months of the war. That
task must await better perspective. It may, however, be useful to sketch
briefly some main events. The body of this edition of Inside Europe
1s completely revised up to and including the outbreak of the war. It
carries the story of each country into the autumn of 1939. In this
addendum I wish merely to say a further word about the war itself.

. . . . . . .

The German invasion of Poland began at dawn on September 1. The
campaign was fierce and brilliant. It was a real Blitzkrieg. For years we
had heard of the professional skill and competence of the Reichswehr,
and of the tremendous potentialities of Marshal Goering’s huge air
fleet. We now saw what it could do. What it did was plenty. The Poles
were badly led, isolated from all assistance, and pitifully incompetent ;
nevertheless, the German campaign was a masterpiece. Nothing quite
like it has ever been seen in military history.

First, the Germans attacked by air power the chief airdromes in
Poland, all but obliterating them in the first forty-eight hours. This
meant that the Poles had practically no liaison, no opportunity to
counter-attack, no communication. Second, the German air fleet un-
mercifully bombed Polish railway stations and lines, which frustrated
Polish mobilization. Third, three highly mechanized German armies
attacked from three directions. General von Kluge with twenty divi-
sions nipped off the Corridor from the northwest and presently met
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a second army which struck toward Warsaw from East Prussia. Mean-
time, von Runstedt’s force of thirty-five divisions hammered toward
Kattowitz, Cracow and Tarnow m the south. This triple pimncers
movement was perfectly successful. The Polish army as a whole never
got a chance to fight. By September 8, German forces had reached the
outskirts of Warsaw; by September 12, they had wiped up Poland—
except for Warsaw which was isolated—west of the Vistula They
continued to advance and clean up what resistance remained. Warsaw
held out bravely and hopelessly, and capitulated on September 27.
In a month, the war was over.

Why did not the British and French help the Poles? Certainly the
Poles, in those terrible first days, anticipated prompt assistance—as
the British pledge called for—and felt very badly let down. According
to the British Blue Book, Colonel Beck, the Polish foreign minister,
was hoping for British “action of a military character to relieve the
pressure” on Poland as early as September 1, the first day of the war.
The British ambassador in Warsaw telegraphed Lord Halifax ot
September 2, “I trust I may be informed at the earliest possible mo~
ment of our declaration of war and that our air force will make every
effort to show activity on the western front with a view to relieving
pressure here.”

The ambassador’s hopes were dashed by events. To say nothing of
Polish hopes. But it was impossible from any practical point of view
for either the British or French to send direct help to Poland. There
was 1o way to get troops there. Nor could they send aircraft to Poland
in any considerable number. We know now that the Germans used at
least 9o per cent of their first line planes in the Polish campaign. But
no one knew this then. The British, in those first furious and uncer-
tain days, had no guarantee that the Germans might not make a ter-
rific assault on Paris and London. They had to keep every plane at
home. Nor was a frontal attack on the Siegfried line possible. All
the British could do was say to the Poles, in effect, “Wait. Your only
hope of resurrection is that we win the war in the west. If we risk
anything to help you now, we may both lose. Wait. Your time will come.”

Great Britain meantime had declared that a state of war existed
with Germany as from 11:00 A M., Sunday, September 3. The Saturday
had passed in final desperate maneuvers to save the peace. When, on
September 2, Chamberlain postponed the declaration of war, he came
near to being shouted down in the House of Commons. The French
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followed the British declaration of war on Sunday, September 3, at
5:00 P.M. Both countries immediately set about the fullest cooperation
and coordination. Events took place almost at once that had taken
years to achieve in the first world war. The principle of a unified com-
mand had already been accepted; a Supreme War Council comprising
both French and British began to function. By September 12—an aston-
ishingly quick performance—British troops were landing in France.

The major attention of the British was, however, devoted to air and
sea. On September 4 occurred the first big air raid of the war in the
west, a British attack on the German fleet at Wilhelmshaven. On the
following nights the British sent planes over Germany dropping
millions upon millions of propaganda leaflets. Churchill became First
Lord of the Admiralty on September 4, and a Ministry of Economic
Warfare was set up, with the veteran treasury official Sir Frederick
L eith-Ross as director general. This ministry was in essence a ministry
of blockade. It became clear that the major British strategy would be
what it turned out to be in the last war, an attempt to starve Germany
out. To this blockade the Germans responded with counter-blockade.
The British sank or interned German ships, and set up a severe con-
traband control. The German U-boats sought to torpedo and sink
British merchantmen. As early as September 29, the British had the
convoy system in full operation. This checked the U-boats.

During the first weeks of the war almost everyone expected a
French offensive on the Western Front. But—for reasons I have
adduced—it did not materialize. General Gamelin began a process of
infinitely slow and careful nibbling. He sent scouting parties to mop
up the No Man’s Land between the two great western walls. By
September 9 most of the Warndt forest fell to the French. But the
advance, severely limited in objectives, was severely cautious in pro-
cedure. By the end of September the French stood on a thin line of
German territory along the whole Rhine-Moselle front, without how-
ever attempting to penetrate the Siegfried line proper. When Polish
resistance collapsed, the French withdrew. Stalemate then set in. It
lasted months, almost without activity. Each side sat deep in concrete,
kept warm, and waited. There were very few casualties. Probably from
September to December 15 fewer men were killed and wounded on
the western front than perished in a single minute’s advance in the
great offensives of 1914-18.

Meantime extraordinary events were taking place in the east. Russia
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watched the Polish campaign warily. On September 14, when it was
already clear that the Poles could not survive, an ominous press cam-
paign against Poland began in the Russian press? On Sunday, Sep-
tember 17, a Sunday never to be forgotten by journalists in London,
Russian troops invaded Poland along the whole length of the frontier.
This was a staggering event. It seemed to reverse the whole process
of Soviet history. Everywhere people had been disillusioned by the
Russo-German pact of August 24. Now came this sequel. The Soviet
Union, which had for so many years declaimed against aggression, be-
came an aggressor itself. The Russian invasion of Poland was a severe
blow to friends of the U.S.S.R.; it was a severer blow to Poland. It
was the coup de grdce. The Poles, trapped between two enemies, could
not possibly continue fighting. On September 17 the Polish govern-
ment fled. Rydz-Smigly and Beck were interned in Rumania. They
ought, one might say, to have been interned somewhere else before.
The Russians encountered very little resistance and reached Vilna
on September 18 and Lwow on the 2oth. Then Russian and German
armed forces met for the first time, and greeted one another, in of all
places Brest-Litovsk, where twenty-one years before they had signed
a pregnant peace. The two dictator states then carved Poland between
them. The fourth partition of Poland took place, and Poland as an
independent state disappeared. Provisionally the new Russo-German
frontier was drawn through Warsaw. The knife went through the
unhappy country’s heart. Subsequently the Russians agreed to recede
to the line Grajev-Brest Litovsk-Przemysl, roughly equivalent to the
Curzon line of 1919. They retained White Russia and a substantial
share of the Ukraine. On September 29 came a second Russo-German
friendship treaty, which delimited and confirmed the new frontiers.
But the Russians had by no means finished their adventures. On the
same day, September 29, the Soviets concluded a “Pact of Mutual
Assistance” with the small Baltic state Estonia. The Estonian foreign
minister had been summoned to Moscow ; he could not resist the Soviet
demands placed before him. Similar treaties, following similar diplo-
matic pressure, came very promptly with Latvia (October 5), and
Lithuania (October 10). The treaties were cut to the same pattern.
They gave the U.S.S.R. the right to establish naval and aerial bases

2 Tt is sometimes forgotten that, significantly, the Russians concluded an armistice
with Japan on September 16. This released them from any preoccupation with the
Far East, and provisionally gave them a free hand in the west.
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in each country, and to maintain garrisons there. Presently Red Army
troops marched into Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania, about 30,000 in
each country. The Baltic became, mn part, a Russian lake. Stalin ex-
tended the power if not the actual territory of the Soviet Union to
the old Tsarist frontier. These events staggered the western world.
The great unknown quantity was the position of Germany, and the
degree of association between Hitler and Stalin. Their cooperation
in regard to Poland was manifest. But whether Hitler approved of
Soviet penetration into the Baltic is far from certain. At once Hitler
summoned Baltic Germans back to Germany. An unprecedented forced
mugration took place of thousands of German families, some of whom
had lived in the Baltic area for centuries.

Soon after the Latvian pact, and before the Lithuanian pact was
concluded, the Russian government opened negotiations with Finland.
Their eyes turned north. Finland alone of the Baltic states remained
outside their new sphere of influence. The Russians were more polite
to the Finns—at first—than to the other Balts. The negotiations were
protracted. They began on October 7, and broke off on November 15
with the return of the Finnish delegation to Helsingfors. The Finns
refused to accede to the Russian demands. What the Russians wanted
was, 50 far as we know now, certain islands and headlands in the
Gulf of Finland for use as naval bases, as well as a territorial rectifica-
tion in the extreme north. The Finns would not give this territory up.
A few days of uneasy tension followed. Then—again ominously l—
came the familiar press campaign, then mass meetings in Russia against
the Finns, and finally that well-known diplomatic cure-all, a frontier
“incident.” It was as clumsy and obviously fabricated as all such
“incidents” have been since Mukden in 1931. On November 30, 1939,
the Russian invasion of Finland began.

Seldom has a more callous and brutal attempt to browbeat and club
a nation into submission taken place. But to the astonishment of
everyone the Finns, with a total population of 3,667,067, with only
insignificant and outdated equipment, isolated from outside help, fought
back. They attempted to repel the giant Russian invader, with his
170,000,000 people, his army of not less than 15,000,000 men. The war
opened with an aerial bombardment of Helsingfors. The Russians
then attacked with tanks and infantry on three fronts: in the extreme
north, near the Finnish nickel mines, where they sought to cut Finland
from the sea and establish a common frontier with Norway; in the
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middle, where they. hoped to cut the “waist of Finland” and reach
the Gulf of Bothnia, which would bring them very close indeed to
Sweden ; and 1 the south, on the Karelan Isthmus, between Leningrad
and Helsingfors. On all three fronts, Finnish resistance was stubborn.
Late in December the war was still being bitterly fought.

Meantime events in the west were largely confined to diplomacy,
propaganda, the air, and the sea. On October 6 Hitler made his most
important speech of the war to date, in which he summarized the
results of the Polish campaign, and outlined—not too specifically—his
conditions for peace. Tlhis was the culmmation of the so-called “peace
offensive.” The British replied that they could accept no peace pro-
posals which did not “effectively free Europe from the menace of
aggression,” that Hitler had “open aspirations for world domination,”
and that no trust could be put in his word.

Early in November it seemed that the Germans, to break the dead-
lock in the west, might attempt a flank movement on the 1914 pattern
and invade France through Holland and Belgium. Fear of invasion
was particularly acute m Holland On November 7 came a joint peace
offer by the Netherlands Queen and the Belgian King. It was rejected.
But because the Belgians associated themselves with the declaration
and emphasized their “solidarity” with the Netherlands, it may have
saved Holland from war. To attack Holland, and thus get precious
air bases for the campaign against England, was one thing for the
German general staff to consider. But to attack Belgium too, if the
Belgians gave permission for British and French troops to enter their
territory, was quite something else again.

During October and November air raids in the west were incessant
but seldom successful. The Germans on several occasions reached the
Firth of Forth and Scapa Flow, but their bombers did comparatively
little damage. On October 25 British reconnaissance planes flew over
Berlin for the first time. In mid-December British squadrons reached
Wilhelmshaven, and the fiercest air battle of the war was reported,
with several score of planes engaged.

At sea the British were almost completely successful in maintaining
their communications and keeping the Germans locked up. Sea power
was the great British contribution. On September 18, however, the
aircraft carrier Courageous was sunk, and on October 14—the single
most extraordinary feat of the war so far—a German submarine man-
aged to penetrate Scapa Flow, and torpedo the battleship Royal Oak.
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On November 26 the converted cruiser Rawalpindi was sunk in a naval
engagement near Iceland by one of the German pocket battleships that
still roamed the Atlantic. Meantime, by dropping magnetic mines from
the air, the Germans destroyed considerable amounts of British and
neutral shipping on the east coast of England. On December 17 the
pocket battleship Graf Spee was caught by three smaller British ships
near Montevideo, and forced into harbor after a brilliant action. Rather
than endure internment or risk destruction, the Graf Spee killed itself.
A few days later its captain committed suicide. Then on December 20
the luxury liner Columbus, rather than submit to capture, did likewise.

By mid-December the Germans claimed that they had destroyed
more than 800,000 tons of British and allied shipping. On the other
hand, the British blockade was becoming more efficacious and damaging
to the Germans day by day.

The position of the neutral states remained of the greatest possible
importance during the early months of the war. Almost the most in-
teresting thing about the struggle was the number of countries not
in it. Belgium, Holland, Spain, Hungary, Rumania, and the Balkan
and Scandinavian states maintained a precarious neutrality. On Oc-
tober 19 came a vitally important treaty between Britain, France, and
Turkey, binding the three states to cooperation and mutual defense.
This seemed to assure Turkish benevolence to the allies, though the
Turks are not obliged to take action against Soviet Russia. As to Italy,
Mussolini very carefully set about and maintained a policy of “non-
belligerence.”

What kept the neutral states neutral was, of course, self-interest
and the desire for self-preservation. Everybody wanted to dig in and
avoid the storm.
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Chapter /
Hitler

S R ~~ AN A~

The union of theorizer, orgamizer, and leader in one man
is the rarvest phemomenon on earth; therein lies greatmess.
—ApoLr HITLER

DOLF HITLER, irrational, contradictory, complex, is an unpredict-

able character; therein lie his power and his menace. To millions

of honest Germans he is sublime, a figure of adoration; he fills them

with love, fear, and naticnalist ecstasy. To many other Germans he is

meager and ridiculous—a charlatan, a lucky hysteric, and a lying dema-

gogue. What are the reasons for this paradox? What are the sources
of his extraordinary power?

This paunchy, Charlie-Chaplin-mustached man, given to insomnia and
emotionalism, who is the head of the Nazi party, commander-in-chief
of the German army and navy, Leader of the German nation, creator,
President, and chancellor of the Third Reich, was born 1n Austria in
1839 He was not a German by birth. This was a highly important
point inflaming his early nationalism. He developed the implacable pa-
triotism of the frontiersman, the exile. Only an Austrian could take
Germanism so seriously.

The inside story of Hitler includes many extraordinary and bizarre
episodes. Before discussing his birth and childhood and outlining his
career, 1t may be well to present a broad detailed picture of his character
and his daily routine and his attitudes and habits, his personal char-
acteristics and limitations.

Hitler the Human Being

His imagination is purely political. I have seen his early paintings,
those which he submitted to the Vienna art academy as a boy. They
are prosaic, utterly devoid of rhythm, color, feeling, or spiritual imagi-
nation. They are architect’s sketches: painful and precise draftsmanship;
nothing more. No wonder the Vienna professors told him to go to an
architectural school and give up pure art as hopeless. Yet he still wants

I
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deeply to be an artist. In 1939, during the crisis leading to the Polish
war, he told Sir Nevile Henderson, the British Ambassador, that his
only ambition was to retire to the Berchtesgaden hills and paint.

He went only to elementary school, and by no stretch of generosity
could he be called a person of genuine culture. He is not nearly so
cultivated, as sophisticatedly interested in intellectual affairs as is, say,
Mussolini. He reads almost nothing. The Treaty of Versailles was, prob-
ably, the most concrete single influence on his life; but it is doubtful if
he ever read it in full. He dislikes intellectuals. He has never been out-
side Germany since his youth in Austria (if you except his War expe-
riences in Flanders and two brief visits to Mussolini) and he speaks
no foreign language, except a few words of French.

To many who meet him, Hitler seems awkward and ill at ease. This
is because visitors, even among his subordinates, obtrude personal reali-
ties which interfere with his incessant fantasies. He has no poise. He
finds it difficult to make quick decisions: capacity for quick decisions
derives from inner harmony, which he lacks. He is no “strong, silent
man.”

Foreigners, especially interviewers from British or American papers,
may find him cordial and even candid but they seldom have opportunity
to question him, to participate in a give-and-take discussion. Hitler rants.
He orates. He is extremely emotional.! He seldom answers questions. He
talks to you as if you were a public meeting, and nothing can stop the
gush of words.

Years ago, before signing his short-lived friendship pact with Poland,
he received a well-known American publicist and editor. He did ask a
question: What the American would think if, for example, Mexico
were Poland and Texas were cut off from the United States by a
“corridor” in Mexico. The American replied, “The answer to that is
that Canada is not France.” Hitler had intended the question rhetori-
cally, and he was so shocked and upset by the little interruption that
it took him some time to get in full voice again—on another point.

For a time it was said commonly that Hitler’s best trait was loyalty.
He would never, the sardonic joke put it, give up three things: the
Jews, his friends, and Austria. Nobody would make that joke to-day,
now that Captain Roehm is dead. Nor would anyone of knowledge and

1 He told one astonished group of interviewers that they could “crucify” him if
he did not keep his promises.
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discernment have made it even before June 30, 1934, because the scroll
of Hitler’s disloyalties was written in giant words.

One after another he eliminated those who helped him to his career:
Drexler, Feder, Gregor Strasser. It is true that he bas been loyal to
some colleagues—those who never disagreed with him, who gave him ab-
solute obedience. This loyalty is not an unmixed virtue, considering the
unsavoriness of such men as Streicher, the Nuremberg Jew-baiter. Noth-
ing can persuade Hitler to give up Streicher and some other comrades.
Unsavoriness alone is not enough to provoke his Draconian ingratitude.

His physical courage is doubtful. When his men were fired on in the
Munich Putsch of 1923, he flung himself to the street with such vio-
lence that his shoulder was broken. Nazi explanations of this are two:
(1) linked arm in arm with a man on his right who was shot and killed,
he was jerked unwittingly to the pavement; (2) he behaved with the
reflex action of the veteran front-line soldier, viz., sensibly fell flat when
the bullets came,

Hitler has told an acquaintance his own story of the somewhat mys-
terious circumstances in which he won the Iron Cross. He was a dispatch-
bearer. He was carrying messages across a part of No-Man’s-Land
which was believed to be clear of enemy troops, when he heard French
voices. He was alone, armed only with a revolver; so with great presence
of mind he shouted imaginary orders to an imaginary column of men.
The Frenchmen tumbled out of a deserted dugout, seven in all, hands
up. Hitler alone delivered all seven to the German lines. Recounting
this story privately, he told his interlocutor that he knew the feat would
have been impossible, had the seven men been American or English
instead of French.2

Like that of all fanatics, his capacity for self-belief, his ability to
delude himself, is enormous. Thus he is quite “sincere”—he really
believes it—when in a preposterous interview with the Daily Mail he
says that the Nazi revolution cost only twenty-six lives. He believes
absolutely in what he says—at the moment.

But his lies have been notorious Heiden? mentions some of the more
recondite untruths, and others are known to every student. Hitler
promised the authorities of Bavaria not to make a Putsch; and promptly

2 This story is not the official version, which is more grandiloquent. Some

mystery attaches to the exact circumstances Cf. Heli, a bright anonymous British

book about Germany, p. 9.
8 History of National Socialism, by Konrad Heiden. a book indispensable for the

study of the new Germany
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made one. He promised to tolerate the Papen government; then fought
it. He promised not to change the composition of his first cabinet; then
changed it. He promused to kill himself if the Munich coup failed; it
failed, and he is still alive.

The Man Without Habits

Hitler, nearing fifty-one, is not in first-rate physical condition. He has
gained about twelve pounds in the past few years, and his neck and
midriff show it. His physical presence has always been indifferent; the
sloppiness with which he salutes is, for instance, notorious. The fore-
arm barely moves above the elbow. He had lung trouble as a boy, and
was blinded by poison gas in the War.

In August, 1935, it was suddenly revealed that the Leader had suf-
fered a minor operation some months before to remove a polyp on his
vocal cords—penalty of years of tub-thumping. The operation was suc-
cessful. The next month Hitler shocked his adherents at Nuremberg by
alluding, in emotional and circumlocutory terms, to the possibility of
his death. “I do not know when I shall finally close my eyes,” he said,
“but I do know that the party will continue and will rule. Leaders wall
come and Leaders will die, but Germany will live. . . . The army must
preserve the power given to Germany and watch over it.” The speech
led to rumors (quite unconfirmed) that the growth in Hitler’s throat was
malignant, and that he had cancer.

Nowadays Hitler broods and talks about death a good deal. One
reason for his prodigious expansionist efforts in 1938 and 1939 was
fear of death before his work was complete.

He takes no exercise, and his only important relaxation—though
lately he began to like battleship cruises in the Baltic or North Sea—
is music. He is deeply musical. Wagner is one of the cardinal influences
on his life; he is obsessed by Wagner. He goes to opera as often as he
can, and he was attending the Bayreuth Festival when, on July 25,
1934, Nazi putschists murdered Chancellor Dollfuss of Austria. Sessions
of the Reichstag, which take place in the Kroll Opera House, sometimes
end with whole performances of Wagner operas—to the boredom of
non-musical deputies!

When fatigued at night in the old days, his friend and court jester
Hanfstaengl was sometimes summoned to play him to sleep, occasionally
with Schumann or Verdi, more often with Beethoven and Wagner, for
Hitler needs music like dope. Hanfstaengl is a demoniac pianist. I have
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heard him thump the keys at the Kaiserhof with such resonance that
the walls shook. When Hanfstaengl plays, he keeps time to his own
music by puffing out his cheeks and bellowing like a trumpet. The effect
is amazing. You cannot but believe that a trumpeter is hidden somewhere
in the room.

Hitler cares nothing for books; nothing for clothes (he seldom wears
anything but an ordinary brown-shirt uniform, or a double-breasted
blue serge suit, with the inevitable ramncoat and slouch hat) ; very little
for friends; and nothing for food and drink. He neither smokes nor
drinks, and he will not allow anyone to smoke near him. He is prac-
tically a vegetarian. At the banquet tendered him by Mussolin1 he would
eat only a double portion of scrambled eggs. He drinks coffee occasion-
ally, but not often. Once or twice a week he crosses from the Chancellery
to the Kaiserhof Hotel (the G.H.Q. of the Nazi party before he came
to power), and sits there and sips—chocolate.

This has led many people to speak of Hitler’s “asceticism” but as-
ceticism is not quite the proper word. He is limited in asthetic interests,
but he 1s no flagellant or anchorite. There is very little of the austere
in Hitler. He eats only vegetables—but they are prepared by an ex-
quisitely competent chef He lives “simply”—but his house in Berchtes-
gaden is the last word in modern sumptuousness.

He works, when in Berlin, 1n the palace of the Reichskanzler on the
Wilhelmstrasse. He seldom uses the president’s palace a hundred yards
away on the same street, because when Hindenburg died he wanted to
eliminate as much as possible the memory of Presidential Germany.
The building is new, furnished in modern glass and metal, and Hitler
helped design it. Murals of the life of Wotan adorn the walls. An im-
provised balcony has been built over the street, from which, on public
occasions, the Leader may review his men. Beneath the hall—according
to reports—is a comfortable bomb-proof cellar.

Hitler dislikes Berlin. He leaves the capital at any opportunity, pre-
ferring Munich or Berchtesgaden, a village in southern Bavaria, where
he has an alpine establishment, Haus Wachenfeld. Perched on the side of
a mountain, this retreat, dear to his heart, is not far from the former
Austrian frontier, a psychological fact of great significance. From his
front porch he could almost see the homeland which repudiated him,
and for which he yearned for many years.

Above the Berchtesgaden house—where he came in 1938 and 1939 to
spend more and more time, often neglecting Berlin for weeks on end~—
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is an amazing lookout or aerie his engineers have built on a mountain
top, near Kehlstein. A special, heavily guarded, looping road leads
to bronze gates cut into a sheer wall of rock; inside the solid moun-
tain, an elevator shaft rises four hundred feet. Here, on top, is a large
circular room walled with windows. And here, when he really wants
to be alone, Hitler comes.

Another peculiar point about Hitler is his passionate interest in
astrology. It 1s widely believed that he set the date for the Sudeten
crisis by advice of astrologers.

Friends

By a man’s friends may ye know him. But Hitler has very few.

For years his most intimate associate, beyond all doubt, was Capt.
Ernst Roehm, chief of staff of the SA (Sturm Abteillung—storm troops
—Brown Shirts), who was executed in June 30, 1934. From one of the
half dozen men in Germany indisputably most qualified to know, I have
heard it that Roehm was the only man in Germany, the single German
out of 65,000,000 Germans, with whom Hitler was on Du-Fuss (thee
and thou) terms. Now that Roehm is dead, there is no single German
who calls Hitler “Adolf.” Roehm was a notorious homosexual, but one
should not deduce from this that Hitler is homosexual also.

The man who is probably closest to Hitler since Roehm’s death is
his chief bodyguard, Lieut. Bruckner. Another close associate is Max
Amman, who was his top sergeant in the Great War. For a time his
former captain, Fritz Weidemann, now German consul-general in San
Francisco, was also close. Politically his most intimate adviser is cer-
tainly the foreign minister, Herr von Ribbentrop, who is one of the
very few people who can see him at any time, without previous arrange-
ment. He is bewitched by Ribbentrop’s “wisdom.” His chief permanent
officials, like Dietrich, his Press secretary, may see him daily, and so
may Hess, the deputy leader of the party; but even Hess is not an
intimate friend. Neither Goering nor Goebbels may, as a rule, see
Hitler without appointment.

He is almost oblivious of ordinary personal contacts. A colleague of
mine traveled with him, in the same airplane, day after day, for two
months during the 1932 electoral campaigns. Hitler never talked to a
soul, not even to his secretaries, in the long hours in the air; never
stirred ; never smiled. My friend remembers most vividly that, in order
to sneak a cigarette when the olane stoooed. he had to run out of sicht



HITLER 7

of the entourage. He says that he saw Hitler a steady five or six hours
a day during his trip, but that he is perfectly sure Hitler, meeting hum
by chance outside the airplane, would not have known his name or face.

He damns profession of emotion to the bursting point, then is apt to
break out in crying fits. A torrent of feminine tears compensates for the
months of uneasy struggle not to give himself away. For instance, when
he spent a whole night trying to persuade a dissident leader, Otto
Strasser, from leaving the party, he broke into tears three times. In the
early days he often wept, when other methods to carry a point failed.*

Hitler does not enjoy too great exposure of this weakness, and he
tends to keep all subordnates at a distance. They worship him: but they
do not know him well. They may see him every day, year in year out;
but they would never dare to be familiar. Hanfstaengl told me once that
in all the years of their association he had never called Hitler anything
except “Herr Hitler” or “Herr Reichskanzler” after the Leader reached
power; and that Hitler had never called him by first name or his
diminutive (Putzi), but always “Hanfstaengl” or “Dr. Hanfstaengl.”
There is an inhumanity about the inner circle of the Nazi party that is
scarcely credible.

An old-time party member, to-day, would address Hitler as “Mein
Fithrer”; others as “Herr Reichskanzler.” When greeted with the Nazi
salute and the words “Heil Hitler,” Hitler himself replies with “Heil
Hitler.” Speechmaking, the Leader addresses his followers as “My”
German people. In posters for the plebiscites he asks, “Dost thou, Ger-
man man, and thou, German woman—etc.” It is as if he feels closer to
the German people in bulk than to any individual German, and this is
indeed true. The German people are the chief emotional reality of his
life.

Let us, now, examine Hitler’s relation to the imperatives which domi-
nate the lives of most men.

Attitude Toward Women

He is totally uninterested in women from any personal sexual point
of view. He thinks of them as housewives and mothers or potential
mothers, to provide sons for the battlefield—other people’s sons.

“The life of our people must be freed from the asphyxiating perfume

4 Compare with Stalin, for instance. Can one imagine Stalin bawling after a hard
day, or summoning a comrade to play him music?
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of modern eroticism,” he says in Mein Kampf, his autobiography.’? His
personal life embodies this precept to the fullest. He is not a woman-
hater, but he avoids and evades women. His manners are those of the
wary chevalier, given to hand-kissing—and nothing else. Many women
are attracted to him sexually, but they have had to give up the chase.
Frau Goebbels formerly had evening parties to which she asked pretty
and distinguished women to meet him, but she was never able to arrange
a match.® Occasional rumors of the engagement of the coy Leader to
various ladies are nonsense. It is quite possible that Hitler has never had
anything to do with a woman in hus life.

Occasionally young English or American girls, ardent Aryans, come to
see him, and sometimes they are received, ike Miss Unity Mitford. But
Hitler does little but harangue them. At the top of his voice he screeches
politics, and after a time subsides, limp and exhausted. Even these occa-
sions are not téte-a-téte. For Hitler is very fond of the little daughter of
Dr. Goebbels, and, fantastic as it may seem, she is often in the room,
sometimes on the Leader’s knee.

Nor, as is so widely believed, is he homosexual. Several German jour-
nalists spent much time and energy, when such an investigation was
possible, checking every lodging that Hitler, in Munich days, had slept
in; they mnterviewed beer-hall proprietors, coffee-house waiters, land-
ladies, porters. No evidence was discovered that Hitler had been in-
timate with anybody of any sex at any time. His sexual energies, at the
begmning of his career, were obviously sublimated into oratory. The
influence of his mother and childhood environment, which we shall
examine in Chapter II, contributed signally to his frustration. Most of
those German writers and observers best equipped to know think that
Hitler is a virgin.

Attitude Toward Money

Hitler has no use for money personally and therefore very little in-
terest in it, except for political purposes. He has virtually no financial
sophistication ; his lack of knowledge of even the practical details of
finance, as of economics, is profound.

Nowadays what would he need money for? The state furnishes him
with servants, residences, motor-cars. One of his last personal purchases

5 Most of my quotations from Mein Kampf are from the English edition. (Hurst
& Blackett, Ltd., 1033 )

8 Frau Goebbels herself, before she married the propaganda minister, had designs
on Hitler, it is said, but she gave up early.
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was a new raincoat for the visit to Mussolini in June, 1934. Incidentally,
members of his staff got into trouble over this, because on their advice
he carried only civilian clothes; when he stepped from his airplane and
saw Mussolini and all the Italians in uniform, he was ashamed of his
mufti nakedness; and even suspected his advisers of purposely embar-
rassing him.

Hitler takes no salary from the state; rather he donates it to a fund
which supports workmen who have suffered from labor accidents; but
his private fortune could be considerable, if he chose to save. He an-
nounced late in 1935 that he—alone among statesmen—had no bank
account or stocks or shares. Previous to this, it had been thought that
he was part-owner of Franz Eher & Co., Munich, the publishers of the
chief Nazi organs, Vdlkischer Beobachter, Angriff, etc., one of the big-
gest publishing houses in Europe. Its director, Max Amman, Hitler’s
former sergeant, was for many years his business manager.

If Hatler has no personal fortune, he must have turned all his earn-
ings from his autobiography, Mein Kampf, to the party. This book is
obligatory reading for Germans and, at a high price (RM 7.20 or about
$3.00), it has sold 5,200,000 copies since its publication in 1925, now
being in its 494th edition. If his royalty is fifteen per cent, a moderate
estimate, Hitler’s total proceeds from this source at the end of 1939
should have been at least $3,000,000.

Nothing is more difficult in Europe than discovering the facts of the
private fortunes of leading men. It is sacrosanct and thus forbidden
ground to questioners in all countries. . . . Does any dictator, Hitler
or Mussolini or Stalin, carry cash in his pocket, or make actual pur-
chases in cash? It is unlikely.

Attitude Toward Religion

Hitler was born and brought up a2 Roman Catholic. But he lost faith
early and he attends no religious services of any kind. His Catholicism
means nothing to him; he is impervious even to the solace of confession.
On being formed his government almost immediately began a fierce
religious war against Catholics, Protestants, and Jews alike.

Why ? Perhaps the reason was not rcligion fundamentally, but poli-
tics. To Hitler the overwhelming first business of the Nazi revolution
was the “unification,” the Gleichschaliung (coordination) of Germany.
He had one driving passion, the removal from the Reich of any competi-
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tion, of whatever kind. The Vatican, like Judaism, was a profoundly
international (thus non-German) organism. Therefore—out with it.

The basis of much of the early domestic madness of Hitlerism was his
incredibly severe and drastic desire to purge Germany of non-German
elements, to create a hundred per cent Germany for one hundred per
cent Germans only. He disliked bankers and department stores—as
Dorothy Thompson pointed out—because they represented non-German,
international, financial and commercial forces. He detested socialists and
communists because they were affiliated with world groups aiming to
internationalize labor. He loathed, above all, pacifists, because pacifists,
opposing war, were internationalists.

Catholicism he considered a particularly dangerous competitive force,
because it demands two allegiances of a man, and double allegiance was
something Hitler could not countenance. Thus the campaign against the
“black moles,” as Nazis call priests. Several times German relations with
the Vatican have neared the breaking point. Protestantism was—theo-
retically—a simpler matter to deal with, because the Lutheran Church
presumably was German and nationalist. Hitler thought that by the
simple installation of an army chaplain, a ferocious Nazi named Mueller,
as Reichsbishop, he could “codrdinate” the Evangelical Church in Ger-
many, and turn it to his service. The idea of a united Protestant Church
appealed to his neat architect’s mind. He was wrong. The church ques-
tion has been an itching pot of trouble ever since. All through 1937
and 1938 it raged.

It was quite natural, following the confused failure to Nazify Prot-
estantism, that some of Hitler’s followers should have turned to Pagan-
ism. The Norse myths are a first-class nationalist substitute. Carried
to its logical extreme Naziism in fact demands the creation of a new
and nationalist religion. Hitler indicated this in a speech at Nurem-
berg in September, 1935. “Christianity,” he said, “succeeded for a time
in uniting the old Teutonic tribes, but the Reformation destroyed this
unity. Germany is now a united nation. National Socialism has succeeded
where Christianuty failed.” And Heiden has quoted Hitler’s remark, “We
do not want any other God than Germany itself.” This is a vital point.
Germany is Hitler’s religion.”

One of Hitler’s grudges against God is the fact that Jesus was a Jew.
He can’t forgive either Christians or Jews for this. And many Nazis deny

7In 1937 a special prayer was chanted over all German radio stations calling
Hitler “God’s revelation to the German people” and their “redeemer.”
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that Jesus was Jewish. Another grudge is nationalist in origin. The basis
of the Nazi revolution was the defeat of Germany in the War. Thus reli-
gion had to be Nazified because no God who permitted the French and
other “inferior” races to win the War could be a satisfactory God for
Germany.

Hitler’s attempt to unify religion in Germany may lead to one dan-
ger. He himself may become a god. And divinity entails difficulties.
Gods have to perform miracles.

Vividly in Mein Kampf Hitler tells the story of his first encounter
with a Jew. He was a boy of seventeen, alone in Vienna, and he had
never seen a Jew in his life. The Jew, a visitor from Poland or the
Ukraine, in native costume, outraged the tender susceptibilities of the
youthful Hitler.

“Can this creature be a Jew?” he asked himself. Then, bursting on
him, came a second question: “Can he possibly be a German?”

This early experience had a profound influence on him, forming the
emotional base of his perfervid anti-Semitism. He was provincially
mortified that any such creature could be one with himself, a sharer in
German nationality. Later he “rationalized” his fury on economic and
political grounds. Jews, he said, took jobs away from “Germans”; Jews
controlled the Press of Berlin, the theater, the arts; there were too
many Jewish lawyers, doctors, professors, the Jews were a “pestilence,
worse than the Black Death.”

No one can properly conceive the basic depth and breadth of Hitler’s
anti-Semitism who has not carefully read Mein Kampf. This book was
written almost fifteen years ago. He has changed it as edition followed
edition, in minor particulars, but in all editions his anti-Jewish prejudice
remains implacable.

Long before he became chancellor, Hitler would not allow himself to
speak to a Jew even on the telephone. A publicist as well known as
Walter Lippmann, a statesman as eminent as Lord Reading, would not be
received at the Brown House. An interesting point arises. Has Hitler,
in maturity, actually ever been in the company of a Jew, ever once
talked to one? Possibly not.

“Am I My Brother’s Keeper?”

Extreme precautions are, naturally, taken to guard Hitler against
assassination. When he rides out in Berlin, he travels in a Mercédés-Benz
as big as a locomotive. Lieut. Bruckner, his chief aide, usually sits
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beside him. Other bodyguards follow in another car, or in several cars.
The principal chauffer 1s named Schaub, who was an early comrade.
SS men with rifles may stand on the running-boards. If the occasion is
ceremonial and large crowds are present, the route 1s lined with SS men
(black shirts) alternately facing inward and outward.

Briickner is of great importance politically because he serves to block
Hitler off from normal contacts. The complaint frequently is heard that
Hitler is badly informed on even vital matters, because Brickner so
isolates him from wide acquaintance ; even advisers with the best inten-
tions may have little chance of seeing him.

Not long ago Hitler broke his new rule against social affairs by visit-
ing informally a diplomat and his wife who had been useful to him in
earlier days. The diplomat talked to Hitler frankly and told him some
honest truths. Hitler was upset. Then, the story says, Bruckner de-
scended on the diplomat, warning him under no circumstances to dare
talk frankly to Hitler again,

For years there was no authentic evidence of any attempt on Hitler’s
life. Rumors, however, dealt in several. On June 17, 1934, a fortnight
before the June 30 clean-up, shots are supposed to have been fired at
Hitler’s car as he was returning from the burial in German soil of
Goering’s first wife. In the autumn of 1934 an SS bodyguard was al-
legedly shot in the finger in the Hotel Kaiserhof, by a bullet meant for
Hitler. In March, 1937, General Goering surprised listeners by a veiled
reference to possible dangers to Hitler and threats against a possible
assassin. Then in November, 1939 came the unsuccessful bomb attempt
in the Munich beer hall. Several people were killed; Hitler escaped by
eleven minutes.

Insurance rates on his life are quoted in London. A man with im-
portant business in Germany, which might be ruined by the terror and
revolution which would very likely follow Hitler’s assassination, paid
$52.50 per month for each $1,000 of insurance against Hitler’s death.®

Personal Sources of Power

Now we may proceed to summarize Hitler’s very considerable positive
qualities.

First, consider his single-mindedness, his intent fixity of purpose.
His tactics may change; his strategy may change; his aim, never. His

8 Cf. News Chronicle, London, May 21, 1935 The charge for similar insurance
agamnst Mussolint’s assassmation was $20 on $500 for three months.
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aim is to create a strong national Germany, with himself atop it. No
opportunistic device, no zigzag in polemics, is too great for him; but the
aim, the goal, never varies.

Associated with his single-mindedness is the quality of stamina. All
dictators have stamina; all need it. Despite Hitler’s flabbiness and lack
of vigorous gesture, his physical endurance is considerable. I know
interviewers who have talked to him on the eve of an election, after he
has made several speeches a day, all over Germany, week on end; they
found him fresh and even calm. “When I have a mission to fulfill, I will
have the strength for it,” he said.

Unlike most dictators, he has no great capacity for hard work, for
industry; he 1s not the sloghorse for punishment that, for instance,
Stalin is. He is not a good executive; his desk is usually high with
documents requiring his decision which he neglects. He hates to make
up his mind. His orders are often vague and contradictory.

Yet he gets a good deal of work done. “Industry” in a dictator or
head of a state means, as a rule, ability to read and listen. The major
part of the work of Hitler or Mussolini is perusal of reports and atten-
tion to the advice of experts and subordinates. Half their working time
they are receiving information. Therefore it is necessary for a dictator
(a) to choose men intelligently—many of Hitler’s best men he inherited
from the old civil service, (b) to instill faith in himself in them. Hitler
has succeeded in this double task amply. And when his men fail him,
he murders them.

Hitler’s political sense is highly developed and acute. His calculations
are shrewd and penetrating to the smallest detail. For instance, tus first
three major acts in foreign policy, Germany’s departure from the League
of Nations, the introduction of conscription, and the occupation of the
Rhineland, were all set for Saturday afternoon, to ease the shock to
opinion abroad. When he has something unpleasant to explain, the events
of June 30 for instance, he usually speaks well after eight P M., so that
foreign newspapers can carry only a hurried and perhaps garbled
account of his words.

He made good practical use of his anti-Semitism. The Jewish terror
was, indeed, an excellent campaign maneuver. The Nazis surged into
power in March, 1933, with an immense series of electoral pledges. They
promised to end unemployment, rescind the Versailles Treaty, regain
the Polish corridor, assimilate Austria, abolish department stores, sociai-
ize industry, eliminate interest on capital, give the people land. These
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1ims were more easily talked about than achieved. One thing the Nazis
zould do. One pledge they could redeem—beat the Jews.

Hitler bases most decisions on intuition. Twice, on supreme occasions,
it served him well. In the spring of 1932 his most powerful supporters,
chiefly Roehm, pressed him to make a Puisch. Hitler refused, feeling
absolute certainty that he could come to power in a legal manner. Again,
in the autumn of 1932, after the Nazis had lost heavily in the November
elections, a strong section of the party, led by Gregor Strasser, urged
him to admit defeat and enter a coalition government on disadvantageous
terms. Hitler, with consummate perspicacity, refused. And within three
months he reached power such as the maddest of his followers had not
dreamed of.

Another source of Hitler's power is his impersonality, as Frances
Gunther has pointed out. His vanity is extreme, but in an odd way it is
not personal. He has no peacockery. Mussolini must have given auto-
graphed photographs to thousands of admirers since 1922. Those which
Hitler has bestowed on friends may be counted on the fingers of two
hands. His vanity is the more effective because it expresses itself in non-
personal terms. He is the vessel, the instrument, of the will of the
German people; or so he pretends. Thus his famous statement, after
the June 30 murders, that for twenty-four hours he had been the
supreme court of Germany.

Heiden says that Hitler’s power is based on intellect, and his intellect
on logic. This would seem a dubious interpretation because Hitler’s
mind is not ratiocinative in the least: he is a2 man of passion, of instinct,
not of reason. His “intellect” is that of a chameleon who knows when to
change his color; his “logic” that of a panther who is hungry, and thus
seeks food. He himself has said proudly that he is a “Somnambulist”—
strange giveaway !

His brain is small and vulgar, limited, sly, narrow, suspicious. But
behind it is the lamp of passion, and this passion has such quality that it
is immediately discernible and recognizable, like a diamond in the sand.
The range of his interests is so slight that any sort of stimulus provokes
the identical reflex: music, religion, economics, mean nothing to him
except exercise in German nationalism.

Anthony Eden, when he visited Berlin in the spring of 1935, and
talked with Hitler seven hours, was quoted as saying that he showed
“complete mastery” of foreign affairs. This is, of course, nonsense.
Hitler does not know one-tenth as much about foreign affairs as, say,

.
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H. R. Knickerbocker, or Vernon Bartlett, or Hamilton Fish Armstrong,
or Dorothy Thompson, or Mr. Eden himself. What Eden meant was that
Hitler showed unflagging mastery of his own view of foreign affairs.

Demosthenes in Brown Shirt

Then there is oratory. This is probably the chief external explanation
of Hitler’s rise. He talked himself to power. The strange thing is that
Hitler is a bad speaker. He screeches; his mannerisms are awkward;
his voice breaks at every peroration; he never knows when to stop.
Goebbels is a far more subtle and accomplished orator. Yet Hitler,
whose magnetism across the table is almost nil, can arouse an audience,
especially a big audience, to frenzy.

He knows, of course, all the tricks. At one period he was accustomed
to mention at great length the things that “We Germans” (wir) had,
or did not have, or wanted to do, or could not do. The word wir
drove into the audience with the rhythmic savagery of a pneumatic drill.
Then Hitler would pause dramatically. That, he would say, was the
whole trouble. In Germany the word wir had no meaning; the country
was disunited ; there was no “we.”

Recently Hitler told a French interviewer about an early oratorical
trick and triumph, eighteen years ago in a communist stronghold in
Bavaria. He was savagely heckled. “At any moment they nught have
thrown me out of the window, especially when they produced a blind
War invalid who began to speak against all the things that are sacred to
me. Fortunately I had also been blind as the result of the War. So I said
to these people, ‘I know what this man feels. I was even more bewildered
than he at one moment—but I have recovered my sight!’ ”

Hitler’s first followers were converts in the literal sense of the term.
They hit the sawdust trail. Hitler might have been Aimée Semple
McPherson or Billy Sunday. Men listened to him once and were his
for life—for instance, GoebbeLs, Bruckner, Goering, Hess.

“Ruin Seize Thee, Ruthless King”

Hitler never flinched from the use of terror, and terror played a
powerful réle in the creation of the Nazi state. From the beginning he
encouraged terror. The only purely joyous passage in Mein Kampf is
the description of his first big mass meeting, in which the newly organ-
ized SA pummeled hecklers bloody. The function of the SA was rough-



house: first, rough-house with the aim of preserving “order” at public
meetings, second, rough-house on the streets, to frighten, terrorize and
murder commurusts.

He gave jobs, big jobs, to confessed and admitted terrorists like
Killinger and Heines. When a communust was murdered at Potempa, in
Silesia, in circumstances of peculiarly revolting brutality, Hitler an-
nounced publicly his spiritual unity with the murderers. When, in
August, 1932, he thought that Hindenburg might appoint him chancellor,
he asked for a three-day period during which the SA could run wild on
the streets, and thus revenge themselves upon their enemies.

And we shall see presently what happened on the 3oth June, 1934. To
say nothing of what happened to the Jews in 1938 and 1939.

Fuhrer Prinzip

Hitler’s chief contribution to political theory was the Fuhrer Prinzip
(Leader Principle). This means, briefly, authority from the top down,
obedience from the bottom up, the reversal of the democratic theory of
government. It was, as Heiden points out, a remarkably successful inven-
tion, since almost anybody could join the movement, no matter with
what various aims, and yet feel spiritual cohesion through the personal-
ity of the leader. The Nazi movement gave wonderful play to diverse
instincts and desires.

Then again, Germans love to be ruled. “The most blissful state a
German can experience is that of being bossed,” a friend of mine put
it in Berlin. And Edgar Ansel Mowrer has recorded the shouts of Nazi
youngsters on the streets, “We spit at freedom.” A German feels un-
dressed unless he is in uniform. The Fithrer Prinzip not only exploited
this feeling by transforming the passive character of German docility,
German obedience, into an active virtue; it gave expression also to the
bipolar nature of obedience: namely, that most men—even Germans—
associate with a desire to be governed a hidden will to govern. The
Fiihrer Prinzip createG hundreds, thousands, of sub-Fuhrers, little
Hitlers, down to the lowest storm-troop leader. It combined dignified
submission with opportunity for leadership.

Mein Kampf, for all its impersonality, reveals over and over again
Hitler’s faith in “the man.” After race and nation, personality is his
main preoccupation. It is easy to see that the Fuhrer Prinzip is simply
a rationalization of his own ambition; the theory is announced on the
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implicit understanding that the “man” is Hitler himself. “A majority,”
he says, “can never be a substitute for the Man.”

Another Hitlerite doctrine is, of course, that of race. But Hitler did
not invent the concept of Aryanism; he took it over from Gobineau and
Houston Chamberlain. Most—if not all—neutral anthropologists think
that Hitler’s “racist doctrine” is nonsense. They do not believe that
“pure” races exist,

Opposition

Hitlerism in its first stages was the process of “unifying” Germany.
Yet the Nazis struck at Protestants, Catholics, Jews; they mortally af-
fronted the working classes; they could not put any serious program
of economic amelioration into effect without offending the industrialists ;
they alienated, by brutality and terror, the republicans, democrats, social-
ists, communists.

Hitler has held three major plebiscites so far. One asked vindication
of Germany’s departure from the League, and he received a 92.3 per
cent vote of confidence. The second sought acceptance of his com-
bination of chancellorship and presidency after the death of Hinden~
burg; the affirmative vote was 38,362,760 out of 43,529,710 ballots cast,
The third followed the Rhineland crisis in March, 1936; his vote was
no less than ninety-eight per cent. Of course none was a fair vote in the
Anglo-Saxon sense of the term. The plebiscite in the Saar gave him
ninety per cent but it probably would have been the same under any other
chancellor. The last general election in Danzig, where every effort
was made to bring out the vote and which was a better indication than
the Saar of public feeling on a straight for-or-against-Hitler issue,
brought him 139,043 votes out of 234,956—good enough, but not the
two-thirds majority he hoped for.

The last reasonably fair German election, on March 5, 1933—even
though it took place under the shadow of the Reichstag fire—gave Hit-
ler thirty-seven per cent. I believe in an election to-day he would better
this considerably. Even so, the total Marxist (communist-cum-socialist)
vote in 1933 was 11,845,000. This number has probably receded, but
just the same there is still a large opposition submerged in Germany.
What has happened to these millions of hidden voters?

They are terrified. They are hounded by the police and by spies. They
vote Yes in plebiscites because they are frightened of their skins. Some
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few of them have sought cover actually by joining the SA. Most simply
swallow their opinions, their feelings, their inward decency—and wait.
They are waiting for their Day, But are they an active political force?
No.

The reason is that revolution is a profoundly difficult matter in a
police state like Germany, Russia, or Fascist Italy. It is almost an
axiom these days that no revolution can succeed until the equipment in
arms and ammunition of the revolutionaries is equal or superior to that
of the government. And this margin of superiority is transcendently
difficult to achieve.

The Nazis, to their own disadvantage, discovered the essential neces-
sity of arms in the Austrian civil war of July, 1934. They neglected to
arm their Austrian adherents, out of carelessness or over-confidence;
they assumed that once the signal for the revolt was given the Austrian
army and police would mutiny and turn over their arms to the Nazis;
this did not happen. The army and police of Dr. Dollfuss remained, by
and large, loyal. Therefore we had the spectacle of thousands upon thou-
sands of potentially revolutionary Nazis inhibited from any decisive or
direct action simply because they did not possess arms. This lesson is
cardinal. You cannot fight a machine-gun by saying “Boo” to it.

If the people riot, Hitler can simply shoot them down. He has the
Reichswehr (regular army) to do this, not merely the SA and SS.
The Reichswehr (the ranks are mostly peasant boys) might not shoot
at a rising in the agrarian districts, but the farmers are the most tracta-
ble people in Hitler’s Reich. An urban population would get short
shrift, But, one may say, no man, not even Hitler, could shoot down
tens of thousands of unarmed or roughly armed rebels. The answer
to this is that it is not necessary to shoot down tens of thousands. A
few hundreds will be enough.

‘What is more likely to happen than open rebellion is the slow pressure
upward of mass discontent, grumbling, and passive resistance, sabotage
caused by growing privation, until the morale of the government cracks,
and the government, panicky, does foolish things. Discontent may corro-
sively simmer to the top, disorganizing the headship of state, causing
new rivalries between sub-leaders, creating fissures between, say, Rib-
bentrop on the left and Goering on the right, so deep and so unbridgeable
that Hitler is powerless to compose the conflict. But there are no signs that
this is happening yet. The 1939 war, moreover, served to unify Ger-
many, at least provisionally.
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Succession to the Purple

If Hitler should die to-morrow his successor would certainly be
Goering, bitterly as he is disliked and feared by many members of the
party. The Leader might himself prefer Hess, his deputy, as successor,
but in the rough-and-tumble that might follow his death, Hess would
have small chance against such a doughty character as Goering. The
general is the logical choice. Therefore when the Polish campaign began
Hitler formally named Goering to the succession, with Hess as second
choice. After Hess, the Nazi party is to choose the “strongest” man.

Goering has force, color, ambition; he is a figure of great popular
appeal. The quality and quantity of his uniforms are highly attractive
to Germans; his marriage may produce a dynasty. What is more im-
portant, the army likes him because he stands for the same thing as it
stands for: a strong Germany. Moreover, in the SS and remnants of
SA, Goering has a considerable armed force behind him. Finally, he
has the courage to grab the job, if grabbing is necessary, which it prob-
ably won’t be.

Goebbels would be impossible as successor to Hitler; he is the clever-
est of all the Nazs, but everybody hates him. Frick is important, but too
colorless ; Ribbentrop too limited; Ley and Darré out of the running as
“radicals”; Schacht is of the greatest importance in economics and
finance, but impossible as a popular leader. In fact, the only alternative
to Goering would seem to be a straight-out Reichswehr ministry formed
by an army coup d’état, such as the one Schleicher might have headed.
Or a dark horse.

Rumors, however, to the effect that Goering is now actively intrigu-
ing against Hitler are nonsense. There are many virtues that Goering
lacks, but loyalty is not among them—at least not yet. Besides, Hitler
could eliminate Goering to-day almost as easily as he eliminated Roehm.
Hitler is all-powerful. Real rivals do not exist. Goering, Goebbels, and
all the rest of them, as H. R. Knickerbocker once expressed it, are
no more than moons to Hitler’s sun. They shine—but only when the
sun shines on them.?

9 Sir Nevile Henderson, the British Ambassador in Berlin, stated in October,

1039, that Goering told him, “When a decision has to be taken, none of us counts
more than the stones on which we are standing. It is the Fuhrer alone who decides.”



Chapter |l
Psychopathology of Dictators

The German has not the slightest notion how a people must
be misled if the adherence of the masses is sought.
—AvpoLF HITLER

NOT only Hitler but several modern leaders were born in border-
zones or actually different countries from those they came to rule.
Mustapha Kamal Ataturk, though you would hardly have called him
a Greek, was born in Salonika, Greece; Pilsudski was Lithuaman
in origm; Schuschnigg, the former Austrian chancellor, was born
in Italy; and Stalin, as everyone knows, is not a Russian at all, but a
Georgian.

I have visited Braunau, in Austria, and seen the house where Hitler
was born. The legend has grown of a rustic dwelling, the Teutonic
equivalent of our log-cabin, where, in stern but idyllically bucolic cir-
cumstances, the Leader first saw daylight. Of course this is inaccurate.
The house is a three-story structure on the main street of Braunau, and
for twenty years it has been a Gasthaus (saloon, village pub) owned by
a local worthy named Josef Pommer. Where a bronze tablet may one
day mark the Leader’s birthplace an enameled metal sign now says,
“Spekl beer on draught.”

The house to-day is painted bright ocher brown, the color of the
brown-shirt uniform. It was padlocked by the Austrian authorities
in July, 1933, because it was a natural focus for the local Nazis. Hitler’s
parents never owned it; they lived in furnished rooms rented from
the landlord. On the other hand, his father was not a poor man, and
the legend that Hitler all but starved as a boy is nonsense.

The whole region around Braunau is Hitler country. Dozens of peo-
ple who are still alive remember him as a young man. In the village of
Spital, near Weitra, I met his mother’s sister and two of his first
cousins; in Leonding, near Linz, I talked to his Vormund (godfather),
the son of his old schoolmaster (who had been one of his classmates),

20
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the proprietors of the pub where his father died, and—interesting old
woman —the midwife who hauled his infant body from his mother’s
womb.

Family Tree

The Hitler family springs from a section of Austria krown as the
Waldviertel, billowing Danube country near what is now the Czecho-
slovak frontier. The peasants living there are humble folk, blanched by
poverty and gnarled by work; honest, God-fearing, illiterate, and heavily
inbred. Populations of whole villages are first and second cousins. They
live by tilling the soil, working in mills, or practicing some humble
trade like carpentry.

In the Waldviertel village Spital a man named Johann Georg Hiedler
was born in February, 1792. This was Adolf Hitler’s grandfather. He
was a wandering miller’s helper. By him, a woman named Maria Anna
Schicklgruber had a son, born in a near-by hamlet, Strones, in 1837.
Five years later the parents were married, but the son took his mother’s
name—>Schicklgruber—and was not legally legitimized till he was forty
years old, in 1877. Then he became known as Alois Hitler—Adolf
Hitler’s father.

The change from “Hiedler” to “Hitler” is easily explained. The
peasants could scarcely read and write ; names were hardly ever written
down, except at birth and death. Hiedler’s father, in fact, called himself
“Huttler,” according to the records I saw in the village church. And
Paula Hitler, Adolf’s sister, to this day signs herself “Hiedler.”

Alois Hitler, Adolf’s father, was a cobbler. He married three times.
His first wife, Anna Glasl-Horer, was born in the Waldwiertel town
of Theresienfeld in 1823. This Anna, a moderately rich woman, treated
the young cobbler, then known as Schicklgruber, almost more like a
mother than as a wife; she sent him to school, then purchased him a
job in the Austrian civil service. She was fourteen years older than
he. Thanks to her, he became a solid citizen, and the education of his
son Adolf, born years later by another wife, was made possible.

Anna died in Braunau in 1883; Alois waited only six weeks to marry
again, this time to a woman named Franzika Matzelberger Their
marriage lasted only a year. She died in 1884. Only three months after
ber death, Alois married once more, this time to Adolf’s mother, Klara
Poelzl, a distant cousin. This was on January 7, 1885. Four years later,
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in Braunau, on April 20, 1889, Adolf Hitler, creator of the Third Reich,
was born. His father was fifty-two at his birth, his mother twenty-nine.

Klara Poelzl, Adolf’s mother, was a woman of enterprise and cour-
age. Her father was a peasant in the village of Spital, and her mother
was Johanna Huttler, a cousin of Alois Hitler’s father. When Klara
was ten years old (in 1870), she got her first job—as maid in the home
of Alois Hitler’s first wife, Anna Gldsl-Horer. Here Alois first saw
the little girl, a distant relative, whom fifteen years later he was to
marry—his first wife’s servant.

Presently Klara ran away to Vienna. This was an unprecedented
thing to do. Few other girls in the Waldviertel had shown such initiative.
No one knows the reason for her flight. I have asked her sister (who
died last year) about it. She had no explanation. Klara lived in Vienna
—her circumstances a complete mystery—~for ten years. Then in 1885
she returned to her native village, Spital. She was a tall, nervous girl
now, not as strong as most of the peasant stock she came from. She
lived with her parents in a house adjacent to the one—I have seen
them both—wherein Alois was brooding over the loss of his two
wives. He remembered the girl who had been his first wife’s servant—
and married her.

By the first wife, Anna, Alois had had two children. A son, Alois
Junior (Adolf’s half-brother), became a waiter and subsequently the
proprietor of a Berlin restaurant. A daughter, Angela, went to Vienna
where she married a man named Raupel and earned a living as a cook
in—believe it or not—a Jewish Students’ Charity Hall in Vienna.
Some years ago Adolf brought her to Germany and installed her as
housekeeper in his Berchtesgaden villa. Frau Raupel had a daughter—
Hitler’s niece—who some time ago commited suicide.!

Klara had two children besides Adolf. Paula, born in 1897, is unmar-
ried (another spinster in this neurotic family) and lives to-day in
Vienna, an anonymous and forgotten figure. The local Nazis tried to
make a heroine of her, but she was too retiring. Hitler apparently has
nothing to do with her. The third child, Edouard, died in infancy.

Alois, a customs inspector, and Klara, with the boy Adolf growing
up, lived in Braunau,? an important frontier town, until 1896, when
Alois retired on pension. Then he moved to a village near Linz named

1 The legend is that she was madly, hopelessly in love with her uncle, Adolf.
2 Interestingly enough two of the most famous clairvoyants of modern Europe
were born in Braunau, Willi and Rudi Schneider.
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Leonding, bought a house, and lived in it with Klara and Adolf till
he died in 1903.

Father and Mother
I have seen the tombstone of Hitler pére. It reads:
HIER RUHET IN GOTT HERR

ALOIS HITLER

K.K. Zollamts Oberoffizial I.P.
und Hausbesitzer

Gest. 3. Janner 1903, in 65 Lebensjahre
Dessen Gattin Frau

KLARA HITLER

Gest. 21 Dez. 1907 1. 47 Lebj.
R.IP.

As is common in Austria, a small photograph of the dead man is
attached to the stone. A skull big and round and hairless like a melon;
small, sharp, wicked little eyes; a pair of bicycle-handle mustaches, and
a heavy tyrant’s chin. The mother’s picture we saw later in a relative’s
house. A tall woman, with a narrow, sensitive face and arching eyes
over sunken cheek-bones; her yellow braids now a gray mat at the
back of the neck; large, luminous eyes.

Young Adolf detested his father, loved his mother. This difficult
parental relationship, on which the villagers with whom I talked and
the surviving relatives agreed, was obviously a cardinal point in the
development of Hitler’s character. He had an (Edipus complex as big
as a house.

Hitler pére was truculent and overbearing; he died over a bottle
of wine in a public-house, of a sudden stroke. The father thought
that Adolf was a weakling and a worthless idler and dreamer; he
called him “moon-struck,” and bullied and beat him. So young Hitler
identified himself with his mother in opposition to the father. His
jealousy of the father produced an extreme divergence in his character.
Old Hitler was a drunkard; young Hitler never touched alcohcl. Old
Hitler married three times in quick succession; young Hitler never had
any love life at all. Old Hitler was besotted with indulgence; young
Hitler feared it.
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Adolf loved his mother passionately. When he was about six she
developed cancer, and it took her almost ten years to die. From her he
got his impulse to ambition, his sense of historical mission, because she,
too, wanted him to be different from his father. The mother encouraged
him to be an artist. Throughout his life, Hitler has been subconsciously
proving to his mother, the only woman he has loved, his right to inde-
pendence, success, power.?

In Spital, a country hamlet about an hour’s journey from Leonding,
I met several surviving members of the family, among them Hitler’s
aunt, Theresa Schmidt (Klara’s sister), a bouncing old woman, and
her two sons, Edward and Anton, Hitler’s first cousins. One of them,
Edward, is a congenital defective, a hunchback with an impediment in
his speech—a pitiable creature. They are miserably poor.

These folk are Hitler’s blood relatives. Their plaster huts seem a
million miles from the shining roofs of Wilhelmstrasse, where the
Leader rules. Hitler has never returned to visit the district since he left
it as a boy. He sends these cousins no letters, no money, and seems
totally unaware of their existence.

Authority Complex

All dictators are abnormal. This may be accepted as an axiom. No
man perfectly normal can take it upon himself to rule a nation dicta-
torially, if only because the vanity of the normal male is not capacious
enough to accept such supreme responsibility. Aside from this, most
dictators are profound neurotics. Kamal Ataturk had a wildly disorderly
personal life; Dollfuss had a dwarf-complex; Pilsudski’s breathless
rages were pathological; Mussolini is something of a megalomaniac.
Of the lot, Stalin is probably the nearest to a normal human being,
but one should not forget that he was a criminal, viz., bombthrower,
in his youth.

The great Viennese psychiatrist Dr, Wilhelm Stekel has a theory
which accounts handily both for the neuroticism of dictators and for
the supine willingness of most people to submit to dictatorial rule. He
calls it the Authority Complex.

One must begin with the child. In every child, says Stekel, there is
a struggle between his own instincts and the lessons he derives from
the outer world. Children like, for instance, to be dirty. But they are

8 Yet Hitler did not wait for his mother’s death; he departed for Vienna at 17,
and she did not die t1ll the following year.
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taught by external education to be clean. Education is largely an effort
to mold a child in opposition to his original instincts. Education is
effected by authority. And authority becomes the child’s enemy, because
it means renouncement of his own instincts.

The first authority is that of the parents. If the parents are too weak
and the child is overtly defiant, then other authorities come into play.
The authority of older children. The authority of the teacher. In some
cases, the authority of the law. The authority, above all, of religion. The
final weapon in the hands of adults teaching authority to children is the
phrase, “God will punish you.”

Since about 1914 the authority of parents has tended to break down.
It is obvious that the family is no longer the sacred unit it once was.
“Parents,” Stekel puts it, “did not respond themselves to the moral
standard which they demanded of their children.” Inevitably children
revolted at this unfairness. Parents sought stupidly or blindly to impose
on children the moral imperatives which they ignored, which left the
children no alternative but to revenge themselves by overthrowing
parental prohibitions.

As with parents, so with teachers. School and university were taken
less and less seriously. The Great War undermined authority interna-
tionally, and presently law and order within national boundaries suf-
fered: a flood of criminality deluged the world, especially in America.
Then too, religion had been displaced by modern science as a vital au-
thoritarian factor. Finally, young men and women asked how they
could longer believe in a God who permitted the war and the butchery
therein of some ten million men. Thus the principle of authority became
discredited, and the old belief and faith in authority collapsed.

Following this came the wave of dictators. The Hitlers and Mussolinis
were essentially father-substitutes. People may resent authority but they
cannot easily live without it in some form; children have revolted against
their fathers, and Hitler, Mussolni, Pilsudski, Alexander of Jugoslavia,
Dollfuss, Kamal Ataturk, Stalin, replaced them. The modern child
thought his parents unworthy and thus sought an external leader. The
sphere of authority was moved outside the home.

How Dictators Rule

Fundamentally all government is a subtle combination of the forces
of fear and love. Dictators increase the dynamics of this process. Alex-
ander of Jugoslavia tried to win over the rebellious Croats at the same
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time that he dragooned them to submission. Little Dollfuss murdered
the socialists by artillery fire and then begged them to forgive him.
Hitler is beloved by many of his followers; just the same, the St.
Bartholomew of June 30 was necessary.

Why does the individual not resent the authority of the dictator, or
leader, just as he resented parental authority? The reason, according to
Stekel, is that mndividual doubt of the fallibility of the dictator is lessened
as more and more people come to follow and worship him. The greater
the number of followers, the less the necessity for doubt. “A psychic
epidemic of adoration” floods the country, engulfing the whole nation
which prostrates itself at the dictator’s feet.

Moreover, Stekel says, as more and more people join the leader, their
merged inferiorities become a superiority. The people identify them-
selves with the leader. They partake of the flesh of his authority. They
become part of his soul and substance, and he of theirs. They share in
his Authority Complex. Germans, for instance, say that they don’t
fight for Hitler, but that Hitler fights for them. Mussolini does not
want power for himself, many Italians believe, but only for the sake
of Italy, viz, other Italians, viz., themselves. “Obedience and defiance,
love and hate, finally combine,” says Dr. Stekel, “and the dictator be-
comes the saviour.”

In older days new leaders were usually the founders of new religions.
Now they are political. Many present-day leaders are jealous of reli-
gion; they fear the implacable rivalry of the Authority of God. Thus,
very often, they try to kill religion, their strongest competitor, by seek-
ing to destroy the religious faith of their people: Kamal Ataturk dis-
established Islam, Stalin tried to root out the Orthodox Church.

Dictators are themselves usually neurotics because they too suffered
from the iron circumscription of the Authority Complex; they too
revolted against authority m childhood. But they were persons of supe-
rior mentality and will-power, and, after a miserable childhood, their
revolt was successful; they revenged themselves on their parents by
imposing authority on others. They became fathers, not of a family,
but of a nation.

Almost all the modern dictators (Alexander of Jugoslavia was an
exception) were born in poverty. Mussolini and Stalin were wretchedly
poor. Moreover several dictators, like Hitler, underwent childhood
experiences of the most disastrous sort; Dollfuss, for instance, was
illegitimate. The dictators compensated for their bitter youth by search
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for power and glory afterwards. Power and glory, even achieved, may
not be anodynes enough. Thus Hitler seeks refuge in music, Mussolni
in a strenuous physical life; Kamal Ataturk sought it in alcohol.

Dictators reach power so easily, Stekel believes, because we, the
common people, seek to blame something for every crisis, and the
nearest and biggest and easiest things to blame are our institutions. So
the institutions fall, to give way to dictatorship. Dictators keep power
so easily because the force of arms is inherent in their systems, and
we, the common people—speaking broadly—like to be afraid.

Début

Hitler entered political life as a spy. The fact is unpleasant. The
story is fully told by Heiden. Hitler was a non-commissioned officer
in the German army, which had just become the Reichswehr, and he
was detailed early in 1919 as a sort of intelligence officer to attend
labor meetings, mingle with workers’ groups, and report to his superiors
the state of popular opinion. Fulfilling one of these missions, he heard
a man named Gottfried Feder speak. He was impressed by Feder’s vio-
lent economic theories, including the distinction between raffendes
(grasping, hence Jewish) and schaffendes (creative, hence Aryan)
capital ; he came again to hear him, and joined excitedly the discussion
following the meeting, squelching an opposition speaker.

Feder was closely in touch with an ex-locksmith, Anton Drexler,
who had formed a minuscule group of riffraff called the German
Workers Party. Presently, Hitler was invited to join this party. He
records his two days of “‘agonized meditation and questioning” before
giving assent. Then he became No. 7 not in the party itself (which at
the time numbered about sixty members) but in its council. This was
in July, 1919. Officially, however, until the next June, Hitler remained
in the service of lus regiment.

The rise of the party under Hitler is history. He changed its name
to N.S.D.A.P. (National Sozialistische Deutsche Arbeiter Partei), which,
usually shortened to “Nazi,” is still its official name. He spoke first to
audiences of twenty, then to twenty thousand. He founded his private
army, the SA, the Brown Shirts. He was ill-advised enough to attempt
a revolution in Munich in 1923 and was defeated and sentenced to jail
for high treason. This was the celebrated “Beer-hall Putsch.” He
emerged—Germany’s potential “saviour.”

It is well to underline two subsidiary but important points. One was
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that Hitler began to equivocate almost from the moment he seized
control of the party, so that he might win as many adherents as possible.
He stretched his net very wide. But it should not be forgotten that
Naziism began as a predominantly left-socialist movement, and the
party program, written by Feder and pronounced unalterable by Hitler,
was a distinctly anti-capitalist document. Hitler shed some socialism
as he marched toward power, but essentially his movement was radical
in political and economic beliefs. It appealed to the Have-Nots, to the
underpossessed. It was not merely, as the Marxish say, a “Front” for
capitalism. It was itself definitely revolutionary.

The second point is Hitler’s intimate association with army influences
almost from the beginning. He, as well as anyone, knew that the Reichs-
wehr would in time wield decisive influence in Germany. As much as
he dared, cautiously, cleverly, he cultivated the Reichswehr. It is not
generally known that he was enabled to purchase control of the Vol-
kische Beobachter, which became the principal Nazi organ, through use
of Reichswehr funds. And gradually the army became his weapon.

Hitler took over the party from Drexler and Feder, but essentially
it was his creation. He cozened it, nurtured it, watched it grow, and
controlled it. The party came out of his own blood and heart. He
was helped, and not inconsiderably, by industrialists, by smart bureau-
crats and organizers ; but his was the feeding spirit, the dominating pulse.
He was himself responsible for the smallest details. He designed the
Swastika flag, for instance, and he shaped the general propaganda
methods, the like of which were never before seen in Germany—or
anywhere. The party was everything to Hitler. It was his wife, mother,
mistress, and all his children—at the end thirteen million of them.

Miracle of Nationality

Hitler became a German citizen only by virtue of machinery remark-
ably devious. He could not run for President against von Hindenburg
while still technically an Austrian subject. But the Reich Government
of the day had no intention of conferring statehood on its chief oppo-
nent. Therefore the Nazis had to resort to guile.

Dr. Frick, one of the earliest Hitlerites, the first Nazi to hold electoral
office in the Reich, was munister of education and the interior in Thu-
ringia. Citizenship would come automatically to Hitler if he became a
German official, and Frick therefore decided to appoint him commander
of gendarmerie in the inconspicuous hamlet of Hildburghausen. But
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news of this forcible, “naturalization” leaked out and when all Germany
laughed at the picture of Hitler as a Hildburghausen policeman the
plan was given up.

Subsequently another Nazi who held a governmental post, Dietrich
Klagges, the minister of justice in Brunswick, appointed Hitler to be
Counsellor of the Brunswick Legation in Berlin. Scarcely anyone in
Germany knew that such a post existed. Hitler took oath to be loyal
to the constitution—which he was openly threatening to destroy—and
the Austrian village boy became at long last—a German.
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Everything has a cause and the cause of amything is every-
thing.
—W. J. TurNER

PERSONAL qualities alone would not have brought Hitler power.
But they contributed to one of the main factors that did—his feat
in identifying himself with a large percentage of the German nation.
He became a demigod, a prophet, because with great mesmeric ability
he persuaded so many Germans that he, and he alone, represented their
renascent Germanism. People love Hitler because they love Germany.
And Hitler and Germany—to Nazis—are one.

Germany was a loose aggregation of quarreling states until the dawn
of yesterday. Literature in a German language that can be read easily
to-day did not exist till the seventeenth century. England and France
unified themselves, constituted themselves homogeneous nations, in the
Middle Ages; but even Bismarck did not make Germany a nation in the
sense that England and France had been nations for five centuries.

Germany, the Nazi apologists say, is now at long last growing up.
Adolescence produces pangs in children as well as nations, and no one
becomes mature without suffering. The frightfulness of the Nazi terror,
the confusions in personnel and administration, the lies and disingenu-
ousness of foreign policy, the war-mongering and finally the outbreak of
the war in 1939, the extraordinary capacity to blunder and irritate
everybody in the outside world (i.e., grown-ups)—these are evidences
of a period of puberty.

Germany lost the war of 1914. It was an honorable defeat and in fact
Germany came within a hair’s breadth of beating the entire world;
nevertheless the Germans felt “humiliation” ; they felt degradation and
shame. The Nazis invented the legend of having been stabbed in the
back by the Jews, socialists, pacifists—to excuse defeat. Hitler made
immense capital of this unconscionable distortion of the facts. And he

30
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progressed to another deduction, equally false—that Germany had o,
in fact, lost the war at all.

His technique was something like the following. He suggested to the
German people first that they were sick, second that he alone could make
them well. His argument was passionate and direct: “You are humiliated.
You are degraded. Germany is a sick nation. Admit it. Concede the ex-
tent of your misery. You have been trying to persuade yourselves that
you are content with this miserable republic. . . . Those who stabbed
you in the back, the Jews and the Marxists, are ruling you to-day. They
prevent you from recovering your self-respect. They are the spiritual
death of your nation. And your own spiritual death too. For you are
Germany. We are Germany. Be men! Out with the traitors, the
Jews, the pacifists, the republicans. . . .” (And so omn, in the early
speeches, often for two hours and a half.)

These speeches had an immense emotional effect. Women, especially,
were overcome by them. If the audience was full of women, Hitler
would shriek out, “You are mine, and I am yours, as long as I live!”
So Hitler presented the Germans, who are idealists, who are exceptionally
sensitive, who had had a very rough time, with their lost “self-respect.”
Suppression of liberty was the price they were willing to pay for his
leadership.

The same technique is manifest in Mein Kampf. Compare this book
with, say, the autobiographies of Trotsky or Henry Adams. It is vapid,
vain, rhetorical, diffuse, prolix. But it is a powerful and moving book,
the product of great passionate feeling. The theme is stated twenty
times, slowly rising out of clouds of circumlocution and confusion, that
Germany has been disunited, mortified, crucified, by the peace treaties,
and that it must and will arise, a new, powerful, united, regenerated,
national state.

One can well imagine hundreds of thousands of honest Germans,
from dispossessed shopkeepers to General Blomberg, conscientiously,
dutifully picking their way through this turbulent ocean of print, sink-
ing back from it exhausted, but with its message, if only by the ceaseless
repetition of the argument, left impregnably in their minds, fecund and
germinating.

A number of elements quite outside Hitler’s own character con-
tributed, of course, to his meteoric, incredible career. What set the course
of that savage, swooping arrow, Briining-Papen-Schleicher-Hitler? One
should keep in mind the following items:
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1. The German inflation which was the result of passive resistance
to the French invasion of the Ruhr, because it ruined the lower middle
class, the petite bourgeoisie, and caused 1t to seize on Hitler’s extrava-
gant promises.

2. The deflationary policy of Bruning which helped to crush the
upper middleclass, already hard hit by the world economic crisis. Hard
times bred both the violence of Hitler and the apathy of his opponents.
The Nazs fed on other people’s hunger.

3. The support of the great industrialists, chiefly the steel magnate
Fritz Thyssen, who from 1930 on helped finance the Nazi party. This
support was important. It was not, however, decisive. Hitlerism was
a tremendous national movement before the industrialists, seeing how
the road led—years late—jumped on the bandwagon. The idea that
Thyssen manufactured the Nazi movement by giving Hitler thousand-
mark bills in a back room is simply monstrous, as Raymond Gram
Swing has pointed out. As soon as the industrialists belatedly got around
to seeing that Hitler was dangerous, and also might turn to be useful,
they sought to buy him up. They hoped to make Hitler their puppet.
But they were mistaken.

4. Sabotage of the republic by its own officials, army officers, and
government administrators ; coupled with the extremely democratic char-
acter of the Weimar constitution whereby demagoguery got every chance
to express itself in votes.

5. Finally, personal considerations. A great number of personal im-
ponderables helped blow Hitler into port. The first of these was the
mind and character of the old president, Field-Marshal Paul Ludwig
Hans von Beneckendorf und von Hindenburg. His mind and character—
plus the coruscation of intrigue blazing around him as he aged.

To understand properly Hitler’s seizure of Germany and his estab-
lishment of power we must tell the story of three great episodes: the
Papen-Schleicher-Hindenburg conspiracies, the Reichstag fire, and the
events of the 3oth of June. Let us begin with Hindenburg. To be blunt,
it is quite possible that Hitler would never have become chancellor
had not Hindenburg been senile.

The Squire of Neudeck

In the critical year, 1932, Hindenburg was already eighty-five and
rot in full possession of his faculties. He was “all right,” people said,
until about the beginning of the morning, and those rare personages
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who could get to him at breakfast, or even earlier, could do something
with him. This was the great strength of Franz von Papen, for a time
his chancellor.

In Berlin at the time the health of the Old Man was a paramount
interest, and a marvelous and cruel miscellany of jokes grew up at his
expense, hinging on the question of his competency. It was no joking
matter; the person of the President was the most powerful constitu-
tional force in the country. But no one could talk or write openly on such
a delicate matter: thus the retreat to an apocrypha of legend.

One of the Hindenburg stories had him turning in puzzled recollec-
tion to his son Oskar and asking, “Where has that chap with glasses
(Bruning) gone to?’ Another alleged that he confused Briining with
Schleicher when Schleicher was dismissed. And once, the story goes, he
received General von Hammerstein, the chief of the Reichswehr; the
general had some pretty important business on his mind but Hindenburg
began and ended the interview by shouting, “Herr General, I was not
satisfied with the autumn maneuvers.”

When Hitler finally became chancellor, the Old Man—watching the
immense parade of Nazi storm-troops celebrating the occasion—care-
fully unhinged his old knees to sit down and said to Oskar, “Son, I did
not know we had captured quite so many Russian prisoners.”

A favorite story, while Hindenburg was alive, detailed the alleged
circumstances of his death. Kneeling at the bar of heaven, he was re-
ceived by St. Peter who, glancing at him in surprise, asked him his
identity. “I am Hindenburg,” the field marshal replied. “But why are
you here?”’ continued St. Peter, “Because I am dead,” replied Hinden-
burg. St. Peter shook his head saying, “There has been an error: you
are not dead, but alive.” Hindenburg retreated in confusion: “Ha! That
rascal Meissner has misinformed me again!”

Meissner, the state secretary to the President, wielded great influ-
ence on the Old Man, because next to Oskar he was nearest to his
person. Meissner was, and is, a remarkably subtle politician. He has
continuously been state secretary to all three German presidents—Ebert,
the socialist, Hindenburg, the field marshal, Hitler, the Nazi—an office-
holding feat of no small quality. It is said that Hindenburg, knowing
that his health and mind were failing, appealed to Meissner to be a
super-efficient watchdog, to “protect” him from breaking his oath, that
is, the oath to preserve the Weimar constitution. It is also said that the
Nazis “got to” Hindenburg—through Meissner.
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Meissner’s influence was always palpable, but it diminished toward
the end, as the Old Man, adrift in a perpetual maelstrom of crises and
appeals to the German nation, unable to make head or tail of the in-
trigues going on, more and more hesitant to trust anyone, came inevitably
to supreme dependence on the one person so close to him that question
of faith did not arise—the flesh of his own flesh, Oskar, his son.

Oskar was no stripling. He was a veteran officer. He had no taste for
politics. But politics were all around him. General von Schleicher, later
to become chancellor, was a fellow-officer in his regiment, the Third
Potsdamer Foot Guards, and gradually, with Schleicher’s connivance, a
palace camarilla rose, with Oskar leading it. The chief business of the
camarille was “protection” of the aged President. Soon he was prac-
tically isolated from other contacts.

Every politician who wanted to see Hindenburg—the supreme reposi-
tory of power—had to penetrate the wall of the camarilla first. The
power of the camarilla grew. The Nazis did their best to gain the Presi-
dent’s isolated ear. For a long time, however, Oskar and Schleicher and
their crowd, aristocrats and Junkers, despising Hitler as a parvenu and
a corporal, fended them off. In 1928 a group of Prussian notables had
presented Hindenburg with an estate at Neudeck, thus fulfilling the Old
Man’s dearest dream: to become a landowner, a country squire. Im-
mediately after Hitler became chancellor, the Government of Prussia
presented him with an additional five thousand acres of land. The title
was made out in Oskar’s name, in order to avoid inheritance tax, since
it was clear that Hindenburg pére could not possibly live much longer.

(Acquisition of the Neudeck estate promptly produced a new joke
when the Hitler government began to function. Q. “What is the newest
and smallest concentration camp in Germany?” A. “Neudeck.”)

The camarille exerted power chiefly because the Reichstag parliament
met only stertorously and for short intervals (in the two years between
December, 1930, and November, 1932, it did not pass a single law) and
because the President, and the President alone, possessed the power of
appointing a chancellor and giving him authority to dismiss the Reichs-
tag if it were unruly. Intrigue reached a Borgia-point. Between the
palace camp, the army camp, the Nazi camp, there was espionage galore.
Briining occasionally amused visitors whom he trusted by pointing up
his fireplace and showing them where he imagined a dictaphone—
Schleicher’s probably—to be.
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Briining, Papen, Schleicher

Dr. Heinrich Bruning was chancellor of Germany from May, 1930,
to May, 1932. He was the most enlightened and civilized statesman that
modern Germany has produced. He was a machine-gunner during the
war; he entered politics as a Catholic labor-union executive. Even old
Junkers like Oldenburg-Januschau had to call him the “best since Bis-
marck.” He devotedly defended the Weimar constitution; was largely
responsible for Hindenburg’s reélection as President; took the bold
step of outlawing the Brown Shirts, exiling them for a brief period
from the streets ; sensibly sought to give Germany the victory in foreign
policy it needed by proposing the Austro-German customs-union;
brought the reparations problem almost to settlement; and was cast out
by Hindenburg like a dog.

Brining detested Hitler, personally and politically, but he begat him.
The Leit-Motiv of the two Briming years was defense of the republic
against Hitler. The Nazi leader rose to his first great electoral victory
after Brining became chancellor, with 6,400,000 votes and one hundred
and seven deputies. Hitler, before 1930, was half a joke. After 1930
he was a tremendous phenomenon. It is one of the most tragic of mod-
ern ironies that Brining, of all men, by the force of terrible circum-
stances, made way for Hitler. This was because, with the best intentions
in the world, Bruning destroyed the German constitution.

In 1930, simply in order to be able to govern at all, Bruning had
been forced to dissolve the Reichstag and govern by decree. He was
not the first to do so. Decrees began under Ebert. But Briining signed
them wholesale. He thus founded a system of double government, for
the Reichstag permitted him decrees even when it was sitting. The
Reichstag drew a razor across its own throat. This was because the
Social Democrats, still the largest party, wanted to tolerate him but
could not openly support his deflationary measures, which reduced
wages and hurt the working class. Briining reaped the inevitable har-
vest ; he became responsible not to the Will of the Reichstag but to the
Whim of the President. Once Hindenburg withdrew confidence in him
he was doomed, because he had inadvertently destroyed the authority
of the body, the Reichstag, to which he should have been responsible.
This set a precedent for future chancellors. They were henceforth no
more than creatures of Hindenburg, and presently the camarilla.
“Presidential” Germany began.
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By 1932 Briining, in the opinion of the Hindenburg group, had out-
lived his usefulness. He had weakened his position vis-d-vis the Nazis
by his bold dissolution of the Brown Shirts; vis-d-vis the socialists by
his policy of drastic cutting of the social services; and, most important,
vis-d-vis the camenlle by announcing a program of agrarian settlement
(to reduce unemployment) on bankrupt Junker estates. This mortally
offended and terrified the Neudeck clique. Hindenburg, at the end of
May, 1932, was quietly shipped off to his estates, where he was isolated
from everyone, even Bruning, Schleicher remained in Berlin and
undertook secret communication with Oskar in Neudeck. A troop of
whisperers called on Hindenburg, telling him that Bruning was an
“agrarian Bolshevik.” He went to Neudeck to ask additional powers:
Hindenburg refused to grant them, and out Brining went—like a
gnawed bone.

It was now clear that the man behind the scenes was Major-General
Kurt von Schleicher, the secretary of state in the ministry of defense.
He represented in this tense and covert struggle for power what was
still the most important element in Germany, the Reichswehr, the army.
Schleicher was a headquarters officer during the war. He spent most of
the four years far away from the Front, in Berlin. Don’t say he wasn’t
smart.

From 1923 on he had been a rising influence. In 1924 he was execu-
tive officer to von Seeckt, then head of the Reichswehr. Later he broke
with von Seeckt. He “made” s subsequent superior, the Reichswehr
minister General Groener; then he “broke” Groener. And he was the
discoverer of Bruning, whom he subsequently destroyed. Schleicher by
1930 had become the political specialist of the Reichswehr, an “indis-
pensable link between the army and political life.” His power was based
partly on his great gifts of character, partly because the army, as an
army, became increasingly dominant in German affairs to the exact pro-
portion that civil politics became chaotic and obscure.

But when Hindenburg dismissed Brimning it was not Schleicher but
Franz von Papen who, on June 1, 1932, became chancellor of the Reich.
No mystery to this, though Papen was virtually unknown. Papen had
been picked by Schleicher for the job. Papen, as people in Berlin ex-
pressed it, was a “front” for Schleicher, someone to put out his chin on
his behalf. And then an amazing thing happened Old Hindenburg, who
had scarcely known Papen, fell in love with him. A Junker, an officer
and a gentleman, suave, quick-witted, a member of the Herrenklub, of
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impeccable manners and great charm, Papen became the palace favorite.
Within a few weeks of his arrival at Neudeck he had completely cap-
tured the Old Man’s confidence., He breakfasted with him as a member
of the family, and strode in and out the palace as he pleased.

But Papen’s chancellorship, much to his well-bred distress, was short.
He had to go, despite his popularity in the palace, because he was so
fantastically unpopular in the country. Germany was still theoretically
a republic, governed by the democratic constitution of Weimar, and on
assuming the chancellorship Papen had to call an election. He waited
till the last possible day, July 31, and was overwhelmingly beaten. It
was at this election that the Nazs reached their top—13,700,000 votes.

Hitler burned for power. As leader of the largest party, he was
received by Hindenburg. Papen was present. Hitler behaved awkwardly
and started to rant; he demanded the chancellorship on his own terms
and asked the same powers that Mussolini had been granted after the
march on Rome; he was contemptuously rejected by Hindenburg. The
Old Man told Papen, “Let Hitler mend his manners, or I will appoint
him postmaster some place where he can lick my backside on postage
stamps.” Wild with fury, Hitler sought to overthrow Papen in the
Reichstag; Papen circumvented him by dissolving the body instantly
it met.

Prussia, the largest state in the Reich, was still—it should be inter-
polated—ruled by the Social Democrats. Papen determined upon a coup
to annihilate them. Without the shadow of legal authority, he dis-
missed the socialist leaders, Braun and Severing. Although they might
have replied by force or called a general strike, the socialists meekly
submitted to arrest. This event was premonition of the death to the
republic. It showed Papen, Schleicher—and the Nazis—that the will
and spirit of the republic had already perished. And it set the example
for similar lawlessness in Prussia by Goering later.

Papen, his parliament dissolved, had to call new elections. They oc-
curred on November 6 and again he took a terrific beating. His first
Reichstag sat exactly eleven days, his second exactly three. But this
procedure—election, repudiation, dissolution—could not go on indefi-
nitely, even in Germany. The people were tired of balloting. The Nazis

1 This was the first Reichstag of which Goering was president. Papen had a
narrow escape With his customary imperturbable casualness, he had forgotten to

bring with him the Presidential decree, signed in advance, authorizing the dissolu-
tion; he retrieved 1t just in time.
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dropped two million votes in the November election; so they joined
the communists in a Berlin traffic strike, and made threats of united
action in a general strike. This scared both the army and the palace.
Nobody knew quite what to do. The camarilla hesitated; Hindenburg
blinked ; and Papen went.

After a prolonged crisis Schleicher was pushed into the chancellorship
himself. He took the job only after a fortnight of worry and negotia-
tion; he would have much preferred to continue to rule from behind
the scenes, or from the impregnable Reichswehr mimstry. But there was
no one else. The camarille was running out of men. Schleicher lasted
less than two months. It may surprise people, but he gave promise of an
excellent administration. Schleicher despised Hitler and would have
kept him from office ; he was friendly with labor ; he believed in a strong,
moderate Germany, and he took a strong, moderate course. And so he
came to commit unforgivable sins. To wit: he flirted with the trade
unions; he announced himself neither capitalist nor socialist; he per-
mitted scandals about the Osthilfe relief to come out; he even took up
Bruning’s scheme for colonizing the bankrupt Junker estates. Also, he
was too confident, too ambitious, and too clever by half. People dis-
trusted him, and once Hindenburg is said to have barked at him, “When,
Herr General, are you going to lead the army against me?”

Above all, Schleicher was vanquished by the same thing that funda-
mentally had beaten both Bruning and Papen—failure to make terms
with Hitler, failure somehow to solve the Nazi problem. It was utterly
impossible to ignore the pressure of the Nazi movement. The Nazis
had just lost two mullion votes, and were momentarily distracted by the
defection of Gregor Strasser, then Hitler’s second in command; even
so, no government could move an inch without considering their power.
Already they dominated Germany.

Strasser, the head of Hitler’s political organization, commanded be-
tween thirty or forty deputies, and his rebellion might have split the
Nazi party. Schleicher had been intriguing with him, and he wanted to
join the general in a coalition. Hitler squashed him. The episode is a
revealing instance of Hitler’s shrewd political sense, his implacability,
and his tactics. What did Hitler do, faced with this formidable mutiny?
He did not dismiss Strasser from the party, as Stalin or Mussolini
might have done. Instead he summoned a meeting of all the Nazi depu-
ties. Strasser himself was present. Ignoring him, Hitler began to speak,
somewhat as follows:



WHO KILLED THE GERMAN REPUBLIC? 39

“In every group of men there is likely to be a Judas. One of the
things about a Judas is that he believes there are other Judases too. We
have a Judas in our midst. This Judas of ours has spread reports of
growing disaffection. But is he right? Do others share this baseness, this
treachery of character ?” Hitler paused. All eyes were turned on Strasser.
Hitler pulled a piece of paper from his pocket. His secret service, within
the party, was of the best.

“Apparently our other Judases do exist,” Hitler proceeded. “Not
only do they exist; I have their names. Do you want to hear the names
of these other Judases, who would destroy our unity, disrupt our party?”
Consternation. Hitler began reading names. Deputy A. Deputy B. And
so on. All the names of those deputies whom he knew sympathized with
Strasser. As each name was read, Hitler turned sharply to the man,
saying, “Is it correct? Is it true that you are a Judas?”’ One and all,
naturally, leaped to their feet, screaming denunciation on Strasser, loyalty
to Hitler. It was only necessary to read the first few names. The meet-
ing exploded into a pandemonium of violent fidelity.2

The Strasser interlude was over. What next? The Nazis were still a
tidal wave of almost twelve million voters and no bulwark in a demo-
cratic system could withstand the pressure of such a torrent. It was
impossible to suppress the Nazis, impossible—so it was thought then—to
give them carte blanche. The Nazis had to be seduced into the govern-
ment or they might destroy Germany in civil war involuntarily. Yet
Hiutler, still smarting from the rebuff in August, steadily refused to enter
any coalition save on prohibitive terms. Something had to be given him—
but what?

“A Mighty Maze—But Not Without a Plan!”

Hitler might have made a civil war, but his whole policy was based on
getting office by legal means. He was nicknamed, contemptuously,
“Adolfe Légalité.” Perhaps his fear of risking a fight was patriotic;
perhaps it was cowardice derived from the cold steel of 1923. His vanity,
moreover, was supreme enough to suggest dictatorship of a type new to
history, a dictatorship chosen voluntarily by the people, voted into

2 A few days later Hitler was returning to Berlin from Munich. His chief lieu-
tenants met him at the station Strasser, contrite, was among them. Hitler slowly
greeted each man, shook his hand; and cut Strasser dead. Strasser, agape, was left
standing on the platform. He was murdered, penalty for his rebellion, on June 30,

1934.
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power. But he did not have quite the necessary votes. He was tos
timid to use force. Therefore—intrigue.

The details are confused, a violent explosion of tangled plot and
counter-plot.

First, Papen, who was Schleicher’s creature, turned against him. He
subtly began to influence Hindenburg against him too. Having tasted
glory, Papen wanted more. Partyless (he had been expelled from the
Center), thirsting for position, he joined the Nationalists of Dr. Hugen-
berg, the industrialist publisher, and leader of the big-capital reactionaries.
Second, Papen, turning on all his charm, contrived to meet Hitler secretly
in the home of the banker Schroeder in Cologne. He succeeded in per-
suading Hitler—at last—to envisage the possibility of coalition.

The Hitler forces were summoning new strength. Hitler rightly re-
garded Schleicher as the last hurdle between himself and power. Wor-
ried, Schleicher called a secret meeting in the Reichswehr ministry. It
is said that creation of a mulitary dictatorship was discussed, with the
arrest of Papen and Hugenberg. Received by the Old Man, Schleicher
cautiously informed him that the situation was serious, that the Reichs-
wehr might have to go into the streets against the Nazis. Schleicher’s
threat was probably a bluff. He wanted to frighten Papen and Hugen-
berg. But the threat didn’t work.

For hearing that Schleicher planned to call out the army, Papen
and Hitler met again. The situation had developed beautifully to Papen’s
hand. He was now in a position to say to Hitler, “If you don’t join us
now—on our terms—we are both lost. Schleicher will set the army on
both of us. We must make a coalition.” Hitler agreed and accepted
terms that hitherto had been impossible for him—three seats in the
cabinet as against Papen-Hugenberg’s eight.

Papen, Hugenberg, Hitler went to Hindenburg at eleven at night, an
unprecedented intrusion (January 29, 1933) and roused the Old Man
from sleep. They told him that Schleicher was going to call out the
army, going to make civil war. The President was dumbfounded. Then
drowsily he remembered that the general had indeed—but in a quite
different connection—threatened that use of force might be necessary.

Schleicher, disastrously out-Schleichered, was victim of his own in-
trigue, because Hitler and Hugenberg presented Papen’s plan for a
Nazi-Nationalist government, and the Old Man fell for it. He appointed
Hitler chancellor, Papen vice-chancellor. Then he rolled round and fell
back to sleep. This occurred, an amazing point, before Schleicher, whe
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was chancellor, had been dismissed. It was not till next morning that
the general, to his bewildered stupefaction, discovered himself out of
office. When he heard the news, he walked in a long oval around his
room, whispering to himself, head half bent.

(Briming said, “I was badly treated—but poor Schleicher—five times
worse.”)

Hindenburg thought that he had thoroughly safeguarded himself by
drawing Hitler’s sting. It was established that Hitler should never be
received by the Old Man except in Papen’s presence. So did democracy
die in the Reich. So did Adolf Hitler, who had become a German citizen
only a year before, find himself chancellor of Germany.

And little did Papen, Hindenburg or anyone reckon on the next
bizarre development—the Reichstag fire.



Chapter IV

The Trick by Fire and the
Purge by Blood
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Goering discloses the fact that the late Kurt von Schleicher
plotted a coup against the Reich in 1933. We knew the Nazis
would find out some day what they shot him for.

—HowaArDp BRUBAKER

N THE night of February 27, 1933, a few days before the March 5
elections which were to confirm Hitler’s chancellorship, the build-
ing of the German Reichstag in Berlin was gutted by fire. This fire
destroyed what remained of the German republic. It not only burned a
public building; it inanerated the communist, social democratic, Catho-
Iic, and nationalist parties of Germany. It was discovered at about nine-
fifteen on a winter evening back in 1933 ; but its embers are burning yet.
The Reichstag fire ruined a couple of million marks’ worth of glass
and masonry. It also rumned some thousands of human lives. Logically,
inevitably, the fire produced the immense Nazi electoral victory of
March 5, the savageries of the subsequent Brown Terror, the persecu-
tion of the Jews, the offensive against Austria, the occupation of Czecho-
slovakia, the invasion of Poland, and the enormous process of Gleichschal-
tung, or forcible assimilation, which steam-rollered over Germany.

The fire turned an imposing edifice to dust and ashes. Also it turned
to dust and ashes the lifework of many thousands of pacifists, liberals,
democrats, socialists, decent-minded people of all sorts and classes. But
for the fire the Nazis would never have gained so sweeping and crushing
a victory. In the flames of the Reichstag fire disappeared the old Ger-
many of Bismarck, William II, and the Weimar constitution. In its
smoke arose Hitler’s Third Reich.

“When Germany awoke,” Douglas Reed wrote, “a man’s home was
no longer his castle. He could be seized by private individuals, could
claim no protection from the police, could be indefinitely detained with-
out preferment of charges; his property could be seized, his verbal and
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written communications overheard and perused; he no longer had the
right to foregather with his fellow countrymen, and his newspapers
might no longer freely express their opinions.”

The actual course of events the night of February 27 is quickly told.
Smoke and flames were seen from the windows of the Reichstag, in
the heart of Berlin near one end of the Unter den Linden, at about nine-
fifteen P.M. The fire brigade was there by nine-twenty-five. The main
hall was already a roaring caldron. The ramparts of the bulding were
saved but the interior was gutted. Incendiarism was soon suspected. The
fire had started simultaneously in a great number of places—between
twenty and thirty in all, according to a subsequent official report Goering
and Hitler arrived within an hour and at once said the fire was the work
of communists. “A sign from Heaven!” Hitler exclaimed, as he sur-
veyed the ruins.

The background of these events may also be briefly sketched. Hitler,
as we know, had become Reichskanzler. He had only three Nazis in the
cabinet as agamnst eight belonging to Papen-Hugenberg, but he had not
the famntest thought of playing second-string to them. To accomplish
supremacy a great increase in Nazi votes in the March 5 elections was
necessary. Hitler desperately needed what he had never had before, a
clear majority of Reichstag seats. Papen-Hugenberg were equally de-
termined to prevent this. There was much bad feeling between Hitler
and the nationalists. Fighting on a common front, they were fighting
each other in reality, because each wanted to dominate the ensuing
government.

Things were not going too well with Hitler. Hindenburg still dis-
trusted him. There were wild rumors that Hitler would seek to depose
him by force. The Nazis feared that they were gomng to lose votes.
Only one thing might save them by giving them a clear majority. There
would be, it was estimated, about six hundred deputies in the new
Reichstag, and the communist party was bound to get about one hundred
of them. The Nazis claimed about two hundred and fifty. Well, two
hundred and fifty is not a clear majority of six hundred; but it was
half of five hundred. Therefore, suppress the communist party and
wipe out those critical one hundred seats, and all was won.

At first the Nazis decided to raid the Karl Liebknecht house, the
communist party headquarters in Berlin, incriminate the communists in
conspiracy to revolt, and thus obtain a pretext to suppress them. The
raid was carried out, but it was a failure. The date for the elections was
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rapidly approaching. Tension between Hitler and Papen-Hugenberg in-
creased. The Nazis had to think of something else—in a hurry. They
did.

The fire produced exactly what the Nazis hoped for. This we have
seen.

The one hundred communist deputies were arrested. A state of virtual
siege was proclaimed. The provisions of the constitution guaranteeing
individual liberty were suppressed. Plans for a communist outbreak were
“revealed.” Germany rose with a roar. There was intense public excite-
ment. The Nazis stormed the country, and Hitler was able to maneuver
himself into a dictatorship for four years, affix himself to power im-
movably, unshakably.

Arson de Luxe

The true story of the fire is not so well known to-day as it might be.
The Nazis did their job so well that, whereas everyone well informed
instantly suspected them of complicity, there was much puzzlement as
to details. Even to-day there are mysteries, subsidiary mysteries, not
entirely clear. Let us deal with them.

During the night of the fire a Dutch half-wit named Marmus Van
der Lubbe was arrested when police found him in the burning ruins.
There were no witnesses except the police to his arrest. The first state-
ments about the Dutchman, issued by Goering, were false. It was said
that he had a membership-card of the communist party on his person, a
leaflet urging common action between socialists and communists, several
photographs of himself, and a passport. Obliging fellow ! He did possess
the passport, but not the other documents, as the trial subsequently
proved

His career and movements were closely traced. He had set three other
fires—minor ones—in Berlin just before the Reichstag fire. In 1929 he
had joined something called the Dutch Communist Youth Organization,
a secessionist group. Two years later he was expelled from this as a
worthless and stupid fellow. He never belonged to the communist party
itself. Van der Lubbe’s itinerary the few days before the fire was well
established. As late as the night of February 17-18 he slept at Glinow,
near Potsdam. He could not have got to Berlin before the 19th or 2oth.
Yet inside a week he, an unknown hobo, either (a) so insmnuated him-
self into the graces of the rigidly articulated communist party as to be
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given the dangerous and delicate job of firing the Reichstag, or (b) was
hired to do it by someone else.

When it became clear, even in Germany, that the Van der Lubbe
explanation simply would not hold water, the mystery thickened. The
police got to the point of having to admit that Van der Lubbe had
confederates. But how, carrying incendiary material, could enough of
them possibly have penetrated the Reichstag walls, doorways, or win-
dows in the middle of Berlin without being seen?

The German authorities themselves let the cat out of the bag, and an
astounding cat it proved to be. It was announced that the incendiaries
had presumably entered and escaped from the building by means of an
underground tunnel leading from the Reichstag basement to the palace
of the speaker of the Reichstag—Goering—across the street. Originally
this tunnel was part of the Reichstag’s central heating system. Until
an official communiqué revealed its existence not a dozen persons in
Berlin had ever heard of 1t. So one aspect of the mystery was solved.
The 1ncendiaries, whoever they were, got in and out of the Reichstag
building—through Goering’s back yard. Incredible information !

An ostrich sticks 1ts head in the sand—well-meaning but stupid ostrich.
There is an obverse of the ostrich process. A man may naively and
stridently call attention to something he wishes to conceal, hoping thereby
to lessen interest in it. A squirrel hides a nut under a tree. Then he
squats and points at it, showing where 1t is. Disingenuously a man may
reveal what is embarrassing to him, hoping thus to modify the terms of
the embarrassment.

Long before the trial opened the accusation that the Nazis themselves
had burned the building had impressed the world. A mock trial was
held in London. The Brown Book, telling part of the story—but in-
accurately—was published by émigrés and widely circulated. Moreover,
a secret nationalist memorandum, written to the order of a prominent
deputy named Oberfohren, was passed from hand to hand. Oberfohren
was a nationalist, a Junker, one of Papen’s men. He asserted flatly that
the Nazis were the incendiaries. In June, a Nazi detachment searched
his flat; mystery for some time surrounded Oberfohren’s whereabouts.
Then it was announced that he had “shot himself.”

The half-wit Van der Lubbe was not the only person arrested. Ernst
Torgler, chairman of the communist bloc in the Reichstag, gave himself
up to the police when he heard the announcement incredible to his ears
that he was accused of complicity; subsequently three Bulgarian com-
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munists, Dimitrov, Popov, and Tanev, were arrested, when a waiter
who had served them in a Berlin café told the police that their activities
had been “suspicious.” Dimitrov was in Munich, not Berlin, on the
might of the fire, as an incontrovertible alibi proved ; nevertheless he was
held for five months until the trial, without a scrap of evidence against
him.

Trial

I covered the trial in Leipzig and Berlin during its first six weeks.
The court sat for fifty-seven days, and provided superlative drama. The
trial was neither a farce nor a frame-up. The behavior of the police and
judicial authorities before the trial was outrageous, but once the pro-
ceedings reached the court-room there was a difference. The court got
itself into a curious dilemma, of having to pretend to be fair even while
exercising the greatest animus against the defendants, and little by little
this necessity—caused mostly by the pressure of foreign opinion—to
simulate justice led to some modicum of justice in the court-room.

When the trial opened, I think, the judges like many people in Ger-
many genuinely thought that Van der Lubbe was a communist and that
the communists were guilty. The prosecution thought so too and assum-
ing that the trial would be quick and easy it made no serious effort to
fabricate a “good” case. As the hearings went on it became evident even
to the judges that there was no case at all. The evidence of the prosecu-
tion was a mystifying confusion of inaccuracies, contradictions, and plain
lies. But once the trial started, it couldn’t be stopped. With dreadful
pertinacity, with true Teutonic thoroughness, the court plodded on,
deeper every day in a morass of evidence that ineluctably proved just
what it didn’t want proved—the innocence of the accused. The prosecu-
tion, panicky, began to produce incredible cranks as witnesses, whom even
the judges couldn’t stomach; the judges, nervous, threw Dimitrov out
of court whenever his questions became too intolerably pointed—which
was often.

No one, of course, counted on the brilliant gallantry of Dimitrov.
This Bulgarian revolutionary had, moreover, brains. Unerringly he
picked every flaw in the testimony of a dishonest witness; unerringly he
asked just those questions most damaging to the prosecution. He turned
the trial into a public forum. The trial started as an attempt to pin the
guilt of the Reichstag arson on the defendants. Dimitrov turned it
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before long into an action precisely opposite: one seeking to clear the
Nazis of the same charge.

Also Dimitrov, if only because he is the only man in recorded history
to have made Goering turn publicly red in the neck, contributed deeply
to the pure joy of living. When a witness could not be found, he asked:
“Have you looked for him in a concentration camp?” When the judge
rebuked him for making communist propaganda, Dimitrov pointed to
Goering—on the witness-stand—and said with a subtle combination of
impudence and perfect courtesy: “But he’s making National Socialist
propaganda!” No one who saw him will ever forget Dimitrov pointing
to Lubbe and exclaiming, in his picturesque Balkan German: “This
miserable Faust! Who is his Mephistopheles?” Nor the climax to his
final speech when, imperturbable as ever with the executioner’s ax or
Goering’s private vengeance facing him, he demanded of the court
“compensation for his wasted time!”

Once the court was forced into calling every relevant witness, like
porters and workmen in the Reichstag building, the floodgates were
open. Hot little clews dodged out. Lubbe, inert, apathetic, testified—
in one of his few lucid moments—that he had been “with Nazis” the
night before the fire. A gateman testified that a Nazi deputy, Dr.
Albrecht, left the burning building, in great excitement, as late as ten
P.M. A servant in Goering’s house, Aldermann, testified that he heard,
on several nights before the fire, mysterious sounds in the underground
tunnel. Thus the fire—got hot.

Mystery

The court had no option but to acquit Torgler, Dimitrov, Popov, and
Tanev; Van der Lubbe was sentenced to death and presently decapi-
tated. (Torgler, one should interpolate, was held in “protective custody”
for two years after the trial, though the court declared him innocent.)
The Dutchman died with his lips sealed, and with him to the grave
went one secret—how exactly he and the incendiaries had worked
together.

It was quite clear that he could not have set the fire alone. He was
armed with household fire-lighters onmly; the expert evidence proved
that some self-combustible chemical, phosphorus and sulphur, besides
large quantities of petrol, which Lubbe could not possibly have carried,
were used in the central hall of the Reichstag chamber. He was half
blind ; he shambled rather than walked; the Reichstag was a dark, un’
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familiar building, composed of stone and heavy wood; yet two minutes
five seconds (the reénactment proved) after he entered the building,
the central hall was fiercely burning.

It was also quite clear that Van der Lubbe was not an overt agent
provocateur hired by the Nazis. This theory, for a long time popular,
had to be given up immediately Lubbe took the stand. The Nazis could
not possibly have deliberately picked an agent so inept and witless. Lubbe
was an obvious victim of manic-depressive psychosis. He could hardly
have been acting. Nor was he drugged. He was no friend of the Nazis,
and the court was terrified every time he opened his mouth.

Thus this mystery: If Van der Lubbe acted independently of the
Nazis, how could the fire have been so physically successful ? If he acted
with the Nazis, why did he all but give them away in court?

The answer is, first, according to the only theory that will fit the
facts, Van der Lubbe was not an agent provocateur, but a dupe; second,
according to expert testimony at the trial which can hardly be gansaid,
there were fwo fires, not one, in the Reichstag building that night.

Van der Lubbe, a typical enough unfortunate by-product of modern
civilization, was not only weak-minded; he had a deep grievance against
society and authority, which his feeble brain sought to remedy by
pyromania He was a genuine arsonist. A homeless vagrant, wandering
in the Berlin slums, he set several fires, and in his thick manner boasted
about them. And Nazis heard him. So much is fact.

Entering the Reichstag building, Van der Lubbe ignited his miserable
smudges of tablecloths and curtains, using his shirt for tinder. The
fires, like the acts of arson he had committed on previous days, were not
fires but failures to set fires; feeble puddles of smoke and soot, nothing
more. He proceeded—and must have seen, bursting ahead of him, a
mighty caldron of vivid flame! This was the other fire. It was the chemi-
cal fire set by the Nazis, who carried their material through the Goering
tunnel, and timed it to go off at just that moment. But Lubbe thought it
was his fire! He retreated, proud, triumphant—and was arrested by the
police.

This was just what the Nazis planned. They wanted a scapegoat—
any kind of scapegoat—so that they could blame the communists. The
link between Lubbe and the Nazis is quite clear. He said in the Berlin
underworld that he was going to burn the Reichstag. It was a matter of
a moment—so honeycombed was Berlin with spies, tools, agents—for
this information to reach high quarters.
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The Nazis knew that Lubbe was going to be there. But they did not
tell him that they were going to be there. He thought that he was alone.
He never knew the Nazis were acting on his words. Thus his peculiar
behavior in the court. He was proud of his fire; he resented 1t deeply
when anyone was put forward to share the credit. With impenetrable
obstinacy, he insisted that he had no confederates, and set the fire alone
—and really believed it. This is the only combination of theory and
fact which accounts for all the circumstances of the Reichstag fire. It is
the theory which Dimutrov, when I saw him in Moscow in June, 1935,
accepted as the best explanation of the events.

Explanation?

Karl Ernst, one of those extraordinary characters tossed up from
obscurity to flitting eminence by the turmoil of the Nazi revolution, was
murdered on June 30. He had been a waiter in a homosexual dive in the
west end of Berlin. He was Roehm’s chief protégé, and consequently
his promotion was very rapid; at the age of twenty-seven he became
Obergruppenfihrer (a rank corresponding to major-general) of the
Berlin-Brandenburg SA, numbering sixty-five thousand men. Before
June 30, Ernst was aware of impending dissension within the party.
He was afraid that Goering and Himmler were going to oust him. He
wrote a letter, dated June 3, 1934, and sent it abroad, with instructions
that it be published if his fears became true.

This Ernst letter purports to be a full description of the Reichstag
fire plot. It gives a briliant and terrible picture of the attitude and
manners of the Nazi leaders just before the fire and after. They were
(except for Hitler, who is mentioned reverently only as “He”) vulgar,
lusty, cruel, courageous, and having a marvelous time. They sound like
a group of Capones in politics for the fun of it. And the fire was
plotted almost like a bit of deviltry.

Ernst says that he and Roehm, Goering, Goebbels, Heines and others
met incessantly in the last days of February, 1933, seeking action. Hitler
himself was not privy to their plans. First they considered staging a fake
“assassination of Hitler”; with this as pretext they could clean up the
country. Goering opposed this as too dangerous—though Goebbels ap-
proved it—and suggested instead a bomb in the ministry of the interior.
This was given up as impracticable, and Goebbels then suggested firing
the Reichstag, so that the Nazis—with satanic appreciation of their jest—
could claim to be “saviors of parliament.” First the room of the com-



50 INSIDE EUROPE

munist deputies was chosen as the seat of the fire; then, instead, Goering
thought of using his secret tunnel. Spies in the underworld brought in
news of an arsonist, vaguely “commumst,” known as Van der Lubbe—
and the thing was done.

Ernst says that he set the actual fire. His comrades were two SA
men, Fiedler and von Mohrenschild.

All three were “executed” in the clean-up of June 30. Dead tongues
tell no tales.

The Ernst letter may not be genuine. Even so, if Ernst didn’t set the
fire, someone like him did.

Blood Bath

The events of June 30, 1934, were a historic inevitability. They were
indeed a necessity. Hitler was poised between two mutually exclusive
armies, the Reichswehr (regular army), and the SA, his private Brown
Shurt force, led by Roehm. Events made it imperative for him to give
undisputed authority to one or the other. He chose the Reichswehr. The
SA therefore had to be liquidated. This, in plain language, is the secret
of June 30.

A secondary consideration, almost as important, was the nature of
the Nazi party itself. The party, as Heiden put it, was a unity not of
aims but of causes; it was founded on no coherent body of doctrine;
its personnel was of the most various. The Fithrer Prinzip was its only
structural bastion, and when sub-leaders became jealous of one another
and thus undermined it, even though Hitler himself was not attacked,
there was nothing to do but eliminate them—forcibly.

Third, it is necessary to remember that what began as a terrible ad-
ministration of discipline to Roehm’s men degenerated uncontrollably
into a violent situation which leaders seized as a priceless opportunity
to settle old-standing party or private grudges. Admit terror as a prin-
ciple, as Hitler did, and there was no telling where it would end.

The deaths occurred mostly on the night of June 3o-July 1. Hitler,
in his speech justifying the executions, admitted to seventy-seven slain.
Thus was certainly an underestimate. The full toll may never be known.
Probably it reached two hundred and fifty, possibly three hundred.

The dead fall into several groups. First, the SA men:

Captain Ernst Roehm, Reichsminister without portfolio and chief of
staff of the SA ; Hitler’s best friend; or%anizer of his private army.
Karl Ernst, SA Obergrupbpenfuhrer, Berlin and Brandenburg.
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Three other SA Obergruppenfihrers (major-generals), Edmund
feines, boss of Silesia; August Schneidhuber, police president of
Munich, and Fritz von Krausser.

Hans Hayn, SA Gruppenfihrer for Saxony, and other Gruppen-
fihrers (brigadier generals).

SA Standartenfuhrer (colonel) Uhl, named by Hitler as the man ap-
pointed to assassinate him.

SA Standartenfuhrer Count Hans Edwin von Spreti, the boyish
Lustknabe found in bed with Heines.

Second, a “Catholic” group, composed mostly of men close to Vice-
Chancellor von Papen:

Dr. Erich Klausner, leader of the “Catholic Action,” an important and
distinguished political leader.

Adelbert Probst, leader of the Catholic Youth movement.

Fritz von Bose, Papen’s state secretary.

Edgar Jung, Papen’s private secretary.

Dr. Beck, of the International Students Exchange.

Third, victims of private or semi-private vengeance:

Gregor Strasser, brilliant theoretician of the Nazi party, formerly
Hitler’s first assistant, in virtual retirement since November, 1932.

Gen. von Kahr, the dictator of Bavaria in 1923, who the Nazis said
“betrayed” the first Hitler Putsch.

Fourth, in a special group:

Gen. Kurt von Schleicher, former chancellor.
Elisabeth von Schleicher, his wife.
Gen. von Bredow, his former assistant in the ministry of war.

Finally, those killed purely by accident, like the Munich music eritic,
Willi Schmidt, who was executed by an SS squad despite his protests
that he was not the Willi Schmidt, a Munich SA man, whom it sought.
The proper Willi Schmidt was found and duly shot—later.

Former Chancellor von Papen, after his secretaries were killed, barely
escaped with his life, and former Chancellor Bruning would certainly
have been killed, had he not fled the country, against his will and on the
urgent advice of friends, twenty-seven days before. Bruning slipped over
the Dutch frontier partially disguised, in the company of Dutch priests.

Why was Schleicher killed? Why did these other former chancellors
narrowly escape death? Because (@) they were former chancellors, and
Briining and Schleicher were the only two men in Germany who could
conceivably have succeeded Hitler if intrigue of the same kind that
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brought him to power should presently unseat him; () Papen was still
at his own game of palace maneuvers, and had deeply shocked and an-
noyed Nazi extremists by a speech at Marburg on June 17, attacking
them; (¢) Bruning was the man who had dared take the Nazi Brown
Shirts off the streets, and they never forgave him for it.

Additionally, Schleicher was murdered because Goering hated him
and all Nazis thought him dangerous. The allegation that Schleicher had
intrigued with a foreign power was nonsensical. He was a friend of
Roehm’s, but no evidence has been adduced that he and Roehm were
actually plotting. Schleicher was a great diner-out; he was called the
“Social General” and had friends in the foreign embassies; that was all.

Fellow officers in the Reichswehr deeply resented Schleicher’s murder,
and they demanded that his name be cleared. The Nazis hesitated. The
documents in the case were in the hands of Himmler, the SS chief. The
Reichswehr obtained the documents—no one knows how. Himmler tried
to get them back. He failed. A group of four hundred Reichswehr officers
met in a semi-public ceremony, with the old Field-Marshal von Macken-
sen in the chair, and drank a toast to Schleicher’s memory, inscribing his
name and that of Bredow in the regimental honor-roll. This frightened
the Nazis, A secret meeting was called by Goering, attended by a handful
of prominent Nazis and all Reichswehr officers above the rank of cap-
tain, at which, it is believed, Goering confessed that Schleicher’s death,
like that of Wills Schmidt, was a “mistake.”

Could any “plot” (by talking of a plot, Hitler justified the clean-up)?*
have umited Roehm, Strasser, Schleicher, von Kahr, Willi Schmidt, Fritz
von Bose, Klausner? The idea is, of course, fantastic. But was Roehm
alone, as boss of the SA, considering subversive action? Most of those
who were in Berlin at the time think not. But it is just possible.

Background to the Killings

Berlin was very tense in May and June, 1934, and economic distress
was sharp. The revolution had taken place, i.e., the Nazis had seized
power. But where were the rewards of victory? Why had not the Nazi

1 German apologists have been hard put to it to explain both the killings and
Hitler’s explanations of them. The most novel excuse I heard came from a highly
nationalist German. Roehm and the others were shot, he said, because the Treaty
of Versailles deprived Germany of colorues Other countries may relegate unpop-
ular or fallen heroes to distant places; for instance Mussolini sent Balbo to Libya
to cool his heels But Germany has no colonial posts available. Roehm might easily
have gone to Tanganyika as admimstrator. But Tanganyika is no longer German,
and therefore nothing could be done with Roehm except shoot him.
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economic program been converted to reality ? The radical Nazis, the rank
and file, the men in the street, felt that Goering and the Reichswehr and
the industrialists had grabbed the plums. They were tense with dissatis-
faction, and they appealed to Hitler—in vain. The Leader announced
that no “second revolution” would occur.

Discontent was concentrated, among Nazis, in the SA. The SA con-
sidered itself the chief instrument of the party. It was Hitler’s army
of the streets, that had brought him office; Hitler was a Brown Shirt,
first and last. The SA was the pedestal of the movement; the submerged
mass and reservoir of man power; it contained many honest Leftists,
eager for the promised land of economic reform.

The SA had swollen to the immense number of 2,500,000 men, and
with the revolution complete there was nothing for them to do. They
were all dressed up—in their nice brown shirts—with no place to go.
Hitler, having created a private army, didn’t know what to do with it.
They were a fearsome burden on party finance; they had been replaced
for guard duty by the SS; and they were an ocean of restlessness and
undirected energy.

The leader of the SA was Roehm. He was a remarkable man. He
bad the blunt energy of Goering, the sharp ruthlessness of Goebbels,
and an organizing talent like none in Germany. A brusque character, a
man of limited imagination, who hated peace, loved disorder, Roehm
was second only to Hitler in the affection of the Brown Shirts. Hitler
owed more to Roehm than to anybody. Hitler created the SA, but Roehm
was the disciplinarian, the executive. And Hitler loved him.

Roehm’s solution of the SA problem was quite simple. Ambitious, he
wanted to feed the SA into the Reichswehr,? convert the Reichswehr
into an immense national army, and become head of the armed forces of
the German state Thus he became the personification of two tendencies.
He was (a) the chief of the Leftist tendencies of the régime, since the
SA were the Havenots in Germany, and (b) the competitor of the
Reichswehr for basic authority in the nation.

The Reichswehr naturally opposed him with bitterness and vigor. The
generals, first, had no intention of giving up their jobs to Roehm; sec-
ond, they had built the hundred thousand men of the Reichswehr into
a beautifully precise and tempered military instrument, and would have
committed suicide rather than see it drowned, inundated, with two and

2 He had had this idea as far back as 1922, and went into exile in South America
when he previously split with Hitler on the same issue.
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a half million hoodlums, clerks, half-trained boys, Lumpen Proletariat
off the streets. Merger with the SA meant death to the Reichswehr. And
the general staff told Hitler so—in no uncertain terms.

The Leader sought about him warily. He hated to give up Roehm;
but on the other hand the hundred thousand men of the Reichswehr
were infinitely more valuable to him than the 2,500,000 virtually un-
armed SA. Assiduously he had cultivated the Reichswehr higher officers,
especially General von Blomberg, who was minister of defense. Blom-
berg, an important point, became deeply devoted to Hitler. Actually on
June 29, the day before the clean-up, Blomberg in a significant speech
expressed his contentment with the Nazi régime. This was enough for
Hitler. If he could be absolutely sure of the Reichswehr, the most pow-
erful force in Germany, the SA lost its raison d’étve.

Hitler called Roehm to see him. They talked five hours. Roehm asked
him once more to enlarge the Reichswehr by inclusion of the SA. Hitler
told him that the general staff of the Reichswehr insisted on selective
recruiting, when and if conscription was introduced. Roehm departed,
beaten. Sulking, he went to Munich. It was announced that, beginning
July 1, the SA would take two months’ leave, during which period they
were not to wear uniforms. The SA off the streets! The revolution
betrayed!

At this point should be mentioned another factor. We have not till
now discussed the SS. These, the Schutzstaffel, were the Black Shirts,
about three hundred thousand strong. They were the élite of the fighting
forces of the party, founded originally as a bodyguard to Hitler and the
other leaders. The SA was a mob. The SS was a pretorian guard, smart,
well-fed, armed. The SA was loyal to Roehm. The SS, with which Roehm
had nothing to do, was loyal to Hitler. The boss of the SS was a man
who hated Roehm, Himmler. And Hitler could count on the SS ab-
solutely.

The Reichswehr was sufficiently alarmed by this crisis to undertake
unusual precautions. For ten days before the clean-up, Reichswehr staff
officers in Berlin carried service revolvers, keeping them at hip even in
their offices. A Reichswehr regiment was mobilized at Doebritz, near
Berlin. This followed rumors—apparently without substantiation—that
Karl Ernst, the most devoted of Roehm’s followers, intended to defy
the SA dispersal order and occupy Berlin, It was even said that Ernst
intended murdering the general staff!

Precautions by the Reichswehr do not prove the existence of a plot.
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It is even possible that the Reichswehr, to serve its own ends, might
have invented a plot, so as to be rid of Roehm. Certainly young Ernst
seemed remarkably innocent of any political intentions, let alone mutiny.
He had recently married and he was arrested en route to Bremen, where
he was boarding ship for a postponed honeymoon in Madeira. Hitler
had been best man at his wedding, not six weeks before.

“Spake the Grisly Terror”

Possibly to allay suspicions by Roehm that he was aware of treason,
if any existed, Hitler left for south Germany to inspect a labor camp.
He took Goebbels with him, and also a man named Lutze, who when
Roehm was dead was promptly named new SA chief of staff. Goering
had been charged with the clean-up in Berlin. That was why Goebbels
was with Hitler. Goering, runmng wild, might have killed Goebbels. In
the middle of the night (June 29), Hitler records that he heard news
of “such serious character” that he must take action at once.

Goebbels had described the occasion picturesquely:

“I still see the Leader standing on the terrace of the Godesberg Hotel.
The Leader looks seriously into the dark sky. Nobody knows yet what
threatens. The Leader 1s true to his own principles. The Leader is full
of determination regarding the reactionary rebels who have cast the na-
tion into unhumited disturbance,

“Reports come to him from Berlin and Munich. After only a few
minutes’ conference, the decision 1s made not to wait until the next
morning. We start at two in the night. At four we are in Munich.

“On the aerodrome the Leader receives reports. Then he decides to
go into the lions’ den. He rushes by car to Wiessee. Without resistance
he manages to get into the house of Roehm. With incomparable courage
Hitler carries out the arrests. Soon after the arrest of Roehm his staff
arrives from Munich. Hitler confronts them and tells them in one sen-
tence to go back to Munich. They obey.”

(Manchester Guardian, July 2, 1934.)

Now, if Roehm was planning an outbreak in Munich on the 3oth, why
was he in bed at Wiessee, twenty miles away, at six A M. of the morning
that the action was alleged to have begun? Why, if Munich was rising
in revolt, was it quite peaceable when Hitler, the same morning, arrived
there?

An official Nazi communigué describes the raid at Wiessee in more
detail :
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The Fiihrer entered, and in person arrested Chief of Staff Roehm,
who yielded “silently and without resistance” in his bedroom. In Heines’s
room immediately opposite “a shameful picture” met the Fuhrer. Heines
was in bed with a youth; the repulsive scene which accompanied their
arrest cannot be described. It pitilessly reveals the conditions reigning in
the circles around the former Chief of Staff.

(London Times, July 2, 1934.)

The unofficial story is that Hitler, far from being alone, was accom-
panied by a squadron of SS gunmen, and that Roehm, far from accepting
arrest silently, bawled insults at the Leader, denouncing him as a traitor
to the revolution, and that Hitler shouted in return until the SS men
took Roehm away.

Roehm was brought into Munich. Heines and his Lustknabe were ap-
parently dispatched on the spot. Hitler did not know what to do with
Roehm. The chief of staff was clapped in prison and told to shoot him-
self. He refused, saying that if anyone shot him, it would have to be
“Adolf himself.” He was not killed till five P.M. the next day, about
thirty-six hours after his arrest. No one knows the precise circumstances.
Probably the jailers came to Hitler again and again, with the words,
“He won’t kill himself. . . . What shall we do ... ? And one can
imagine Hitler’s final, irritated, desperate order to get rid somehow of
the man who was his only friend, get him out of the way, shoot him,
kill him. . . .

The others did not matter to Hitler so much—personally. There were
plenty of others. He made a clean sweep of the allegedly disaffected SA
leaders in Munich and the vicinity. Then early in the morning he ap-
parently sent Goering a message to go ahead in Berlin. Goering waited
till about eleven A.M. before cutting loose. Then he commenced action,
“expanding the original scope of his instructions,” as he admitted later.

It is a moot point whether Goering had talked over with Hitler those
whom he wished to kill. Possibly not. Hitler’s “executive” orders were
often extremely vague? At any rate the death squads got to work.
Himmler superintended them. Annihilation, quick and terrible, began.

Schleicher was shot in his home. He was completely unaware that any
action against him impended. He was, in fact, talking te a friend on the
phone when the SS men arrived. He said into the phone, “Excuse me

8 The story goes that Hitler, some months later, was asked by a foreigner the
whereabouts of a friend. A Nazi at the luncheon table stammered explanation that
he had “disappeared on June 30.” Hitler paled, not knowing the man was dead.
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just a moment ; someone is in the room.” He turned and saw his execu-
tioners. They opened fire. Frau von Schleicher, hearing the shots, rushed
into the room. She was killed so that there would be no witness to her
husband’s death.

The SS men were divided into two groups. Those who did the shoot-
ing were full-time veterans, members of Hitler’s Leibstandarten (body-
guard). The executions, as apart from downright assassinations, took
place in the Lichterfelde barracks. The culprits were given a one-minute
“trial” before a drum-head court martial. The procedure in most cases
was simply a statement by the officer in charge, “You are accused of
treachery and condemned to death.” As each man was brought out to
face the firing squad, a blinding searchlight was turned into his eyes
and drums rolled. Then the volley.

Several of the condemned SA leaders, including Sander, Ernst’s chief
of staff, were shot with “Heil Hitler” on their lips. They thought that
a mutinous group of SS men had revolted against Hitler and that they
were dying loyal to the Fiihrer and the Nazi movement! “Traitors,”
indeed.

It took Hitler from July 1 to July 13 to recover his shaken nerve.
At first the announcement was made that only a few ranking SA leaders
and General von Schleicher and his wife had been killed. Fearing that
the plot theory would not receive credence, the propaganda ministry also
called attention to the homosexual character of Roehm, Heines, and their
closest friends. The party had always been split on the homosexual issue.
Hitler spoke on July 13 and tolled off the names of the seventy-seven
whom he admitted to be dead. He looked like a broken man. The first
part of his speech was received in almost complete silence, though Nazi
deputies (some thirty seats were significantly vacant) were the audience.

In great detail, according to habit, Hitler first sketched the history
of the Nazi revolution. Then he recounted his differences with Roehm.
About details of the “plot” he was far from precise. Referring to
Schleicher’s alleged meeting with a foreign diplomat, he made the re-
markable statement that if “German traitors met a foreign statesman
and gave strict orders to conceal it from me, I will have such men shot,
no matter whether this clandestine discussion had been devoted only to
the weather, old coins, and the like.” Then he concluded with his pas-
sionate outburst that for twenty-four hours he had been supreme court
of the German people—and the audience broke into wild applause.
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Modern Monte Cristo

As extraordinary as some of the murders on June 30 were some of
the escapes. Take the case of Gottiried Treviranus. He had been a sub-
marme commander during the war and as a cabmet munister under
Brining had taken a nationalist point of view almost as strong as that
of the Nazis. But he was on the death list for several reasons: (1) he
was Bruning’s closest friend, (2) he was a strong influence in the
fighting services, (3) he had always despised Hitler and never con-
cealed it.

On June 30, just after lunch, Treviranus was playing tennis in his
back yard. A lorry containing a dozen SS men, with drawn revolvers,
ground to a stop athwart his house. One of his chuldren met them and
they shouted “Where is Treviranus?’ A voice from upstairs, attracted
by the commotion, called “Here I am.” But this was Treviranus’ father!
Rushing upstairs the SS men saw him, realized their mistake, and asked
where his son was. Meanwhile the child ran out and told Treviranus, in
the tennis court, what was happening. Instantly he jumped the garden
wall and leaped into his car, parked outside. The SS men, now down-
stairs, saw him drive off, shot at him and missed.

Very intelligently Treviranus drove straight into town instead of try-
ing to get into the country; the truck full of SS men followed him but
could not shoot on account of the heavy traffic, then lost him. Treviranus
stopped at the home of a friend and borrowed street clothes. He then
went to Schleicher’s house to find out what was happening. There was
a crowd outside. He got out of his car and asked an SS guard what had
occurred, Hearmng that Schleicher had been shot, with considerable
alacrity but outward calm Treviranus jumped back into his car and
drove into the country, where he smashed the car against the edge of
the road, to give the impression he had sought further escape into the
fields. He returned to inner Berlin by taxi and took refuge in the house
of a friend, where—incredible detail—he kept cool by reading Macaulay’s
“History of England.”

End of Hindenburg

On August 2, Hindenburg died. The bloodshed on June 30 may have
had some percussion on his aged frame; on the other hand the Old
Man seemed to have been well satisfied with Hitler and Goering, be-
cause he sent telegrams of congratulation to each.
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Even the day before his death the most competent of Berlin corre-
spondents and diplomats considered that the event must be a crisis of
the gravest sort for Hitler. Who would be President? Could he appoint
himself President? If he did so, who would become Chancellor? Above
all, what would the Reichswehr do?

Now, with better perspective, we know that Hitler had bought off
the army on June 30. Even so, wise after the event, one is bound to be
impressed at Hitler’s cleverness and daring. No one at the time dreamed
of the simple and subtle scheme long up Hitler’s sleeve, of combining
the office of President and Chancellor.

As to the Reichswehr, Blomberg took care of that. The very morning
of Hindenburg’s death, all Reichswehr garrisons in Germany took a new
oath, and one of the most extraordmnary in miltary history. Usually
armies swear allegiance to the crown or head of state. This was an oath
of fidelity, and a thorough one, to Hitler personally:

“I swear by God this sacred oath, that I will render unconditional
obedience to the Leader of the German Reich and people, Adolf Hitler,
the Commander-in-chief of the Wehrmacht (armed forces) and that I
wili; as a valiant soldier, at all times be ready to stake my life for this
oath.”

Each soldier and minor officer swore the oath two words at a time,
repeating them after the commandant, with hand upraised. Some officers,
hating Hitler, took sick leave that day. The general staff was not per-
turbed. Each absent officer was forced to take the oath personally on
his return to service. . . . After the oath all sang not only Deutschland
Uber Alles, but the Horst Wessel song, which is the Nazi anthem.

As long as Hindenburg lived, there was some possibility, although it
was remote, that he might dismiss Hitler from the chancellorship. With
his death this possibility passed. Hitler was now Head of State. He could
only dismiss himself. His undeviating path had reached its natural end.
Only God could remove him now. And God, he claimed, was on his side.



Chapter %
The Two G-Men

Be my brother, or I will bash your head in.
—GERMAN PROVERB

URROUNDING Hitler is a fantastic congeries of sub-Hitlers. In

the early days in Berlin I heard one of the shrewdest observers of
German affairs say: “No top Nazi is perfectly normal or perfectly
sincere. They are either cynics, on-the-make, or hysterics.” Every na-
tional revolution, it is true, convulsively stirring the depths of a great
nation, may bring strange fish to the surface. And I do not say that
hundreds and thousands of decent Germans, some of them in important
administrative posts, are not forthright and honest men.

Several of the more notorious misfits perished on June 30. Plenty
remain. It is not only that they remain, but they hold jobs extraordinarily
appropriate to their weakness and failings. Who should be director of
“popular enlightenment” in the Third Reich? Who, indeed, but Dr.
Goebbels, whose power of enlightenment is that of a cripple, a man
maimed and dwarfed, with malignant envy of those physically fit. Who
should have almost supreme police power over eighty million Germans?
Who, indeed, but General Goering, a man of the most violent and un-
stable passions, an ex-morphiniac? Who, to choose a minor instance,
should be, of all things, minister of education for the Reich? Who, if
it must be told, but Dr. Bernhard Rust, who some years ago lost his
teacher’s job—because he was incompetent !

Hitler once told an interviewer that he did not like Yes-men. Delib-
erately he chose to surround himself with bold and blustering spirits
who often disagreed among themselves. He has, in fact, made a definite
policy of playing one sub-leader against another; he keeps them guess-
ing, gets out of each his best. Also, it is believed, he has something “on”
most of them in his dossiers. The leaders, jealous of each other, and
knowing Hitler the all-powerful arbiter of their destinies, compete with
one another for his favor.

Hitler takes good care that none of the sub-leaders approach his own

60
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supremacy. When Goering got too powerful, he took the secret police
away and gave them to Himmler.

Party posts more or less correspond to posts in the government. Dr.
Goebbels, for instance, is Reichsleiter for propaganda in the party and
also Reich’s propaganda minister ; Darré is party leader for agriculture,
and also minister of agriculture. If party and state were perfectly co-
ordinated, as in Russia, this correspondence of posts would be complete.
But it is by no means complete. Dr. Schacht, for instance, for a long time
had no party rank at all, though he was economic minister. And whereas
Rosenberg is party chief for foreign affairs, he is very far from being
foreign minister in the government, which is Ribbentrop’s job.

Germany is divided into a series of party districts or Gaus. Dr. Goeb-
bels is Gaulester for Berlin. When the Gauleiter is also the SA leader of
the district, a condition which Hitler seeks to prevent as far as possible,
he becomes a personage of enormous local power. Heines was both
Gauleiter and SA commander in Silesia. Julius Streicher, the worst of
the anti-Semites, is both Gauleiter and SA leader in North Bavaria.

The rivalries between these men are formidable. That between Goering
and Goebbels is the best known. That between Goebbels and Rosenberg
is no less vicious. It would be a complex task to draw a chart of the
mutual hatreds within the party. Goebbels and Schacht are far from
being friends; Goering and Ribbentrop; Goebbels and Himmler; and
everyone dislikes Rosenberg. The only two men on fairly good terms
with everyone are Hess and Frick; neither is ambitious, and both have
pleasant personalities.

This unnatural mélange of hatreds produces friction and discordance
and also inefficiency. Beyond that, it indicates a serious weakness of
Hitlerism. The party, founded on emotion, based on no fixed and stable
ideology, held together only by the Leader Principle, is not indissolubly
part of the structure of government and society, as is Fascism in Italy or
communism in Russia. Hitler’s three principal advisers for years were not
Nazis at all: Schacht, Neurath, and General Blomberg. Imagine a
Soviet Government in which the ministers of economics, foreign affairs,
and war were not communists !

There are these sub-Hitlers then. Let us begin with Marshal Goering.

Public Clothes-horse No. I
%A dolf Hitler is the greatest German of all time.”
—MARSEAL GOERING.
Though he stands above all for the entity of Prussia—his great air
force aside—the gusty Goering is a Bavarian ; he was born in Rosenheim,
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Bavaria, on January 12, 1893. He came of a good family—his father was
governor-general of German South-West Africa—and his schooling was
good. He spent his holidays climbing the Austrian Alps. He too, like
Hitler, has strong emotional affiliations with Austria, and this may be
one of the contributory factors accounting for the Nazi assault on Austria
in 1933 and 1934. Goering’s brother lives in Vienna. And his two sisters
married Austrians.

At twenty-one, Goering enlisted in the German Air Force. By the
autumn of 1915 he was leader of No. 5 Pursuit Squadron. He was
awarded the highest German decoration, the Pour le Mérite (equivalent
to the Victoria Cross), and in 1918 he succeeded to the command of the
celebrated Richthofen Squadron. He shot down twenty-three planes
during the war, as against fifty-four for Udet, the second German pilot,
and eighty-odd for Richthofen.

The two incidents which contributed most deeply to the motivation of
his life came in 1018, just after the Armistice. First, Goering refused
to mobilize and surrender his planes. He was ordered to do so by the
German General Staff, but he refused to obey, until he was finally
brought to ground near Darmstadt. He said farewell to his fellow officers,
toasting the day when Germany would be supreme in the air. His planes
were then destroyed.

He never got over this. The destruction of his precious aircraft, by
men whom he considered his infinite inferiors, was a psychic shock
from which he did not recover; his present passionate energy to build a
new German air fleet is compensation.

Second, after he had returned to Berlin, a socialist mob saw him in
uniform and forcibly tore his officer’s insignia from his coat lapels.
Foaming with rage, he swore vengeance. His hatred of socialists, which
is psychopathic in intensity, dates from that day. This incident is im-
portant to Nazi history. It is not entirely fanciful to assume that much of
the Brown Terror was motivated by this incident.

Goering went to Sweden in 1919 and got a job as a commercial flyer.
At this time his morphia history began. He no longer takes drugs, but
for some years he was an addict. In Sweden he fell in love with a woman
who profoundly influenced his life, his first wife, Baroness Karin Fock.
He met her, in almost Wagnerian fashion, after a forced landing on her
estate at Rockelstad, in North Sweden.

He was severely wounded in the Munich beer-hall Putsch of 1923,
having become one of Hitler's leading followers the year before. He
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escaped to Italy and then returned to Sweden. His health broke down;
first he went to a hospital in Konradsberg, and then on to an asylum,
Langbro. His wife meanwhile had contracted tuberculosis. The Swedish
courts refused to give the Goerings custody of a chuld by his wife’s first
marriage.

Frau Goering died in 1932, just before her husband became President
of the Reichstag, his first big job. Thereafter, when Gregor Strasser
was disgraced, Goering succeeded to much of his influence with Hitler
and the party. At this time memory of the dead Karin seemed the most
important personal factor in his life. He brought her body to Germany
(she had died in Sweden) and built a sort of shrine in his Berlin home,
where her portrait stood between lighted candles and tinted by reflec-
tions from a stained-glass window built into the wall. There Goering
knelt daily and prayed—until he met Frau Emmy Sonnemann.

This massive lady, an actress, won his favor and he conventionalized
their private relations in a gargantuan wedding which took place in
Berlin in April, 1935. The ceremony was practically a Roman feast.
Hitler was best man. The newly-weds got $400,000 worth of wedding
gifts. The festivities began with the execution on the same day of two
communists, Epstein and Ziegler, who had been condemned to death on
the charge of complicity in the murder of the Nazi hero, Horst Wessel.
Many Nazis admired the symbolic inference—a blood sacrifice to pro-
pitiate fertility in the married couple. The Goerings, incidentally, called
their first daughter Edda, after Edda Mussolini.

Goering holds an imposing galaxy of jobs. He is President of the
Reichstag, General of Reichswehr, General of Police, Reichsminister
of Aviation, Prime Minister of Prussia,® Master of the Hunt, Chief
Forester of the Reich, and Director of Television—this last because tele-
vision may be applicable to aerial warfare. In 1936 he became superin-
tendent of the German “Four-Year” plan and as such the nominal eco-
nomics dictator. Above all, he is Marshal of the Air Force. It is Goering
who built and runs Germany’s terrific air fleet.

He is famous for the variety and flamboyance of his uniforms, but
legend has got the better of fact, and in reality he wears only about
a dozen. Usually he carries a hilted sword, like that of a crusader. Behind
the desk in his principal residence, a colossal headman’s sword is sus-

1 But he won't cross the threshold of the Prussian Ministry because it was for~
merly the stronghold of the socialists.
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oended perpendicularly on a velvet curtain. He has a mania for display
not only in dress but houses.

Mostly he lives 1n a large structure on Leipzigerplatz. A sizable swas-
‘tka is designed in tile above the main fireplace. In one room the wall-
paper is said to be blood-red and the carpet pitch-black; a marble bust
»f Hitler stands on a pedestal, illumined by a spotlight. Another room,
»n immense and richly-decorated hall, may be transformed into a movie
‘heater; at the touch of a button the tapestry on the wall rises into the

eiling, disclosing a movie screen.

In Bavaria Goering has a country house, near Hitler’s chalet, on a
five-thousand-acre estate presented to him by the local government. His
most ambitious project, and the one dearest to him, is the tremendous
air ministry in Berlin, with two thousand five hundred rooms, so big
that airplanes can land and take off from the roof.

His ambition as well as his vanity is enormous. On March 6, 1933,
exactly one day after the elections which confirmed Hitler’s accession
to office, he ordered his portrait painted—with a book in his lap con-
spicuously entitled Life of Napoleon. His pets are lion cubs. All of them,
male or female, are named Ceesar.

He is as carnivorous as Hitler is frugal—brusque, impulsive, cruel.
Testimony after the Munich Putsch of 1923 recorded his orders to “beat
i the skulls” of his opponents “with rifle butts” (Heil, p. 19). His
famous order to the police in February, 1933, to shoot “enemies” with-
out question, really signaled the beginning of the Nazi terror. His ruth-
lessness 1s unthinking, spasmodic, hot-blooded. He is not a plotter like
Goebbels. He has great executive ability, and this serves to make him
doubly dangerous. He knows how to listen. He gets things done. Oddly
enough, he has great charm—when he wishes to be charming.

Since Goering came to symbolize the police power of the Third Reich,
12,863 people have been sterilized, some of them forcibly. Several hundred
thousand Jews have been forced out of the country. In the year between
June, 1933, and June, 1934, 212 men and women were beheaded out of
214 sentenced to death, the great majority for political offenses which
in no other country would entail the capital penalty. Goering himself
decreed that the sentences should be executed by the medieval ax, instead
of the guillotine. The number of persons sentenced to imprisonment was
280,308 ; they were to serve an aggregate of 129,421 years. In addition,
184 persons were shot “while attempting to escape,” 13,000 were de-
prived of citizenship, and 49,000 sent to concentration camps.
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Goering is a good Aryan. For instance, he greeted the conclusion of
the Anglo-German naval agreement of June, 1935, as “‘a victory for race
law.” But he is the only leading Naz: who 1s not an outspoken anti-
Semite. As to economic affairs, he is with the Rightists in the party. He
cared nothing for the “socialist” part of Hitler’s program. He became a
Nazi because Naziism meant a strong national Germany with a new
army and a powerful air force.

The jokes about Goering are, of course, legion. Most of them are
predicated either on the resplendency of his uniforms or his abnormal
size, He 1s not merely fat: he 1s fat atop an immensity of muscle. He
moves with the vigor of a man a hundred pounds lighter : there is nothing
torpid about him; his energy is terrific. But the story goes that he is
so obese that he “sits down on his own stomach”; he and Emmy have
to sleep in a huge tent: and he wears “corsets on his thighs.”

One story is that he dons an admiral’s uniform whenever he takes a
bath, with rubber duplicates to all his medals. A new unit of weight has
been established in Germany—a “goering”—to signify the aggregate
displacement of his decorations. Once he visited a steel factory and his
companions were horrified to see him suddenly leave the floor and move
horizontally upward to the ceiling. Reason: an electro-magnet above had
caught his medals.

Another little story has him arriving late at a luncheon in Berlin,
where he is to meet an eminent (and doubtless mythical) visiting Eng-
lishman. Goering apologizes for his tardiness, and says that he has been
out shooting. The Englishman turns to hum with the lofty words, “Ani-
mals, I presume?”’ Goering, incidentally, is said to be fond himself of
all the stories about him.

Once, the legend has it, Hitler fell into a doze during a performance
of Lohengrin. The Fuhrer was too tired to keep fully awake. His eyes
opened suddenly as the figure of the shining knight in armor took the
stage. Hitler thought it was Goering. “Hermann,” he shouted, “you are
going too far.”

Goering’s basic importance, now that war has come, is not his blood
lust, not his position in Prussia, not his command of the Prussian police.
What matters is his association with aviation. At the beginning at least
the war was largely fought in the air, and Goering, with his immense
drive and ruthlessness, was directing it on the German side. His work
helped make the dazzling Polish campaign possible.

As befits his character, the general can use doughty language on oc-
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casion. “Anyone who writes against Germany,” he has said, “must have
dung in his brains.” He 1s exceptionally forthright. When he first met
Mussolini he smiled and said, “The last time I was in Italy I bombed
Verona.”

The Doctor

“A Jew is for me an object of physical disgust. I vomit when I see one ...
Christ cannot posstbly have been a Jew. I don’t have to prove that scientifically.
It 1s a fact. . . . I treasure an ordinary prostitute above a married Jewess”

—Dr. GOEBBELS

Dr. Joseph Paul Goebbels was born with a club foot. This was the
most important event in his life. It explamns much of his personality
and career Crippled, as Heiden puts it, “a dwarf among giants,” he
had to make his way by skill, cleverness, by conspiracy. When lus class-
mates went away to war—he was born in the Rhineland m 18g97—he
had to stay at home on account of his deformity. His crippled foot
sharpened his ambition, and also his hatred of the healthy. He is the most
virulent man in the party—and the best educated. He took his PhD.
at Heidelberg. The doctorate, alleged often to be spurious, 1s quite
genuine.

The Goebbels family was devoutly Roman Catholic, but he is a fero-
cious anti-clerical. His father was a teacher, the grandfather a peasant;
his mother’s family were handicraft workers, and all were poor. He
worked his way to a scholarship at Heidelberg, after attending several
other schools. As a youth he wanted to be a literary figure, and indeed
he has written much : his published works fill fourteen volumes.

His wife, who married him after divorcing her first husband, was
an important influence in his career. Enemies said that the first husband
was Jewish; this was not true—he was a quite Aryan lawyer named
Quandt; but as a child Frau Goebbels was brought up in a Jewish
family. Hitler liked Frau Goebbels and, in the first years of his chan-
cellorship, went often to her musical parties. This was highly advan-
tageous to the political plans of the little doctor. For a time Frau
Goebbels was director of the Deutsche Moden-Amt, a sort of fashion
ministry supposed to create truly Aryan styles for German women ; but
it didn’t last long.

The little doctor—he is scarcely five feet five inches—entered a meet-
ing-hall in Munich in 1922; the speaker was Adolf Hitler. Goebbels
says that pure chance brought him there. Converted instantly to Naziism,
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he went to the Rhineland to organize party groups. Hitler soon came to
appreciate his quick tongue, his soaring words; next to the Leader he
became the most valuable orator in the movement. In 1926 Hitler sent
him to organize the party in Berlin, where it had made comparatively
little progress. Goebbels founded a newspaper, the Angriff, and inside
four years, by great feats of journalistic and organizational skill, he
was leader of a powerful machine: next to Munich Berlin became the
chief stronghold of the Hitlerites,

Goebbels’s violence in oratory and journalism exceeded that of anyone
in Germany. He was completely reckless and vindictive. At one time
there were one hundred and twenty-six libel suits pending agamst him.
Once, long ago, he printed a headline in the Angriff, IS HINDEN-
BURG STILL ALIVE? The President brought suit for libel and col-
lected eight hundred marks damages. Retaliating, Goebbels wrote that
Hindenburg was surrounded “by Jews and Marxists.” (Téime, August
13, 1934.)

At the end of 1939 Goebbels was still Reichsminister of Propaganda
and Public Enlightenment. As such he was undisputed ruler of the Press
in Germany and, something almost as important, ruler of the radio. He
likewise controlled the theater and the cinema, as well as most musical,
artistic, cultural, and even scientific activities; he made the Reich a
cultural prison, a Nazi vacuum, a country in a mental strait-jacket, for
eighty mullion Germans.

Goebbels is also stage manager to the Nazi party. He invented the
technique of the great mass meetings which helped so cardinally to bring
Hitler votes. His tactics were simple. “Propaganda has only one object,”
he wrote, “to conquer the masses. Every means that furthers this aim
is good; every means that hinders it is bad.” He planned the strategy
of incessant and unremitting attack. Thus the flaming decorations, the
loud-speakers, the careful “build-up” for Hitler’s appearance, the march-
ing, the uniforms.

Then, when Hitler was chancellor, he engineered the first incredible
mob displays which so vehemently aroused the Nazis. He suggested the
burning of the books; he organized the May Day and Harvest festi-
vals; he superintended the Winterhilfe relief campaign. His supreme
achievement was, however, the creation of the Horst Wessel legend. Out
of a procurer he made a hero.

The youthful bravo named Horst Wessel, son of a Lutheran pastor,
was one of the many rowdies who disfigured the Berlin streets before
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itler came to power. He became an SA troop commander, active in
rgely communist districts, and the communists hated him. Three hooli-
ans, moved by personal as well as political reasons, went up to hus room
nd shot him as he lay in bed. He refused to have a Jewish doctor who
ras summoned, and died of his wounds.

Goebbels saw in Horst Wessel's funeral a perfect opportunity for
ig-time propaganda. But the police (this was way back in 1930) re-
used to permit an expansive demonstration. So Goebbels had to think
f something else. Horst Wessel had written words to a street song,
ased on an old Bavarian tune, which was sung by Nazis and com-
nunists both. Goebbels decided to make capital of this song; and a good
ousing tune it indeed is. Before a month had passed, the song was the
mofficial Nazi hymn. Soon it was official. And Horst Wessel became,
and still is, the No. 1 Nazi martyr.

Outwardly relations between Goebbels and Goering are correct, but
they seldom miss the opportunity for surreptitious digs at one another.
Goering, as Prime Minister of Prussia, ruled the Staatsoper m Berlin.
So Goebbels, undaunted, organized another opera in Berlin as a rival
to Goering’s opera. Goebbels is very jealous of his prerogatives. Putzi
Hanfstaengl, late in 1933, was charged with the preparation of a film
depicting the life of Horst Wessel. Goebbels succeeded first in tem-
porarily banning the film, then in having its treatment altered and title
changed, even though it was able Naz: propaganda as it stood.

Some Goebbels obiter dicta:

“I know it is a sacrifice for us not to have a new war.”

“Our Brown Shirts saved France from Bolshevism, and even now
with its Stavisky scandal and Paris street riots, things are not in order
there.”

“Hitler’s attack on the democratic spirit is merely the opening act of
a development the end of which will be a National Socialist Europe.”

“War 1s the most simple affirmation of life. Suppress war, and it would
be like trying to suppress the processes of nature.”

“Germany marches with Hitler's Mem Kampf in one hand and the
ﬁvox;d in the other. Book and sword shall be the symbols of our national
ife.”

Control the Press of a nation and half the job of dictatorship is done.
Goebbels has given living strength to the authority of this maxim. As
supreme dictator of the printed word in the Third Reich, nothing may
be published in Germany without his consent. He is at liberty to censor
even the words of fellow cabinet ministers. In June, 1934, he prevented
fnll nublication of Papen’s Marburg speech; in August, 1935, he censored
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Dr. Schacht’s similar warning to extremists at Konigsberg ; in the same
month he forbade the broadcasting of Streicher’s Jew-baiting rally in
Berlin. No journalist may find employment in Germany till Dr. Goebbels
certifies his acceptability ; no newspaper may publish anything without
his consent. Incidental result: 1,400 German newspapers, about one-third
of the total number in the Reich, have perished since 1933.

Goebbels has kept his footing partly because Hitler needs him, partly
because of his supernal shrewdness. His nose is sharp, and his instinct
for self-preservation immense. Any time crisis brews, as on June 30,
Goebbels will be found on Hitler’s shadow. He flatters those who, he
thinks, are of use to him; he never says anything against those who at
the moment are powerful; and he never kicks a man until he is down.

Dr. Goebbels is the spiritual source of such a medley of violent non-
sense as the modern world has seldom seen. For instance listen to Pro-
fessor Herman Gauch, author of the Nazi tract, New Bases of Racial
Research:

“In non-Nordics, the teeth, corresponding to the snout-like narrow-
ness of the upper jaw, stand at a more oblique angle than in animals.
The grinding motion of chewing 1n Nordics allows mastication to take
place with the mouth closed, whereas men of other races are inclined to
make the same smacking noise as animals. . . .

“The Nordic mouth has further superiorities. Just as the color red
has a stirring effect, the bright red mouth of Nordics attracts and pro-
vokes kisses and courtship The Nordic mouth 1s kiss-capable. On the
other hand, the non-Nordic’s broad, thick-lipped mouth together with
his wide-dilated nostrils displays sensual eagerness, a false and malicious
sneering expression and a dipping movement indicative of voluptuous
self-indulgence.

“Talking with the aid of hands and feet is characteristic of non-
Nordics, whereas the Nordic man stands calmly, often enough with his
hands in his pockets.

“Generally speaking, the Nordic race alone can emit sounds of un-
troubled clearness, whereas among non-Nordics the pronunciation is
impure, the individual sounds are more confused and like the noises
made by animals, such as barking, smffing, snoring, squeaking.

“If non-Nordics are more closely allied to monkeys and apes than
to Nordics, why is 1t possible for them to mate with Nordics and not
with apes? The answer is this. It has not been proved that non-Nordics
cannot mate with apes.”

No detail is too smali for Dr. Goebbel’s men. For instance, this attack
on the alien lemon:

“Farewell lemon, we need thee not! Our German rhubarb will take
thy place fully and entirely. He is so unpretending that we overlooked
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and despised him, busy with infatuation for foreign things. In all our
shires we can have him in masses, the whole year round. We get him
almost for nothing; his tartness will season our salads and vegetable
dishes. Slightly sweetened he provides us with delicious refreshment,
and, what 1s more, he is a blood-purifying and medicinal agent true to
German type. Let us make good with German rhubarb the sins we have
committed with the alien lemon.”
(London Twumes, July 29, 1935.)

But it is unspeakable tragedy rather than racial or citric nonsense
that Goebbels, above all, stands for. He is the organizer of the worst
excesses of Nazi anti-Semitism.

When Austria fell to Germany, three hundred thousand Austrian
Jews fell to the Nazis. A series of drastic measures thereupon imple-
mented the Nuremberg laws. Jews were barred from being real estate
agents, traveling salesmen, or accountants; they were forbidden to enter
the stock exchange or visit their safety deposit vaults—if any—without
police escort. Landlords had to expel Jewish doctors, and in most cities
Jews could not live 1n apartments facing main streets. Jews were excluded
from state schools and universities, from park benches, from bathing
beaches, even from shops at certain hours. Jewish children in particular
suffered revolting tortures. One law obliged every Jew to adopt the
name Sarah or Israel, and Jews were restricted in future to a short list
of given names. This list, incidentally, did not include Mary. Nor did it
include Joseph or Paul—which are Dr. Goebbels’s own given names.

In November, 1938 came the shooting of the German diplomat vom
Rath by the Jewish boy Herschel Grynszpan. Again terrible outrages
against Jews occurred. The Jews were barred from all economic activity
in the Reich, and at the same time collectively fined one thousand mil-
lion marks. They were ordered to make good all the damage done by
the rioting Nazis, damage estimated at some 13,000,000 marks ; meantime
their insurance claims were canceled. In February, 1939 all Jews in
Germany were ordered to give up their jewelry and similar valuables.
Later—strange detail—they were forbidden to own carrier pigeons!

Goebbels is not a Jew, but his appearance is un-Aryan, to say the
least. His enemies in the party have often pointedly but in circumlocu-
tory fashion referred to the dangerous racial aspects of lame or deformed
men, those with club feet in particular. Goebbels’s reply was a minor
masterpiece. He found an anthropologist who invented a classification in
Aryan ethnology to apply to himself alone—Nachgedunkelter Schrump;-
germane. This is hard to translate. An approximate rendition : “A dwarf-
like German who grew dark.”
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We interpret treaties as we think right. We do not submit to
the judgment of others.
—ApoLF HITLER

The methods by which a people forces its way upward are of
no moment. Only the goal is important.
—DRr. GOEBBELS

The Perfect Bureaucrat—Frick

E‘,SS publicized than either, Dr. Wilhelm Frick is, after Goering and
Goebbels, the most powerful Nazi officeholder. He was appointed
minister of the interior for the Reich in Hitler’s first cabinet, and he
has held this office ever since. Thus he controls the civil admimstration
of Germany, and his influence is strong in the schools, the public services
and the police.

Born in the Palatinate in 1877, Frick studied law and became a
Beamter, an official. In 1917 he was head of the political section of the
Munich police. In this position he was able to do valuable service for
the Nazis, by protecting the party when it was small and insignificant,
and making things easy for Nazi law-breakers and hooligans. He was
assistant chief of police when Hitler made his 1923 revolt, and actively
connived with him as “inside” man. As a result he was charged with
high treason and convicted, but he never served his sentence.

Frick is an official, a bureaucrat, through and through. Hitler is not
intimate with him, but he respects him. He became minister of the
interior because he was the only important Nazi with civil service
training. Precise, obedient, uninspired, he turned out to be a faithful
executive; he has been called the “only honest Nazi.”

Yet no one should think that this dry, so-typical German Beamter is
not capable of great, exhilarating Nazi words and deeds. It was Frick
who drafted the Aryan law defining Jewishness unto the third genera-
tion. It was Frick, a cabinet minister in Thuringia, who enforced com-
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pulsory prayers on all schoolchildren: hate-prayers for the destruction
of the Treaty of Versailles. And 1n the Reichstag, as the senior Nazi
deputy, Frick once introduced a law for the castration of homosexuals
(cf. Heil, p. 69). This did not endear lum to Hemnes or Roehm. Frick
has always been on the side of the conservatives in the party, like
Goering.

A fierce intra-party battle for the control of cultural affairs has
been waged. Goebbels asserts that all art is propaganda and therefore
belongs <o him. Rosenberg holds that art is Weltanschauung and should
thus be in his province. Goering, as boss of Prussia, feels that art is
the prerogative of the executive authority, and therefore his. Rust,
minister of education, would like culture as part of his domain, but
being only a lion of the second magnitude, he is silent while the others
bark. And Frick, the while, holds on to all he can.

His seven precepts for the education of the young are vigorously
nationalist. And German school books—a profoundly important point
—are compact with an appallingly militant, aggressive, pan-German

propaganda.
Hess the Indispensable

Rudolf Hess, born in Alexandria, Egypt, in 1896, is the Fiihrer’s
personal deputy, the deputy-leader of the party, and Reichsminister
without portfolio. When Goering, after the murder of Schleicher, under-
went a temporary period of severe unpopularity with the Reichswehr,
Hess—had he been bold and assertive enough—might have taken his
position. But the talents of Hess lie otherwise. He is the private secre-
tary par excellence, the watchdog, the faithful servant. Hess, like so many
others, was converted to Hitlerism on first hearing the Leader speak;
like Goering and Ley, he was a flying officer during the war. He was
the first “gentleman” to join the Nazi party, and he became Hitler’s
personal secretary in 1923. For a time he had been secretary to the in-
fluential and mysterious Professor Haushofer, the geographer.

The strength of Hess lies in his closeness to Hitler. He has no gov-
ernment department, but, a cabinet minister himself, he acts as a co-
ordinator between the other ministries. Hitler has given him several
thankless jobs: for instance the onus of making the first public apologia
for the murders of June 30. It is very difficult to get to Hitler on any
political or party business except through Hess. His office is thronged
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with office-seekers and it has been nicely termed the Klagemauer (Wail-
ing Wall) of the Third Reich. When the Polish campaign began Hitler
said that Hess, after Goering, would be his successor.

Hess has recorded that in Alexandria he became a nationalist, during
the war a socialist, and in Munich after the war an anti-Semite. There-
fore his soul was ripe for Hitler’s seed. His anti-Semitism 1s rigorous
and extreme. During his Egyptian years, incidentally, he came very
much under Arab influence.

Hess is retiring in character, genuinely modest, and very popular.
At every Partestag in Nuremberg (annual Nazi congress) he receives
the biggest applause next to Hitler: far more from the Nazi rank-and-
file than Goering, Goebbels, Rosenberg, or Frick. His whole life is
devoted to Hitler. His only outside interest is faith-healing, and he has
founded a hospital in Dresden devoted to cures by means that scientific
medicine does not recognize.

Hitler appointed him to become the head of the political section of
the Nazi party in the fall of 1932, after the disgrace of Strasser. Previ-
ously, except in Hitler’s intimate circle, he had been little known. The
appomntment was sound politics. With his usual perspicacity, Hitler chose
as his deputy the one man in Germany who was not ambitious for a
better job. Yet Hess’s control of the party machine is an important
political factor.

Hess was named as the German official who collaborated with Trotsky
for the overthrow of the U.S.S.R. in the Moscow treason trial of Janu-
ary, 1937—strange as it may seem.

Boss of the Black Shirts

Heinrich Himmler wears pince-nez and looks like a schoolmaster.
He is one of the most sinister personalities in the new Germany. He is
two things: first, Reich commander of the SS (Black Shirts), second,
head of the entire German police, including the Gestapo, or secret
police. He is the Boss of Terror, despite his mild appearance.

Born in Munich in 1900, Himmler, like so many of his colleagues,
belonged to a nationalist gang of guerrilla fighters; like Bruckner,
Goering, Streicher, Hess and other prominent leaders, he took part in
the Putsch of 1923. In 1927 he became deputy leader of the SS, which
was being formed by Hitler as a counterweight to the SA of Roehm.
In 1929 he became supreme leader of the SS and in 1934 chief of the
political police.
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The SS, as we have seen, are the picked Nazi forces. Himmler him-
self has said, “The SA is the Line, the SS are the Guards.” Every SS
man must obey especially strict standards of discipline; he must be of
satisfactory height and appearance; he may not marry until he and his
bride are certified by Himmler’s Eugenics Bureau as irreproachably
Aryan and healthy potential parents.

This man, holding in his person the double job of policeman and SS
ruler, fulfills an important function. The Gestapo and SS between them
are invincible. The police arrest people. The SS guard them in concentra-
tion camps. Himmler is all-powerful at each end. He is policeman, judge,
guard, and—if necessary—executioner. Besides, he is a convenient
instrument for the civil side of the party, in that he can obey secret
orders and fulfill them, while the government officially disclaims “knowl-
edge” of what he does.

Himmler almost never makes speeches. Of all the Nazi luminaries,
he is the least known. The man “behind” him is said to be an even more
sinister character, by name Heydrich, an ex-naval officer.

Former Court Jester

The volcanic Dr. Ernst Franz Sedgwick Hanfstaengl, known every-
where as “Putzi,” is half American and he has an American wife. His
mother was a Massachusetts Sedgwick; his father owned a famous
Munich art firm. Putzi went to Harvard and then opened an art shop
in New York. Alexander Woollcott wrote a delightful sketch of him,
recalling those lost American days; such is the extremity of Hanf-
staengl’s Germanism that, reading it, he became enraged to the point
of literal incoherence, denouncing the article as an anti-German plot
designed to humiliate and shame him.

Hanfstaengl is a big, stooping figure with lank black hair falling
over a caved-in face. His conversation is hard to follow. It is abstracted
amusing, fanciful, forceful, and extraordinarily disjointed. I have hearc
him, in one sentence, variously refer to Hitler as “the Leader,” “the
Chancellor,” “Herr Hitler,” and “Adolf.” It was as if a person clos
to Roosevelt should say, “I must hurry away to tell Franklin that th
President must remember that F.D.R. is making a speech to-night.
Once he sued a London newspaper for a very considerable sum, be
cause it quoted him to the effect that if the British didn’t behave bette
toward Germany, he would send some of his Nazi swine across th
Channel and burn down Oxford. He denied having made the remarl
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He left Germany in 1937, apparently having fallen out with Hitler,
and became an exile in England.

Bodyguard

Lieut. Briickner, the chief bodyguard, officially known as Adjutant
to the Fuhrer, is, as befits his post, one of the huskiest men in Ger-
many. He is at least six feet four and a tremendous specimen of agile
muscularity. Bruckner is never far from Hitler. He sleeps just outside
Hitler’s room. He was born in Baden-Baden in 1884 and, like Himmler,
joined a corps of nationalist volunteers after the War. He and the
Leader, as we have noted, are inseparable; Bruckner was the man
at Hitler’s side when he arrested Roehm. He is in the SA, not SS, with
the rank of brigadier-general.

Nuremberg Jew-Fancier

Of all the leading Nazis, Julius Streicher is the most violent. This rapa-
cious anti-Semite, the Reichscommissar for Franconia, is a man of
fifty-four, beady-eyed, barrel-chested, shaven-headed, in appearance the
very incarnation of brutality. Not only in appearance. He has the
characteristics of a sadist. At one Parteitag in Nuremberg he was seen
beating back a crowd of cheering Nazis outside Hitler’s hotel, waiting
for a glimpse of their Leader, with a horse-whip. According to Heil,
in July, 1933, he ordered two hundred and fifty Jews who had been
arrested to pluck grass out of a field with their teeth.

Streicher organized the anti-Jewish boycott held in Berlin in April,
1933, just after the Nazis came to power. This was one great show that
Dr. Goebbels did not put on. It was not repeated. Streicher publishes
a weekly newspaper, Der Sturmer, solid with viciously revolting anti-
Semite propaganda. Once he issued a special “Ritual Murder” issue.
It caused such a storm of protest in the outside world—by the Arch-
bishop of Canterbury for instance—that it had to be suppressed in
Germany.

Streicher is quoted by Time (April 8, 1935) as follows:

“With my riding-whip, I sometimes give it to prisoners I have had
taken into protective custody to save them from the mob. Take that
school-teacher Dr. Steinruck who used to talk so big! I went with several
Party members into his cell He began to talk with a weeping voice and
acted like a schoolboy. He did not act like the man I had expected after
so much big talk, so I gave him a good thrashing with my whip.”
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On his fiftieth birthday the local authorities made him a picturesque
gift—the dossier in the archives of the Nuremberg police which “for-
merly might have been used against him as incriminating material.”
Streichet’s proudest boast is that he has cleared one Franconian district,
Hersbruck, comprising thirty-six villages and 22,000 inhabitants, en-
tirely of Jews. Not a single Jew remains. Everywhere in Franconia
the terror against the Jews proceeds with miserable ferocity.

His general culture is not too brilliant. When he came to Berlin in
August, 1935, to speak at the Sport-Palast meeting he said: “The great
Jew who lived in England, Benjamin Disraeli, became Premier. Later
he was elevated to the peerage under the name of Lord Gladstone.”

It is no use, as some sympathizers do, saying that Hitler personally
“deplores” Streicher’s blood-thirsty brutality. Hitler does not deplore
it. He has been given every opportunity to get rid of Streicher. He re-
fuses to do so. Streicher is one of his oldest supporters. Streicher joined
him in 1923, having first formed a rival “workers” party. Hitler has
commended him highly and in public. Only two Nazis are mentioned by
name in the whole of Mein Kampf: Hess and—Streicher. And when
Streicher turned fifty, Hitler especially flew to Nuremberg from Berlin
to pay him a surprise birthday visit.

Two Lesser Lights

Count Wolf von Helldorf, appointed police chief in Berlin during
the second wave of Nazi terror against the Jews, in July, 1935, has a
peculiar qualification for his post: he was himself sentenced to jail in
1931 for personally leading a violent anti-Semitic demonstration on the
same street, Kurfiirstendamm, where the new riots, which he was ap-
pointed to “clean up,” occurred.

Helldorf had violent habits as a Reichstag deputy. In one brawl he
seized a water jug on the speaker’s desk and smashed it over the head
of a colleague. He was also given to throwing ink-wells and “other con-
veniently small and heavy objects.” He was too rough even for Hitler,
and for a time he was “exiled” to Potsdam. Now he is chief of police in
the fourth largest city in the world.

Baldur von Schirach is the leader of the Youth Movement. He was
born in 1907, and is married to the daughter of Heinrich Hoffman, who
is Hitler’s personal photographer. He is fanatically devoted to Hitler,
given even to writing verses to him. He is interested in religion. Recently
he said, “The Nazi party has been proved to have better relations with
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the Lord of the Heavens than had the Christian parties which disap-
peared.” And note well: von Schirach, like several other Nazis who min-
gle religion with nationalism, has become a pagan.

Two Radicals

These, though their names are seldom heard outside Germany, are
among the most important Nazis. They are Dr. Robert Ley, supreme
boss of the trade unions and leader of the German labor front, and R.
Walter Darré, “Peasant Leader” and Reichsminister for agriculture.
Both are known as “radicals.”

Darré, born in Buenos Aires! in 1895, is something of a scholar. He
entered the inner ranks of Nazi nobility not by way of freebooting and
brawls in Munich but—very late from,the hierarchical point of view—
as an agrarian expert. He had been a civil servant in the ministry of
agriculture. He was hoisted into office after Hugenberg faded out.
Promptly he initiated an ambitious series of agricultural reforms, and
to him credit is due for almost all the “socialist” measures the Nazi
government has undertaken. Darré arranged a price-fixing scheme for
grain, and he inaugurated the Hereditary Farms Act, by which old-
established peasant holdings may not be sold or mortgaged, but must pass
in entail to descendants of the owners.

Darré was a little too quick for his superiors. And they frowned at
what they called his lack of modesty and tact when, a few months after
taking office, he caused a monument to be erected to hiumself at Wies-
baden, marked “Blood and Soil,” and himself made a speech at its
dedication. The party, however, has no cause to complain of his racial
zeal. Darré is the author of the celebrated scheme to divide all the
women of the Reich into eugenic classes, like cattle, for breeding
purposes.

Dr. Robert Ley, the leader of the trade unions, is, according to Heil,
a dipsomaniac. Once he received an American newspaperman and was
too drunk to speak. He went to Geneva, before Germany left the
League, to attend a meeting of the International Labor Office, and
before an audience partly composed of South Americans made a re-
markable speech denouncing inhabitants of several South American
republics as uncivilized “idiots.” Several times Dr. Ley has been in
police courts. Once he wrecked the interior decoration of a beer-hall
in Cologne ; once he assaulted the socialist leader, Otto Wels, cracking

1 Another chieftain—like Hess—not German by birth. Also Rosenberg.
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a bottle on his skull. Ley lives in a luxurious villa in Berlin that pre
viously belonged to a Rhimeland industrialist, Otto Wolf. One of hi
first official jobs on becoming director of the Labor Front was tc
order thirty-two Mercédés cars (the German equivalent of Rolls-Royce)
for his department. In 1934 control of the trade unions’ funds was
transferred to the jurisdiction of the party organization to get then
out of Ley’s hands.

He was a pilot during the war. He then became a chemist. He enterec
the party early. When Strasser was disgraced, in November, 1932, Ley
and Hess together succeeded to his posts. To Hitler he is unswervingly
loyal, and so the Leader keeps him.

Ley’s grandiloquence is notable. Listen: “We begin with the chilc
when he is three years old. As soon as he begins to think, he gets ¢
little flag put in his hand; then follows the school, the Hitler Jugend
the SA and military training. We don’t let im go; and when adoles-
cence is past, then comes the Arbeitsfront and takes him again anc
doesn’t let him go till he dies, whether he likes it or not.”

The Warriors

The immensity of German military strength, both material and spir-
itual, is no longer news to anybody. Rearmament was covert unti
October, 1933, when Germany left the League; an open secret unti
March, 1935, when Hitler tore up the mulitary clauses of Versailles
and introduced conscription ; since March, 1935, the Reich has been ar
enormous military camp, with no falseface about it.

As well as anything else, a httle joke best summarized the coven
period. Frau X asks her husband, a worker in a perambulator factory
to procure her a baby-carriage. He promises to filch the parts, piece
by piece, from the factory. Some months later they have all beer
stolen, and Herr X sets to work putting them together. He turns finally
to his wife in puzzled despair: “I have put the thing together thres
different times, and each time it turns out to be a machine-gun.”

This era is long past. For a time, it is true, the Germans labored undes
certain disadvantages. There was difficulty in the import of essentia
raw materials. The air force grew enormously, but even as late as 193;
there were severe shortages of heavy guns and tanks. On the other hand
marvelous technical proficiency plus a centralized direction of effor
produced extraordinary results. The navy expanded. The Reichswehs
was enlarged to a “peace” strength of 850,000 men. According tc
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Winston Churchill, the country by 1938 was spending the stupendous
sum of £800,000,000 annually on arms.

The minister of war until early 1938 was Col. General Werner Eduard
Fritz von Blomberg. Born in 1878 at Stargard in Pomerania, he came
of a distinguished officers’ family. He entered the army and for a long
time his promotion was very slow. He was second lieutenant in 1897, first
lieutenant in 1907, captain in 1911, and only colonel in 1925. This seems
to indicate that his war service was undistinguished After 1928 his rise
was extremely rapid. He was major-general in 1928, lieutenant-general
in 1929, full general in 1930, minister of defense in 1933, colonel-
general (the highest German rank except field-marshal) in 1934.

He was by no means a typical Prussian officer. Pleasant, cordial, calm,
rather soft in manner, he seemed the last remove from a martinet, a goose-
stepper. He spoke languages and has traveled widely; in 1930 he took
a vacation in the United States. The importance of Blomberg was that
he was deeply, passionately devoted to Hitler. He was a begeisterter
Nazi, quite different from those officers who, granting that Hitler is a
convenience, found much that was offensive in his fanaticism. Blom-
berg was an ardent, convinced, personal Hitlerite.2

He had known Hitler well only since 1933. His appointment as min-
ister of war came in odd fashion. There was some difficulty to find a
man, on account of the sharp clash between Schleicher and the Nazis.
One of Hitler’s best friends was, and is, Ludwig Miller,® then a mili-
tary chaplain in the division which Blomberg was commanding. He
recommended Blomberg to Hitler, and through this priestly interme-
diary Blomberg got the job. Then Muller, as reward, was made Reichs-
bishop of the Protestant Church in Germany!

Under Blomberg for a long time was General Werner Freiherr von
Fritsch, the chief of army direction (Chef der Heeresleitung), ie.,
commander-in-chief. Fritsch was a quite different type from Blomberg.
He was the complete army man. Nothing meant anything to him except
the army. He represented exclusively the army point of view. Blomberg,
it was said in Germany in the old days, was “Hitler-loyal”; Fritsch was

2 For Blomberg’s sudden dismissal from the ministry of war, see Chapter VIII
below.

3 One of Miiller’s feats was production of a new Nazi version of the Sermon on
the Mount. In the King James Bible, for instance, Matthew 5:9 reads as follows:
“Blessed are the peace-makers; for they shall be called the children of God”
The Nazi “translation” is: “Happy are they who keep the peace with their fellow-
nationals (italics mine) ; they do God’s will.”
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“Fatherland-loyal.” Fritsch did not want the Reichswehr to be increased
to as many as eight hundred and fifty thousand men. He thought this
was too much. He was a firm believer in the Seeckt principle: of an army
like a flail, a sword; an army not too big, but perfectly tempered, per-
fectly tramed, superlatively supple, swift, sure.

When Blomberg went, Fritsch went too—though for a different rea-
son. For a time he lived in strict retirement, nursing his grievances.
He was such a valuable officer, however, that he was rehabilitated in
August, 1938, and given a small command. But other generals had taken
control of the army as a whole, like the redoubtable Ludwig Beck (who,
however, subsequently followed Fritsch into retirement). In the fighting
before Warsaw Fritsch was mysteriously killed. His friends say that
he was so heartsick that he wanted death. But rumors have not been
lacking to the effect that Nazis murdered him.

Hitler reorganized the army command with himself as supreme leader.
There is no minister of war. He is like the Kaiser, the all-high chief.
Then comes Colonel General von Keitel, a kind of administrative officer
in charge of liaison to the three heads of the fighting services, Marshal
Goering for air, Admiral Raeder for the navy, and Colonel General
Heinrich Walther von Brauchitsch for the army. Brauchitsch was born
in 1889, the son of a general. He served on the General Staff in the great
war, and has had a routine career. He has never played an important
political réle, as have so many German generals.

Hitler and the Reichswehr

Is Hitler dependent on the Reichswehr for support? Yes. But is not
the Reichswehr loyal to Hitler? Again yes. Indeed, the question that is
so often asked is rather pointless, viz., which, as between Hitler and the
Reichswehr, is really boss in Germany. The fact is that both rule Ger-
many. And so long as their aims are identical little chance of conflict
between them exists.

The Reichswehr is a necessity to Hitler, but also Hitler is a neces-
sity to the Reichswehr. Each needs the other. They are complements.
The Reichswehr wants a strong, united Germany and Hitler is incom-
parably the strongest man in the country. The alternative to him is
either an overt military dictatorship or chaos. The Reichswehr has no
need of an overt military dictatorship, which would be unpopular, as
long as Hitler does his job. And it certainly does not want chaos.

Moreover, one should not forget the oath that every officer and
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soldier in the army swore to Hitler personally. Prussian officers and
soldiers do not break their word of honor lightly. On the other hand,
should the Reichswehr betray Hitler, he is doomed.

Do not, finally, forget that the Reichswehr, from the very beginning,
supported Hitler. Reichswehr money made the first party organization
and the early Vélkische Beobachter possible. And Hitler began “public”
life as a Reichswehr spy.



Chapter VI
War, Peace, Policy, and Cash

¥ A SESS AR AR T

The Germans do not want o war; all they want are the re-
wards of victory.
—JuLes CaMBON

N MARCH 7, 1936, with flamboyant suddenness, Hitler sent his

troops into the Rhineland, provoking what was in a sense the
greatest European crisis since 1919. By terms of the peace treaties the
Rhineland zone was to have been demuilitarized in perpetuity. Germans
—uwith much justice—resented bitterly the “inequality” thus symbolized
between themselves and the other powers. But Hitler not only invaded
the Rhineland; by so doing he automatically tore up the Treaty of
Locarno, which had been a bastion of European peace since 1925,
through its guaranty by Britain and Italy of both sides of the Franco-
Belgian-German frontier. Inviolability of the Rhineland zone was part
of the Locarno Treaty. And Hitler’s destruction of this treaty split
Europe open like a rotten melon.

Some of the French wanted to march; and didn’t quite have the
nerve. Most of the British wanted to temporize—and did. The Italians,
annoyed by sanctions in the Abyssinian crisis, refused to join Britain,
France, and Belgium in a united Locarno “front.” As was inevitable,
Italy and Germany—Ilong separated by their quarrel over Austria—tended
to come together. The Belgians, led by a man who quickly gained
great respect throughout Europe, Paul Van Zeeland,' were especially
exasperated by the crisis. Not only was Belgium virtually defenseless,
as in 1914, against the enormous might of Germany, but Hitler had
defended the Rhineland coup on the pretext that the Franco-Soviet
pact of mutual assistance, which was about to be ratified in Paris, was
itself a violation of the Treaty of Locarno. But Belgium was as much
endangered by the new situation as was France, and with the Franco-
Soviet pact Belgium had nothing whatever to do.

A great concourse of statesmen met in London to patch up the mat-

1 For Belgium see Chapter XXXV below.
82
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ter. They were confronted, of course, with the ancient and honorable
problem of how to lock the stable door after the horse had fled. For ten
days they wrangled to find a formula for settlement. British opinion,
at first sharply pro-German, veered to realization of the future disasters
implicit in Hitler’s treaty-breaking. In the end Herr von Ribbentrop,
then the German ambassador-at-large, accepted an academic rebuke by
the League Council 1n return for consideration of a “peace” plan which
the Leader had announced. Hitler, that incredible creature, meantime
publicly told the world what he really was—a somnambulist —and
received a 98.81 per cent vote of confidence from the German people.

The Peace Plan proposed (a) a twenty-five years’ non-aggression
pact between Germany, France, and Belgium, (b) a western air pact,
(c) “moral” disarmament, (d) an eastern security pact including Lith-
uania, but excluding Soviet Russia, (e) return to the League by Ger-
many if these and other conditions were fulfilled, (f) abolition of
heavy tanks and heavy artillery. There was also an amazing incidental
Hitlerism—a suggestion that not only Germany but France should hold
a plebiscite on these issues. Also included was a reference to colonial
equality within a reasonable time.

Careful scrutiny of the Plan showed at once that its face value
might be high, its inner value dubious. Non-aggression pacts—there
have been some two hundred in the post-war years—have not proved
effective. Mutual assistance pacts Hitler eschewed—because they might
be effective. The pacts he proposed, 1t seemed, would have two effects:
to allow him to take on enemies one by one, and to freeze the western
frontiers so that his hands would be free for the East. Hitler’s enmity
to the Soviet Union—at that time—seemed subcutaneous and inefface-
able. Suggestions for “moral disarmament,” including suppression of
publications and educational books making for bad feeling between
France and Germany, came strangely to say the least from the country
where the Sturmer is published and where implacably nationalist mili-
tarism is hammered daily into the young. A western air pact on a
quantitative basis was, most experts considered, a technical impossibility,
and Hitler’s proposal for it a mere gesture. As to tanks and heavy
artillery, these were precisely the weapons in which Germany was
weakest ; therefore let them be abolished! Above and beyond all this
was the question of Hitler’s good faith. What, in effect, he was
doing was to promise not to violate any more treaties immediately after
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flagrantly tearing one up—and at the same time denying that he had
done so.

A tedious and nerve-wracking period of diplomatic jockeying and
bargaining ensued. Hitler’s victory was complete in that he got what
he wanted, the militarization of the Rhineland. But an emphatic White
Paper of the Locarno powers told him, to his annoyance, that Britain
and France were provisionally bound by what amounted to a defensive
military alliance against German aggression, and talks between the
General Staffs of the two countries began. Mr. Eden then sent a ques-
tionnaire to Berlin, and a pretty document it was., As a mamfest of
Hitler’s good faith it asked—politely but very firmly—if he were
prepared to include Soviet Russia in his eastern pact, and what as-
surances he could give of the sanctity of future treaties. The question-
naire put Hitler in a tight spot, and he never answered it.

Meantime the thoughtful sought to digest a sentence from his March
14 speech: “I do not believe that there can be peace among the nations
until they all have the same law and system of law. That is why I hope
that National Socialism will one day extend over the world. That is
no fantastic dream, but an achievable object.”

Rome-Berlin Axis and Anti-Comintern Pact

In September 1936 the British tentatively suggested conversations
toward a new Locarno; the German answer was indecisive. Again in
January, 1937, Mr. Eden sought to open negotiation ; again the Germans
quibbled and delayed. Two events of major importance meantime oc-
curred, serving to push Hitler to different tangents. Both gave the
democracies of the world cause for legitimate alarm.

1. On November 25, 1936, Germany and Japan announced suddenly
the conclusion of what was soon known as the Anti-Comintern Pact.
The agreement, directed “against the communist international,” was
to last five years; it bound Germany and Japan to consultation and
collaboration and established a permanent committee, “both investigative
and defensive,” against the Comintern; Ambassador Ribbentrop who
signed it on behalf of Germany called it “an epoch-making event, a
turning point in the defensive struggle of all nations loving order and
civilization.” The pact was, of course, short-lived, though we did not
know this then. The Russo-German agreement in the summer of 1939
killed it deader than Cheops.

2. Something that came to be called the “Rome-Berlin axis” evolved.
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This was not a formal treaty between Hitler and Mussolini, but a
gradual approximation of their policies. Germany and Italy commenced
a period of very close cooperation; they intervened in Spain together
and they recognized the Franco “government” in identical notes sent
the same day. Goering, Blomberg, Neurath, visited Rome; Mussolini
presently went to Germany, and Hitler later repaid his visit.

Soon the axis became a triangle, when Italy joined the Anti-
Comintern pact as an original signatory. But for further developments
in this direction we must await Chapter VIIL

Before the Deluge

It was said in pre-1939 days, on the basis of several arguments, that
war was impossible for Hitler. Let us explore in retrospect.

First, it was said that Germany was too poor to make a war. But
poverty has never prevented conflict. It may make the war hard to
carry on, but a desperate country, already poverty-stricken, has less
to lose by war than the rich countries which oppose it.

Second, it was argued that Germany didn’t have raw materials
enough to make a war. The answer to this is she probably had as good
an equipment of war materials in 1939 as in 1914 when, despite blockade,
she managed to fight a very good war for four long years.

Third, it was said that opposition to Hitler within the Reich was
too strong; that the workers would not mobilize; that they would
shoot in the wrong direction. But the lesson of the totalitarian state
is that each year it stays in power the strength of opposition lessens.
Look at Soviet Russia. And look at Mussolini’s success in Abyssinia.
“Good propaganda,” Frances Gunther expressed it, “can make any-
thing popular—even death.”

On the other hand, Germany’s will to war was shown by an impressive
list of factors. For one thing, the creation of the new German army and
air force. For another, the fact that essential German ambitions to ex-
pand in the East or in Central Europe could only be achieved by war.
Underground aggression in Austria, threats against Lithuania, agita-
tion and intrigue among Germans everywhere—in Switzerland, Holland,
Czechoslovakia, Jugoslavia, Scandinavia, the Baltic States—indicated
the latent explosive force of the Nazi revolution. All the frontiers of
Germany tingled from the aggressive strain inside.

Again, Naziism, essentially a militarist creed, produced in Germany
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a renascence of incorrigibly belligerent Wotanism that was apt to burst
outward whether Hitler so desired or not. This factor was intensified
by the possibility of economic breakdown. The lesson of the Abyssinian
war seems to have been that dictatorshuips, 1f they are in danger of
breaking down, break out. Thus the steady German advance against
Austria, the Sudetenland, and Poland.

Post-war Germany is one of the Have-Nots, since Germany lost the
war. But her policy was not only to regain what she lost, which would
have been fair enough, but much more. It is a paramount item in the
Nazi creed that all contiguous Teutons should be incorporated into the
Third Reich. This meant Austria, and then the Germans of Czecho-
slovakia, Poland, Denmark, Holland, and perhaps—eventually—the
Italian Tyrol. For Naziism stands for renascent pan-Germanism or
nothing.

Germany’s will to expand is to be explained not so much by increase
in the birthrate, but by “moral” factors: Germany’s right to a place in
the sun, Germany’s bursting energy demanding outlet. The birthrate is
not, in long perspective, increasing, but actually decreasing; according
to present estimates the population of Germany (within 1938 fron-
tiers) will be only about 49,000,000 in 1975. As to the necessity of
expansion, it is illuminating to recall that in 1914 the total population
of Germans in the German colonies was only about 25,000, which
was fewer than the number of German residents in, of all places,
Paris.

Hitler, confronted by a hostile world, had to survey his objectives with
great caution. One should remember that Germany had gone a long way
toward redressing the injustices of Versailles before he came to power.
Foreign military control was abolished early in the Weimar republic.
The Rhineland was evacuated of foreign garrisons under Stresemann.
Reparations disappeared under Briining and Papen. And the Allies
accepted Germany’s theoretical right to military equality under Papen-
Schleicher.

Hitler continued the process, by introducing conscription, reacquir-
ing the Saar, occupying the Rhineland with troops, and denouncing
the war-guilt clauses of the Versailles treaty. Concurrently, he left
the League of Nations and gave up German claims on the Polish Cor-
ridor for ten years (because it was temporarily essential for him,
hemmed in, to come to terms with Poland). His progress cost him a
good deal. He was, for a time, about as popular internationally as small-
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pox. He alienated Mussolini, who might have been his friend; he
frightened and annoyed Denmark, Holland, Switzerland; he united
France, “because the French Right hates Germany, the Left hates
Hitler” ; he temporarily knit the Soviet Union, the Little Entente, and
France into an alliance against him. He thought to counterbalance all this
by gaining British friendship. His whole plan was that England should
cover the German rear. But his plan—failed.
Hitler himself has said:

“It must be understood that in general the will of the German nation
should no longer be limited to mere passive defense, but, on the con-
trary, should be steeled for a final, active settlement with France in a
death grapple for the realization of German aims.

“In the annillation of France, Germany sees merely the means for
our nation to obtain full development in another direction. Our foreign
policy will only have been correct when there are two hundred and fifty
million Germans, not crowded like coolies in a factory, but free peasants
and workers.

“Almighty God, bless our weapons! Judge if we have merited free-
dom. Lord, bless our combat !”2

The dilemma for the rest of the world was obvious, and like all obvious
dilemmas perplexing in the extreme—to allow Germany to become
strong but not too strong. Germany should, manifestly, have been
allowed recovery of her self-respect. But Germany grew so strong that
promptly it demanded a new war as price for former defeat. The
situation was maddening. Germany had been “unjustly” treated.
Granted. The Germans had a perfectly good case, in that the Allies
foisted on the world the myth of exclusive war-guilt, invaded the
Ruhr, and themselves refused to disarm in accordance with the terms
of the treaty which they imposed on Germany. Granted. But it is
interesting to note that Germany was just as militaristic in 1914 when
it could not complain of “unjust” treatment.

The analogies between the international situation in the summer of
1914 and, say, the auturnn of 1934 were, indeed, astounding. A homo-
sexual camarilla surrounded Wilhelm IT as it did Hitler. Wilhelm II
talked of “shining armor”; Hitler talked of “race renascent.” Wilhelm
IT challenged Britain with a fleet; Goering challenged Britain with an
air force. Lord Haldane went to Berlin in 1912 on a mission precisely

2These passages are expurgated from the foreign editions of Mein Kampf. It
may be argued that Hitler wrote them, in hot blood, ten years ago. But he has
steadily refused to repudiate them.
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analogous to that of Sir John Simon in 1935. For Agadir, read Doll-
fuss; for Sarajevo, read—lots of things!

How difficult it is for a nation, like an individual, to keep from being
itself!

Foreign Minister Von Ribbentrop

I think we all have had a drop

Too much of Herr von Ribbentrop;

The name by which he’d better go

Is Herr von Ribben Trop de trop ...
—MAURICE BARING.

In the early 30’s Herr von Ribbentrop, the German foreign minister
and in 1939 the man, who, on the whole, has more influence on the
Fithrer than any living person, was virtually unknown. By 1938 he
was certainly one of the most conspicuous public men in Europe and
many lovers of peace thought that he was probably the most dangerous
man alive. This was because he persistently told Hitler that Great
Britain would not, under any circumstances, fight. Hitler trusted him—
and on this basis pursued his adventures, confident that the British
were only bluffing. And Ribbentrop was wrong.

Ribbentrop’s first great coup in foreign policy was the Anglo-
German naval treaty of 1935, which led him to believe that the British
would always be easy to handle. This treaty was important for a variety
of reasons: (1) It legalized German naval rearmament and permitted
Germany to build a fleet one-third as great as the British fleet, which
meant virtual naval parity between Germany and France. (2) It came
directly after the declaration of an alleged “united front” between
Britain, France, and Italy at Stresa and helped to shatter it. (3)
Britain, condemning Germany with one hand for creating an illegal
army, with the other immediately gave permission for her to build a
legal fleet—indication, the Germans said, that Britain was at long last
on their side.

Joachim von Ribbentrop was born in 1893 in the Rhineland, the
son of a colonel. He had an excellent education, partly in England,
partly in Switzerland; he speaks French and English almost faultlessly.
(This, incidentally, was something Hitler admired and it helped bring
him close to Hitler; most of the men around the Leader are monolin-
gual.) Young Ribbentrop emigrated to Canada at eighteen. He had
decided to make his own way in the new world. For a time he worked,
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so the story goes, as a manual laborer in steel construction; for a time
it seems he was a clerk in a Montreal bank.

The war came; Ribbentrop fled to avoid internment; on a Dutch boat
returning to Europe he hid in the coal bunkers to escape arrest; he
reached Germany and joined the army. He was an officer on the eastern
front and later on the staff of the war ministry. After the war he served
in a minor capacity on the German delegation to Paris, and then, de-
serting public affairs, he went into the wine business. In 1920 he married
Anna Henkel, the heiress of Germany’s biggest champagne manufac-
turer. His “von” came, curiously enough, through adoption ; some years
after his marriage he was adopted by a titled aunt, Fraulein von Ribben-
trop of another branch of the family, who had no heirs.

His political importance began about 1930. Though not a Nazi at first,
he was an ardent nationalist ; he met Hitler and the Fuhrer liked him.
And this wealthy and polished young man, widely traveled and with
such a knowledge of the world, might be useful. He was. It was Rib-
bentrop, indeed, who helped engineer the meeting between Hitler and
Von Papen in the Cologne home of the banker Schroeder in January,
1933, which, as we have seen, made Hitler’s chancellorship possible.
Hitler, grateful, began to be attached to Ribbentrop.

In 1934 he began to use him on confidential diplomatic errands and to
sound out opinion in other countries. Gradually the “Buro-Ribbentrop”
came into being, a sort of shadow foreign office behind—or in front
of—the official foreign office of Von Neurath. Ribbentrop became first
special commissioner for disarmament questions, then ambassador-at-
large. In 1936 he became ambassador to London, where he had a diffi-
cult and trying time. He had to explain the extremities of German
behavior to the British, and perhaps through misguided zeal he com-
mitted curious blunders—for instance giving the Nazi salute to King
George VI. His too-forthright raising of the colonial issue was rebuffed,
and though he was ardently taken up in pro-German circles, his mission
as a whole failed. Nevertheless, on the theory that he “understood”
the mysterious British, Hitler promoted him to be foreign minister.

Ribbentrop has four children. For relaxation he plays the violin. In
general, his personality is amiable.

. . . . . . .

There should also be a word about Ribbentrop’s predecessor as for-
eign minister, Baron Constantine von Neurath, who is now president
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of Hitler’s state council. When Hitler became chancellor, President
Hindenburg insisted that Neurath remain in the foreign ministry as a
safeguard agamnst Nazi extremism. Hitler learned to like him and
respect his judgment. And he, apparently, learned to like Hitler.
Curiously enough, he had also, like Ribbentrop, once been German
ambassador to London. Hitler cannot get over bemg fascinated by
people who presumably “know” the mysterious British.

Neurath was born in 1873 of a noble family in Wurttemberg. He
studied law, then entered the diplomatic service, and experienced the
normal promotions of a professional diplomatist. Always an arch-
conservative—and spiritually at one with the Nazis even when he was
not a Nazi—he made no pretense of deeply admiring the German
republic when he served it at the Court of St. James. It was Neurath,
in a congress at Stuttgart in September, 1937, who formulated a pan-
German program for Germans living outside the Reich. He denied
the right of foreign governments to interfere with Nazi organizations
abroad.

The Incredible Von Papen

The influence of Franz von Papen, “the breakfast chancellor,”® who
is Hatletr’s ambassador to Turkey, is still considerable. For a time he
was in sharp eclipse. No wonder. His fundamental policy, the concep-
tion that he and the nationalists could control Hitler and keep him in
order, had been a terrible error. His two closest associates, Jung and
Von Bose, were murdered in his own office. Glad to be rid of him (and
Papen himself must have felt a certain relief to get outside of Ger-
many!), Hitler dispatched him to Austria after the Dollfuss murder in
July, 1934. He came “back” by negotiating the new Austro-German
agreement of July, 1936.

Edgar Jung was a Munich lawyer, and Papen’s dependence on him
was extreme. Papen seldom had ideas of his own. Jung wrote most of
his speeches, including the celebrated Marburg speech. This not only
warned the Nazis to avoid extremism; it said that “those who threaten
with the guillotine are the first to fall under the ax”; naturally the Nazis
were annoyed—and two weeks later Jung was dead.

What is one to say about a man who can see his two best friends
murdered and then accept new office under the government responsible?

8 So called because of his “diplomatic breakfasts,” during which he did most of
his business.
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Papen’s Marburg speech was not his only blunder in technique. Only
a person of extreme lack of perception could have appomted Goering
as his first assistant, as Papen did, and expect Goering—of all men !—to
be a muilksop.

Papen has, it is well known, a great reputation for poise, for grace,
for suavity. But suavity in Papen reached a degree where it was a kind
of blind incompetence, a self-assurance so monstrous that all reason, all
caution, were obliterated. It was the suavity of a man who sentences
his best friend to death and excuses himself later by pleading good in-
tentions.

Papen was born in 1879 in Werl in Westphalia. He was a lieutenant
in a cavalry regiment. He married the wealthy daughter of Boch-Galhau,
owner of a Saarland ceramics firm, and was transferred to a better
regiment. In 1913 he went to Washington as military attaché. Promptly,
as his job demanded, he engaged in espionage; but the job did not de-
mand the terribly suave carelessness, the persistent “charming” blunder-
ing, that distinguished him. In December, 1915, before the United States
entered the war, he and his colleague, Captain Boy-Ed, were expelled
from the United States on the ground of their “improper activities.”

It was bad enough for Papen to be caught. But he let everyone else
be caught. Captain von Rintelen, the well-known German agent, describes
vividly, in a book called The Dark Invader, his horror at Papen’s careless-
ness. The American secret service found in the desk of one of his secre-
taries the key to the German code. Thus the Americans were able to
read German foreign office messages, for instance the one from Zim-
merman suggesting an alliance between Germany and Mexico.

Papen had sailed for Germany. The ship was searched by the British
authorities at Falmouth and his papers were seized—he thought a laissez-
passer rendered him immune to search! The young German military
attaché had most meticulously retained his checkbooks. In neat black
ink, on stub after stub—one hundred and twenty-six in all—were found
the names of German secret agents in America. Papen was pay-out man.
The checks linked him to dynamiters and saboteurs,

No man has ever been caught so comprehensively, so drastically.
Papen had recorded and preserved—the most precise details of his
transactions. He kept not only the check stubs but the canceled checks
themselves, so that all the endorsements were available for scrutiny
and investigation. In addition, dozens of his semi-official letters were
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found, carefully filed and assorted in his baggage. One is aghast at the
effrontery of a man who could tempt fate so.

Once bitten, twice shy. For ordinary mortals this adage may hold true,
but not for Junker officers of the imperturbable suavity and self-confi-
dence of Franz von Papen. On arriving in Berlin he was assigned to
service as a liaison officer to the Turkish Army. The British captured
Jerusalem. Captain von Papen fled—leaving his trunks behind! Here
was discovered another treasury of documents, including more papers
incriminating agents in America, which Papen still had not destroyed.

One great service to Germany, from the nationalist point of view,
Papen performed; in basic importance it may outrank his preparation
of the way for Hitler. Early in his chancellorship the German Steel
Trust (Vereinigte Stahlwerke A.G.), the agglutination of heavy indus-
try that is one of the most powerful industrial forces in the world, suf-
fered a severe financial crisis. Friedrich Frick, the owner of the largest
block of stock, dumped them on the market. It seemed at first that French
steel interests might acquire them. This was intolerable to the industrial
patriotism of the Germans. The Papen government stepped in and took
over Frick’s shares; the German government became—and still is—the
largest shareholder in the greatest industrial concern in Germany.

An incidental point: the State Department in Washington quashed
its criminal indictment of Papen on March 5, 1932—when he was still
an obscure figure—just two months before he became German chan-
cellor.

Philosopher Rosenberg

From the point of view of underlying and eventual realities in foreign
affairs, Alfred Rosenberg, “the philosopher with the sour stomach,”
was for a time almost as important as Neurath, Ribbentrop, or Papen.
Rosenberg is the Nazi specialist in foreign policy. He is one of Hitler’s
closest and most intimate associates; he is editor of Hitler’s newspaper,
the Volkischer Beobachter ; he heads the foreign political bureau of the
Nazi party, and is “director of philosophical outlook™ for the Reich.

Rosenberg is probably the most disliked man in Germany, next to Dr.
Goebbels. His personality is unpleasant. Like Hitler, he is a bachelor and
“a moral athlete.” The Leader got probably fifty per cent of his ideology
from him, so that it is important to see exactly what he stands for. He

4 The full title is imposing: Beauftragter des Fithrers Zur Uberwachung der
nationalsoziahstischen Bewegung.
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was born on January 12, 1893, in Reval, which was then in Russia and
which is now capital of the border-state Estoma. He is thus a Balt.
Rosenberg’s whole philosophy, ideology, and career are based on a psy-
chopathically intense hatred of the Soviet Union. He studied architecture
(as Hitler wanted to) and for a time was an instructor in draftsman-
ship; he went to school first in Riga, then in Moscow. The revolution
intervened and a period of mystery followed.

He arrived in Munich in 1919 where so many riffraff of the wars
assembled. He was at that time more Russian than German; he seemed
to be just another White Russian refugee. He met Dietrich Eckart, the
first “poet” of the Nazi movement, and then Hitler. Promptly he in-
toxicated Hitler’s imagination by his dream of a German empire in the
East, and became the chief prophet of German expansionism and im-
perialism.

Rosenberg is the nightmare dreamer of Naziism. When he attempts
to put his dreams into practice, he is a failure. His only adventure into
practical politics occurred in May, 1933, when he took it upon himself
to make a good-will visit to England. One of his first acts was to lay a
Swastika flag on the Cenotaph! The British, sensitive about such things,
roared in indignation; Rosenberg scurried back to Berlin, and has not
been outside Germany since.

Rosenberg’s major opus is an enormous book, Der Mythus des Zwan-~
zigsten Jahrhunderts (Myth of the Twentieth Century). It is a torpid,
florid, gusty, grandiloquent discourse on race, politics, and Germanism.

Goering’s dislike of Rosenberg is notorious. At a party meeting in
Hamburg in 1925, he said to Gregor Strasser: “Let that damned Rosen-
berg tell us what he did do in Paris during the war.” In 1935 Rosen-
berg decided to erect a monument to the four thousand Saxons slain by
Charlemagne. For each Saxon he wanted to provide a granite block of
a peculiar sort, very old and pure geologically, found only in North
Prussia.’ Goering heard of the plan and promptly ordered that no stone
of this kind might be quarried.

Rosenberg’s strength is, like that of so many Nazis, his undeviating
single-mindedness, his obsessive devotion to an idée fixe. With Goering,
it is the air force; with Streicher, the Jews; with Rosenberg, anti-
Sovietism Since the twin pacts between Germany and Russia in 1939,
Rosenberg has had, of course, to keep quiet on this issue.

5 The Aryan principle applied to petrology!
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Unpopular as he is—except with Hitler—Rosenberg’s influence is
considerable. He 1s a party force of almost first magmtude. It was, for
instance, his private bodyguard of SA, mostly composed of White Rus-
sian guardists, which Hitler chose for the delicate honor of standing
guard on the dying Hindenburg. His strength is founded on Hitler’s
great affection for him and the Leader’s dependence on his “ideas.”

Cash and Credit

“Germany is Hitler, and Haitler is Dr. Schacht.”
—BERLIN SAVING

Superficially it seemed that by the end of 1938 the Nazi régime had
produced a considerable degree of economic recovery. This was caused
mostly by the spur to industry of war preparations. Unemployment
had practically disappeared, and the volume of industrial production
was back almost to the 1929-30 level. But this not very substantial boom
was only achieved at frightful cost. The economic fabric of the country
stretched and sagged.

In 1929 German exports amounted to approximately I3,000,000,000
Reichsmarks. By 1933 they had fallen to a value of scarcely 5,000,000,-
000 Reichsmarks, and in 1934 to only 4,187,000,000. Germany had a
passive trade balance for the first time in years in 1934, when it amounted
to 400,000,000 marks. German industry, normally, lives by its foreign
trade. Its foreign trade began to disappear on account of the high gold
value of the Reichsmark, the increase of import restrictions abroad,
and the international boycott.

Yet Germany had to continue to pay for imports. It needed imports
of raw material desperately. It needed silk, rubber, nickel, manganese,
chromium, tungsten, raw textiles, tin, copper, gasoline. Using every
available facility of cash and credit, Germany bought immense stores of
these goods. Purchases of such commodities as Swedish iron ore by the
German Steel Trust mounted year by year. German imports of raw
nickel—an essential war material—tripled between 1932 and 1935. And
every effort was made to produce agricultural self-sufficiency, so that the
Reich could feed itself despite blockade.

The search for Ersatz (substitute) materials was unceasing. Sugat
from sawdust; flour from potato meal; gasoline from wood and coal;
clothes from chemical fiber ; tires out of “reclaimed” rubber ; margatine
from coal—these were some of the substitutes inflicted on hapless but
patriotic Germans.
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Wages were mercilessly deflated by means of forced payments to
relief, the labor front, the air defense league, and so on. A bank clerk’s
salary, for instance, became 241.90 RM per month instead of 290.25
RM, purely as a result of “voluntary” contributions. H. R. Knicker-
bocker found that a skilled workman, such as an expert joiner, earning
39 RM per week, very high for Germany, had to pay out no less than
10.95 RM in taxes.

Even so, where did Dr. Schacht get all the money from? He had the
quadruple job of paying for imports, financing public work projects to
relieve unemployment, meeting the cost of rearmament, and maintaining
the ordinary budget of the government. His gold reserve dwindled al-
most to nothing; in 1939 the cover was 1.59 per cent. He defaulted on
his foreign debt. He seemingly sucked the last cent out of the German
taxpayer. Yet he needed money, money, money. The cost of the arms
program was estimated abroad at $4,000,000,000 per year. How meet
such staggering bills?

It seemed, roughly speaking, that Schacht adopted two general
courses. Internally, he juggled by financing the current business of the
government with internal loans from banks, insurance companies, and
the like, which were bled almost empty. They were practically forced
loans. He gave in return government IOU’s worth no more—and no
less—than the government’s promise to pay. These forced loans—to-
gether with minor items such as conversion at lower interest rates of
former public loans—amounted, of course, to nothing less than the
compulsory mobilization of the wealth of the German people. What
were the German people promised in return for their savings? Pros-
perity and peace. Yet the money went to finance a colossal war machine.

Externally Dr. Schacht performed even greater feats of financial jug-
glery. He seems to have been the first money man of the period to have
seized on the idea that the position of a big debtor was better than that
of creditor. He made immense capital out of the fact that Germany owed
money. Schacht, beyond any doubt, is one of the ablest financial experts
alive. He really understands money. What he did may have been un-
scrupulous, but it was brilliant. He made Germany “the most successful
fraudulent bankrupt in the history of the world.”

This happened because he contrived to pay for imports by getting his
creditors to foot the bill. German firms owe money, of course, to Eng-
land, France, Scandinavia, the United States. Exporters in these coun-
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tries do business with Germany. Dr. Schacht said to them in effect:
“Buy from us, and then we can pay our debts. If you don’t buy, we can-
not pay.” He promulgated partial moratorium after moratorium; and at
the same time threatened to cease payment entirely unless he got more
business. He was saying: “Buy from me, or you will get nothing at all,
since I cannot finance my debts unless you lend rae more.”

There are always people willing to throw good money after bad,
and the situation became that Germany was in reality expanding its
armament industry by new borrowings. The potential enemies of Ger-
many in the next war, France, the small succession states, Great Britain,
and even Soviet Russia, were financing the effort that Germany was
making to destroy them. The process reached its most extreme phase
when, in December, 1934, the Bank of England granted a $3,750,000
credit to Germany in order “to facilitate the mobilization of German
commercial credits,” i.e, so that Germany might have means (new
credit) to meet old debts—and build airplanes that can cross the English
Channel in seven minutes.

Also Dr. Schacht performed complex miracles in the field of barter.
He needed raw materials from the Balkans, for instance, and finally the
last gold to pay for them was gone. This deterred Dr. Schacht not at
all. He visited the Balkan capitals, and made arrangements whereby he
paid for tobacco, cotton, minerals, with goods. The Balkan exporters
(exporters in many other countries too, for instance South America)
had large credits in frozen marks in Berlin; Dr. Schacht proposed
to liquidate these marks by payment in German manufactured goods,
particularly mumtions. So Greece, for instance, traded a tobacco crop for
a crop of guns. Naturally this increased German political as well as
economic influence in the Balkan regions. Eventually Schacht added
a final fillip to this remarkable process; he “bought” raw materials
actually at a loss, had them shipped not to Germany but to a reéxport
point in, say, the Netherlands, and then sold them—for gold or foreign
exchange. With this foreign exchange he was able to import material
from countries which would not subscribe to the barter deals.

Schacht—The Former Money Bags

It took Hitler a long time to find Schacht. He tried and discarded
several economic experts. There was no financial Rosenberg, no eco-
nomic Goering, on hand from the beginning. Hitler’s first choice as eco-
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nomic adviser was a certain retired captain, by name Wagner; for the
past two years he has been 1 concentration camp. Following Wagner,
a minor industrialist, Wilhelm Keppler, had decisive influence. When
Keppler fell, a new and ambitious economist, Albert Pietsch, president
of the Munich Chamber of Commerce, advanced; he had insinuated
himself into the post of “economic adviser” to Hess, Hitler’s deputy.
But meantime Schacht was ready.

He was born in January, 1877, at Tinglef in Schleswig. His father
was a great admirer of the American democratic tradition; thus the
name he gave his son, Hjalmar Horace Greeley Schacht. The Hjalmar
came from the mother, who was a Dane. Schacht is very proud of his
Viking ancestry. His children have Danish names.

He studied at several universities in Germany, obtained a doctorate,
and went to work as an archivist clerk in the Dresdener bank—one of
the lowest posts. Clever and ambitious, he rose very quickly. One of his
jobs was to prepare the routme trade bulletms; he did them so well—
combining vigorous unorthodoxy with sly good sense—that presently
the director of the bank used them as a guide to policy. So by 1908 he
was deputy director. In 1916 he went to a rival bank, the Darmstaedter
and National, as director.

In 1923, when the mark collapsed, he was appointed Reichs cur-
rency commissioner and he saved Germany from utterly chaotic condi-
tions by inventing the Rentenmark, which stabilized the currency. As
reward for this coup, he was appointed president of the Reichsbank;
he had already refused the finance ministry, which he thought not big
enough. He was Reichsbank president till 1930, when he resigned in
protest at the Hague agreements which implemented the Young plan.
1n March, 1933, Hitler appointed him to the presidency of the Reichs-
bank again.

He is a man of utterly boundless ambition. Until he hitched his star
to the Hitler bandwagon, he wanted to be President of Germany. He
is a complete opportunist. He was one of the founders of the democratic
party, in 1919, and the socialists supported him as the man who saved
the mark. The campaign slogan went, “Wer hat die Rentenmark er-
dacht? der Demokrat, Herr Dr. Schacht!” But early in 1930 Schacht
saw on which side Germany’s bread was buttered, and he turned to
Hitler. He had met Hitler through Goering.

Dorothy Thompson interviewed Schacht early in 1931. He told her
he was going Nazi. She asked him why. He replied, “Because I believe
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in everything that encourages German nationalism.” Miss Thompson
said, “But if Hitler comes to power, the Nazis can’t run the country
financially, economically. Who will run 1t?” Schacht replied, “I will.”

Like so many Hitlerites, Schacht has no discernible private life.
He owns an estate in the country, but he preferred living in the bank
itself in town. He wears extraordinary collars, high and jaw-breaking.
He likes good conversation. He is cool, shrewd, witty. His power is based
first on tremendous ahility, second on absolutely ruthless and calculating
opportunism. As a boy Schacht had ambitions to be a poet, and one of
his songs, incorporated in a musical comedy, survives:

“I am a musician, very well known,
and loved n the whole country.
When I arrive in a little town
everybody cheers, the grown-up and the children.
For I play upon my fiddle
first a dance and then a song.
And when people are happy together
I am welcome everywhere.”

Not only was Schacht Hitler’s money man for years, but he contrived
to make himself indispensable as a link between Hitler and the whole
of German economic life. Schacht domunated, for instance, the newly
created Reich economic chamber. Theoretically, this organization em-
braces the labor front, with its fifteen mullion members, whose dues
amount to 100,000,000 RM per year. Then he became minister of
economics.

Naturally Schacht has no fondness for Goebbels and the “Left” ex-
tremists. He knows full well that anti-Jewish nonsense hurts German
export trade. At Konigsberg, in August, 1935, he denounced the lunatic
rabble, and Goebbels suppressed his speech. Schacht told friends that
his course would lead him to a monument or the scaffold, he did not
know which. Such conflicts, quarrels like these within the party, are
bound to continue; they rise from the very nature of the Nazi move-
ment.

The industrialists influence Schacht as they influence Hitler, but he
is by no means under their thumb. He is under no one’s thumb. It may
be said that Hitler “protected” capitalism, saved capitalism for his
industrialist friends. But this is not quite the truth. Hitler is no friend
of orthodox finance capital. If private profits interfere with the security
of the state, out private profits will go. The industrialists disapproved of
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much of Schacht’s jugglery, and they have found that although Naziism
serves to perpetuate capitalism, it also demands heavy sacrifices of the
capitalists.

Schacht began to slip in 1937, when he was replaced by Goering as
economics dictator. He was too conservative for the radicals in the
party ; he was too proud to remam merely a figurehead. In January, 1939
he gave up his stronghold, the presidency of the Reichsbank to become
minister without portfolio. He left at once for a long holiday in Inda.
He was succeeded both as minister of economics and president of the
Reichsbank by Dr. Walther Funk, a much lesser man. Funk was a
journalist for many years specializing in economic affairs, and for a time
was Hitler’s press chief. He was born in 1891. His job is one of the most
difficult in Germany.

Hitler has no interest in economics (which was one of the sources of
Schacht’s strength) but economics may be his ruin. The permanent
realities of the economic situation in Germany wait upon no Hitlers, no
Schachts, no Thyssens. When Schacht failed, Hitler found another
would-be Schacht. But the fundamental difficulties remain. Germany must
feed eighty million people; it must borrow or export enough to pay for
imports ; it lives by the manufacture of raw materials, and no financial
hocus-pocus can alter the inexorable law that goods, somehow, must be
paid for.

The day of reckoning will come for Hitler—in gold as well as guns.



Chapter VI
The Fascist OFensive
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Who overcomes by Force
hath overcome but half his foe.
—JorN MiLTON

lN NOVEMBER, 1937, Lord Halifax went to Berlin and saw Hitler,
though ostensibly he visited Germany merely to attend a “Hunting
Exposition.” The visit was in effect another of the several attempts since
1933, when Germany left the League, to make a general European set-
tlement, to bring the Reich into a scheme of what was then still opti-
mistically called “collective security.” The visit was a failure as regards
practical results, but it had value in that Hitler at last defined his
terms, told Halifax what he wanted. Halifax, who was then Lord
Privy Seal, returned to London shocked at the extremity of the German
demands. Nor was Hitler boasting. Almost immediately began the
Fascist Offensive which culminated in the acquisition of Austria by
Germany and the assault on Czechoslovakia.

Perhaps when the pious Halifax met the Fuhrer he thought that he
might patch up a compromise like the celebrated compromises he, as
Lord Irwin, had made with Mr. Gandhi. But he found Hitler much
less pliable than the Mahatma.

According to the Manchester Guardian, Hitler presented Halifax
with a series of points as follows:

First, Germany agreed to rejoin the League, provided that the Cov-
enant was redrafted, the machinery for sanctions scrapped, the League
divorced from the peace treaties, and the war gult clause cancelled.

Second, Germany insisted on the reorganization of Czechoslovakia on
a cantonal system, with something like autonomy for the Sudeten Ger-
mans.

Third, Germany asked Great Britain to refrain from any political or
diplomatic assistance to Austria

Fourth, Germany pledged itself to refrain from raising the issue of
colonies for six years, if Britain would in return promise to assist Ger-
man colonial claims after that period.

100
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Fifth, Germany asked that Britain recognize the Italian conquest of
Ethiopia and the Franco government in Spain, in return for which the
Germans would work for the restoration of peace in Spain.

Revelation of the bold candor and comprehensiveness of these demands
staggered opinion in England. But what was to come was much more
staggering. The next act was the acquisition of Austria in March, 1938.
This extraordinary event, which shook Europe like nothing since
Sarajevo, but which could have been forecast with certainty by anyone
who really knew Hitler’s mind, was assisted by three factors aside from
German single-mindedness and will. We must touch briefly on the three.
First was the development of the Rome-Berlin axis, second was the
purge of the German army high command, third was the resignation
of Mr. Eden as British Foreign Secretary.

The axis had been brought sharply to the limelight by Mussolini’s
visit to Hitler in September, which repaid—three years late—Hitler’s
visit to Venice in 1934. Community between the Fascist states had
meantime become so close as to be tantamount to an alliance. German
generals, German politicians, incessantly visited Italy, and Count Ciano
went several times to Berlin. Mussolini said, “German-Italian solidarity
is a living and active solidarity, the expression and result of national
homogeneity and common interests.”

(Mussolini’s nine hours in Munich gave observers a curious side-
light on the extreme and rigorous protective devices necessary when
modern dictators travel. According to the New York Times (Sept. 25,
1937), every train entering Munich was searched, and every motorcar
halted. Every piece of baggage arriving in the Munich station was “seg-
regated and minutely searched.” All the cellars and attics of buildings
along the triumphal route were sealed, and no front windows were
allowed to be opened during the procession. All foreigners were dras-
tically checked upon, and householders had to submit lists of people in
their abodes. No chances to be taken—despite the vast and unprecedented
popularity of the Fascist idols!)

In November, 1937 the anti-Comintern pact which had been signed the
year before between Germany and Japan was extended to include Italy.
The Italians adhered to the protocol as original signatories, and Hitler
announced that the axis had become a triangle—he said that a “great
world-political triangle” had been formed Ostensibly the pact had nc
object except opposition to communism, but in Italy Signor Gayda, the
Duce’s well-advertised mouthpiece, said that it gave the three signatories
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“vast objects of collaboration.” Its second anmiversary, late in 1938, was
resoundingly celebrated both in Berlin and Rome.

Now the important thing about this new Fascist International or
Fascintern, as it came to be called, was Hitler’s position in the center
between Tokyo and Rome. Hitler was the pivot. Straightway it became
clear that Hitler, not Mussolini, was the dominant partner. This made
the acquisition of Austria possible, even though Mussolini strongly op-
posed 1t. Hitler contrived to get the Duce as an ally, so that it was diffi-
cult for him to denounce Hitler without breaking the alliance, which
was essential to him while he was grappling with England. Hitler made
the Duce climb down on the hitherto vital Austrian issue which had
separated them.

Mussolini should have read Mein Kampf more carefully. Listen:
“The binding force of an alliance decreases the more it confines itself
to maintaining an existing condition. On the other hand, an alliance
waxes stronger the more the individual contracting parties are able to
hope they will gain definite, tangible aims of expansion; in which case,
as always, strength lies not in defense, but in attack.”

Hitler writes muddily as always; his language is a fumbling jargon;
it is extraordinary that his behavior in action so belies his style.

Next came the strange episode of the Marshal Blomberg’s mesalliance
and his consequent departure as German munister of war,

Rumors of friction between the Nazi party and the army command
were rife early in January. Berlin buzzed with uncertainty, and the
atmosphere came almost to resemble that which preceded the great blood
bath of June 30, 1934. Then, on January 12, 1938, came a brief an-
nouncement that Marshal Blomberg, 59 years old and for five years a
widower, had married 23-year-old Erika Gruhn, who was presently dis-
covered to be the daughter of a carpenter and a masseuse. Hitler and
Goering, it was announced, had been witnesses at the ceremony.

This would seem to have given the marriage all the official sanction it
needed, but a storm of repressed excitement rose among Blomberg’s col-
leagues and subordmates. They were gunning for Blomberg because
he was considered to be too completely under Hitler’s thumb. His mar-
riage, which violated the strict Prussian code of eligibility for officers’
wives, was no more than a convenient pretext. What really worried
some of the higher officers was Hitler’s policy. Part of the army dis-
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approved of the extent of German intervention in Spain; they were
distrustful of the value of an alliance with Mussolini; they feared that
Hitler’s activism might bring a war for which they were not prepared.
But Blomberg, an ardent Hitlerite, prevented expression of these dis-
contents. So on January 28 Colonel-General von Fritsch, the chief of
staff and for a long time Blomberg’s rival for supreme mulitary authority,
went unprecedentedly to Hitler and demanded that Blomberg be dis-
missed, since his marriage violated the army code.

Hitler took advantage of this situation with one of his miraculously
effective double-strokes. He fired both Blomberg and Fritsch! Ap-
parently he considered that Blomberg’s usefulness was at an end. As
for Fritsch he had never been as close to Hitler as Blomberg and his
enemies accused him of Hohenzollern sentiments and monarchist flirta-
tions. Behind the story was the familiar picture of bitter rivalries among
the Nazi leaders. Goering was ambitious for more power ; Himmler and
Ribbentrop, representing the left wing, wanted to “‘get” the conservative
generals.

But if anyone thought that he would succeed to the high command of
the army he was wrong. With the dramatic statement, “Henceforth I,
personally, will exercise direct command over the entire armed establish-
ment,” Hitler took over the army himself. No new minister of war to
succeed Blomberg has ever been appointed.

The shakeup was peaceable, but it struck in several directions. Thir-
teen generals besides Blomberg and Fritsch were shelved (the official
story incidentally said no more than that their resignations were ac-
cepted on account of “ill health”), and many others were shifted.
Goering became a Field Marshal. Three ambassadors known to be
“moderates” were recalled, and Ribbentrop succeeded Neurath as
foreign minister.

On February 4 Hitler announced the creation of a new cabinet coun-
cil. This became the inner citadel of German power. Its president was
Neurath,! and its members were Ribbentrop, Goering, Hess, Goebbels,
Dr. Hans Lammers (chief of Hitler’s chancellery staff), the new com-
mander-in-chief of the army Colonel-General von Brauchitsch, the
new chief-of-staff General Wilhelm Keitel, and the commander-in-chief

1 Herr von Neurath later became “Protector” of Bohemia-Moravia when Czecho-
slovakia was seized in 1939.



104 INSIDE EUROPE

of the navy Admiral Raeder. This group of nine men, under Hitler,
became the composite ruling power of Germany.

Mr. Eden resigned as British foreign minister on February 21, 1938.
The immediate issue was the angry one of negotiations with Italy. Anglo-
Italian relations had been severely strained since the great sanctions crisis
in 1935, and an attempt to patch them up with an agreement in January,
1937 had not been successful, largely because Italy stubbornly refused
to withdraw its troops from Spain. The British prime minister, Mr.
Chamberlain, desperately wanted a settlement with Italy; in July he had
sent a personal letter to Mussolini, urging resumption of negotiations.
But the Italians continued to pinprick Britain with radio propaganda in
the Near East and with intrigue in Egypt and Palestine. The Spanish
sore still festered with Italian troops.

It seemed that the prime minister, in writing to Mussolini direct, had
gone over his foreign minister’s head. Similarly by dispatching Halifax
to Berlin he seemed to be neglecting Mr. Eden, who disapproved of the
trip. In fact the gap between Chamberlain and Eden was gradually
widening. Chamberlain gave very clear indication that he intended to be
his own foreign secretary. He wanted an agreement with the dictators
at almost any price, if it should lead the way to peace in Europe; Eden
wanted an agreement too, but not at the sacrifice of vital British inter-
ests. The Itahan press kept howling and bleating that Eden must go
if negotiations were to be reopened. Eden said that the Italians should
at least make some gesture first, such as the withdrawal of troops from
Spain. Finally Mr. Chamberlain took matters in hand and received
Count Grandi, the Italian ambassador, at 10 Downing Street to push
a settlement. Promptly Eden resigned.

Lord Cranborne, Eden’s Parliamentary under-secretary, resigned also.
He said in Parliament, “I am afraid that if the government enter on
official conversations it will be regarded not as a contribution to peace
but as a surrender to blackmail.”

Eden’s resignation was vastly important because the Fascist powers
deduced from it the apparent fact that the British were not willing to
stand up longer against the dictators. His departure showed them
clearly that no strong opposition to their course existed in England. Eden
was the symbol of the collective system. When he went, the Fascists
knew that the door was open. And the invasion of Austria promptly took
place.
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One other factor made it convenient for Hitler to strike when he did;
a severe cabinet crisis in France deprived France of a government that
fateful week-end.

Hitler and Schuschnigg?

The world, and not only Austria, was electrified on February 12,
1938, to hear that Chancellor Kurt Schuschnigg, the Austrian chancellor,
devout Catholic and inheritor of the Dollfuss régime of Austrian inde-
pendence, had gone suddenly to Berchtesgaden to meet in conference
that other Austrian, Adolf Hitler. This was the opening wedge. Schusch-
nigg delivered himself into the lion’s den. He thought presumably he
was going to get a breathing spell; what he got was extinction.

First the strange story of an intrigue and a plot that miscarried. Since
July, 1936, Austro-German relations had been “regularized”; Germany
promised to respect the independence of Austria and in return the
Austrian Nazis were to be absorbed into Schuschnigg’s patriotic or-
ganization, the Fatherland Front. But of course the Nazis were not
content with this. They were impatient for full power. Ringleaders
among the extremist group decided to make a “Putsch,” thus giving
the German army pretext for immediate invasion. Nazi agents-pro-
vocateurs were to surround the German embassy in Vienna and to make
an attempt on the life, according to one version of the story, of Gen-
eral Muff, the military attaché, and, according to another, of Von Papen,
the ambassador. The Austrian government got wind of this plan, and
several of the conspirators were arrested. The Putsch was scheduled for
January 30, the anniversary of Hitler’s accession to power as Chancellor.
News of the failure of the Putsch got to Berlin; officers of the Reichs-
wehr protested in alarm at the idea; and Hitler suddenly canceled the
great annual speech he customarily delivers on January 30.

The moderate Reichswehr generals did not want an invasion of
Austria ; the two armies had close sympathies, and Fritsch feared inter-
national repercussions. Thus the Putsch plan had a very important bear-
ing on the German army purge. Hitler had to get rid of those officers
who thought the Austrian adventure dangerous.

Papen found himself out of a job in the February shakeup. That
slippery and debonair gentleman had, moreover, no fondness for the
role he was scheduled to play if the Putsch went through. He got Hitler’s
ear and presented an alternative plan. Let Hitler invite Schuschnigg to
Berchtesgaden and falk him out of Austria. Previously Hitler, in high

2There are detailed chapters about Austria below, Chaps. XXIV-XXVII in-

clicive
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horror, had always refused to have anything to do with Schuschnigg or
any of the other Austrian “trators,” i.e., loyal Austrians. Hitler, for
want of anything better, accepted Papen’s scheme.

Why did Schuschnigg consent to go? First, he knew that the position
was untenable; an explosion was predictably imminent. To keep the
Germans out was like trying to withstand Niagara with a barn door.
Since the development of the Rome-Berlin axis he was no longer sure
of Mussolini’s help, and since Halifax’s visit to Germany he was dubious
of the value of Franco-British aid. Both France and Britain were, of
course, pledged to the theory of Austrian independence; but the year of
our Lord 1938 was yet another year when pledges were torn up like
tickertape. Schuschnigg went to Berchtesgaden because he thought that
somehow, somehow, he might come to terms with Hitler and save some-
thing from the wreck.

Disillusion smote him instantly. He was treated at Berchtesgaden not
only with personal rudeness, but as a political puppet beneath contempt.
He was forced to give up his own bodyguard at the Salzburg frontier,
and accept a “guard of honor” led by enemy Austrians. In eleven hours
of strident talk and lhstening, he was given exactly one meal; he is a
heavy smoker, but not once was he allowed respite for a cigarette.

Hitler raged and shouted; he threatened immediate armed invasion
of Austria unless Schuschnigg succumbed to his demands. The first
demand was for the inclusion of a man named Arthur Seyss-Inquart as
minister of interior and public security—which meant control of
gendarmerie and police—in the Austrian cabinet. The phenomenon of
one dictator demanding the right to compose the cabinet of another is a
strange one even for these times. Schuschnigg compromised by agree-
ing to offer Seyss-Inquart the ministry of justice. Seyss-Inquart—inci~
dentally an old friend of Schuschnigg’s—though not officially a Nazi,
was of course the Nazi’s man.

Hitler introduced the new German commander-in-chief, General
Keitel, to Schuschnigg, pointedly reinforcing his threats to cross the
frontier. Hitler screamed at Schuschnigg: “Understand that I consider
myself the Fuhrer not only of the Germans in the Reich, but of all
Germans throughout the world !”

Schuschnigg went back to Vienna, shaken and tormented ; hardly had
he returned when an ultimatum came from Berlin, demanding again that
Seyss-Inquart be given control of the police. Schuschnigg agreed. This—
at 2:30 A.M. on February 16—was the first ultimatum. . . . The next
day Seyss-Inquart became head of “all the pacification departments in
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Austria”—a charming word “pacification”—and immediately flew to
Berlin, there to make contact with Hitler and receive instructions. Mean-
time Nazi passion rose all over Austria; there were riots and demon-
strations in Graz and throughout the country; Nazi political prisoners
were released.

Schuschnigg had one last desperate card. He played it. On March ¢
he announced that a plebiscite would be held on March 13 wherein the
people of Austria might freely vote whether or not they wished to re-
main independent.

Mussolini, when he heard of this, is reported to have said, “The pleb-
iscite will go off like a bomb in his hand.” It did. Hitler was enraged.
He flew into one of the wildest tantrums of his career. The reason was
obvious: if the plebiscite were held, he, Hitler, would lose it. The best
authorities in Austria at the time agree that, even then, the Nazis would
not have received better than a forty per cent vote. So it was absolutely
imperative for the Germans to prevent the plebiscite at all costs. Hitler
has recorded that he could not believe his own ears when word of the
plebiscite reached him. He decided that Schuschnigg had betrayed him.
“I determined to act at once.” So, through Seyss-Inquart, an ultimatum
—the second ultimatum—was presented to Schuschnigg, demanding that
he call off the plebiscite and resign. This was at 4 P M. on March 1I.
The Austrian chancellor was given, first till 6 P.M. then to 7:30 P.M.
to accede, or German invasion of Austria would begin. This from Hitler,
who had told Schuschnigg at Berchtesgaden that any threat of blood-
shed, of fighting between Germans and Germans, was intolerable and
unthinkable! At 6 Schuschnigg duly called off the plebiscite, and at 7:50
he resigned.

Schuschnigg said over the radio in a broken voice:

“I place on record before the world that all reports to the effect that
disturbances have broken out in Austria and that the government can no
longer control the situation are lies from beginning to end. I am nstructed
by the Federal President to inform the Austrian people that we are yield-
ing to force. . . . Determined at all costs even in this grave hour to avoid
bloodshed, we have ordered the Austrian forces to withdraw without
resistance. . . . And so I take my leave of the Austrian people. God save
Austrial”

Even then few people thought that Hitler would go to the extreme
limit of annexing Austria outright. They should have remembered his
tactics after Hindenburg’s death. He is a whole-hogger or nothing. The
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Nazis rose in Vienna, and the German troops soon streamed across the
frontier. Hitler arrived in Linz the next day like a Roman conqueror.
On the 13th he announced the Anschluss, and Austria as an independent
state ceased to exist.

Schuschnigg made no attempt to run away. In fact flight was impos-
sible. He was arrested by SS men as he left the chancellery after his
farewell speech, and late in 1939 was still in custody.

Loot

The military, political, economic, and strategic gains to Hitler of the
annexation of Austria were very considerable. The population of the
Reich increased overnight to almost 75,000,000, making Germany with-
out doubt the most powerful country in continental Europe. At least
eight new divisions were made available to the German army, and they
were consolidated into the Reichswehr at once.

Germany got Austria’s Alpin-Montangesellschaft, the biggest iron
works in Central Europe, capable of producing at least 2,500,000 tons
of iron ore a year. It got the munitions industries in Steyr and Hirten-
berg, and the biggest deposits of magnesite—a mineral useful in airplane
manufacture—in the world. It got a great reservoir of electric power,
dairy industries, and above all timber, which Austria had in profusion
and which Germany badly needed. And not inconsiderable was the $90,~
000,000 in gold found in the Austrian national bank, a quantity of
gold incidentally almost quadruple that possessed by the entire Reich.
(And promptly, of course, Germany repudiated the Austrian external
debt. . . .)

But the chief gains were political. By acquiring Austria, Hitler won
his supreme triumph in foreign policy to date. “On March 12, 1938, Ger-
many won the World War of 1914,” it was nicely said. The German
frontiers were extended to the Brenner Pass, and Czechoslovakia—
ominous —was virtually encircled. Germany squatted like an octopus
beyond the Rhine, astride the Danube, and the countries of southeastern
Europe could not but feel the impingement of its tentacles, the pressure
of its might. Germany now directly faced no fewer than eleven different
countries—across some highly perishable frontiers.

Duce Infelix

When Lord Halifax received news of the conquest of Austria he is
said to have buried his face in his hands, muttering “Horrible, hor-
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rible!”® When Mussolini heard the news, according to one report he sat
in granite silence for some moments, then hurled a heavy paperweight
through a picture frame. It is now, almost two years after the fact,
indisputable that neither Britain nor Italy—inconceivable as it seems—
was consulted or advised in advance,

(According to Pertinax, the French commentator, the French prime
minister and foreign minister saw Anthony Eden on his return from
Geneva in January, and said that diplomatic steps must be taken at once
if Austrian independence were to be saved. They implored him to com-
municate this view to Chamberlain, and promised French assistance in
the event that Austria should be attacked. But apparently it was too
late. Halifax had already indicated to Hitler that Great Britain was
not prepared to fight for Austria. Eden did his best, and then resigned.)

The correspondence between Hitler and Mussolini during the occu-
pation is illuminating. Hitler had just inflicted on his ally a stunning
diplomatic defeat—probably the worst in Mussolini’s whole career. So
his telegram was defensive, rather worried, and emphatic in its pledge
never to interfere with Mussolini’s own frontier, the Brenner.

“I have now decided to restore order and tranquillity in my country
(Austria). . . . Do not see in this anything more than an act of legiti-
mate national defense, and therefore an action which any man of charac-
ter in my position would perform in the same way. At a critical hour
for Italy I demonstrated the strength of my sentiments to you. . ..
This decision (to respect the Brenner frontier) will never be touched or
questioned.”

Then Hitler made a little peroration:

“I did not take this decision (to acquire Austria) in the year 1938, but
immediately after the Great War. I have never made a mystery of it.”
The inflexible singleness of will of this man, his terrific cold fixity of
vision, who waits patiently for twenty years until his moment comes!
Mussolini’s reply could hardly have been colder:

“My attitude is determined by the friendship between our two coun-
tries, which is consecrated in the Axis.”

Then Hitler telegraphed again—one can practically see him almost
weeping with relief—that he will “never forget” Mussolini’s answer.
“Ich werde Ihnen dieses nie wvergessen,” he proclaimed. Within six
weeks Mussolini had to receive Hitler in Rome for the return visit

2 But he had had “prolonged discussions” with Ribbentrop on March 10. What
on earth did they talk about?
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which had been arranged in Munich the September before. The Duc
couldn’t wriggle out of it, and welcomed the victorious Fuhrer with a
good grace as he could muster. (But Mussolini too, probably, knew tha
the merger of Germany and Austria was inevitable. . . .)

Death of Austria

So Austria perished The country which had more quality of grace
of cultivation and sophisticated charm, than any other in the world
succumbed to Nazi bootheels. Even the name perished. Austria became
a group of provinces known as “Ostmark.” Vienna, the aty of quie
and skeptical laughter, the home of individualism, of worship of art and
the intellect, the wit of Schmtzler, the charm of Strauss, became a Ger-
man provincial town—gleichgeschaltet (coordinated) into the despotism,
the cultural aridity, the terrible uniformity of the Third Reich.

(But Austria was a German country—at least in race. Vienna was a
German city—at least in speech. Hitler was, as it were, coming home.)

When he stood on the bridgehead at Linz, on March twelfth, he an-
nounced that it was “the greatest hour of his Iife.” It was not a great hour
in the lives of some hundreds of thousands of his countrymen.

Quick and merciless, the Brown Terror struck. By early summer, at
least fifty thousand of his countrymen were in jail,* most of them
charged with no offense except the greatest—that of being enemies of
the Nazi régime. The dragnet knew no other categories. Jews of good
station were made to clean streets and toilets. Those arrested included
bankers like Louis Rothschild, ski teachers like Hannes Schneider,
physicians like Dr. Neumann, Catholic politicians like Dr. Ender, aris-
tocrats like Archduke Max Hohenberg. They included social democrats,
capitalists, Habsburgs, old Schutzbunders, Heimwehr Catholics, muni-
tions makers, Jews, communists.

Some few eminent Jews got out, like Professor Freud. Some seven
thousand of them did not get out, and committed suicide.

A few conspicuous political opponents of the Nazis disappeared early.
Baron Odo Neustaedter-Sturmer, it was announced, “committed sui-
cide.” He was the stalwart Heimwehr man who stood outside the
chancellery on July 25, 1934, and led the movement against the Nazi
raiders who had imprisoned and murdered Dollfuss inside.5 Then—cu i~
ous irony —it was announced that Major Emil Fey, who was inside the

4 According to Vincent Sheean in the New York Herald Tribune.
5 See Chapter XX VT below.



THE FASCIST OFFENSIVE 111

building negotiating with the Nazis that same fateful day, had also
“committed suicide.” The Germans hated Neustaedter-Sturmer because
he opposed them, and Major Fey because, they said, he betrayed them.
So the three chief actors of the terrific spectacle of July 25 were united
at last—in death.

Fey’s wife was found dead by his side, and also s dog. The sar-
donicism of Viennese humor finds outlet in the darkest hours. “Dear
God,” one Viennese asked another, “do they shoot even dogs?” His
friend replied, “Ah, you do not apparently realize that the dog also
committed suicide.”

Seyss-Inquart, his réle played, was quickly subordinated to Herr
Burckel, the pacifier of the Saar, who became Reichs commissioner for
Austria. A plebiscite was held in the usual manner, and the Nazis got
the usual vote. Hitler revealed that he had offered to stand alone against
Schuschnigg in an election—what a single combat on what a tourna-
ment field that jousting would have been!—and that now he stood in
Schuschnigg’s place, with the help of Providence which had destined
him for the job, because he was an abler man (which last is certainly
true). The murderers of Dollfuss, who performed one of the most
treacherous and cruel assassinations in history, were ennobled as mar-
tyrs and heroes—which caused even the London Times to protest. The
press was filled with lies about the former régime—which had its faults,
heaven knows—of the most flamboyant transparency. And General
Goering let one cat out of the bag when he justified the terror by saying
that Vienna, with 300,000 Jews, was not a “German” city—although
the whole pretext for Hitler’s twenty years’ campaign was Austria’s
Germanism,

All this being true, let us note on the other hand that the Nazis began
a campaign for the economic rehabilitation of Austria quite beyond the
powers of the former government. Road building and new factories were
pressed forward, slum clearance was advanced, new mines and hydro-
electric plants were announced, and the government took care to em-
phasize to the bewildered workers the socialist elements of National
Socialism.

A good many tears have been wept for poor Schuschnigg. And in-
deed his fate is lamentable. But one should not forget that he and Doll-
fuss (plus Mussolini) were responsible for the debacle which set the
whole earthslip moving—the suppression in blood of the Austrian social
democrats in February, 1934.
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Czeching Up

Before proceeding to outline briefly the history of the German assault
on Czechoslovakia it is well to underline three factors, to emphasize
three important items that sometimes got lost in the shuffle of the most
prodigious crisis Europe has seen in modern times.

It is true that Czechoslovakia was a composite state. (True also that,
until the crisis, it was the strongest and stablest of the succession states;
a peaceable state with high national intelligence ; a state not only with a
powerful and authentic national tradition but with a generous sense of
the needs of Europe as a whole; a state which was a pool of decency
and democracy in the turbulent regions beyond the Rhine, in fact the
only real democracy beyond the Rhine.) But the Czechs, it is unde-
niable, took more than their proper share in the Versailles settlements.
By the census of 1931 Czechoslovakia contained something like 10,-
000,000 Czechoslovaks, and in addition 3,231,688 Germans, 691,923
Hungarians, and 81,737 Poles.

The business of self-determination has its tricks and pitfalls. Rationally
if you believe in self-determination, and it is extremely difficult not to
believe in it, you have to concede that the German minority had as much
right to autonomy as the Czechoslovaks had to independence. But it was
not quite so simple as all that. The peace makers of Versailles were
greedy, but something more than greed is a controlling factor in the
story. No frontier can ever be drawn in Central or Eastern Europe
without leaving some minorities on the wrong side of the border. It is
geographically impossible to give self-determination to isolated enclaves
of people, remote from any frontier, without disrupting the state to
which they belong. The question of ultimate ends must be considered.
The nation itself has as much right to nationhood as the fractional
minorities have to autonomy—to put it mildly. You cannot follow the
practice of self-determination to its logical extreme without reaching an
absurdity—that of the state being sacrificed to its minorities. You can-
not liberate minorities if in doing so you sacrifice the possibility of the
free existence of the state itself. Thus the frontiers of the succession
states were drawn with military and strategic as well as purely ethno-
logical considerations in mind. Thus too the minority treaties were
established in 1919, guaranteeing that the new states with minorities
would not mistreat them.
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So far so good. Let us proceed to three preliminary and important
points.

First, the German minority in Czechoslovakia was by and large better
treated than any other minority in Central Europe, infinitely better
treated for example—there is no comparison—than such a minority as
the Jews in Germany. The Serbs dragooned their Croats; the Ru-
manians crushed their Hungarians; but the Czechoslovaks, certain small
stubborn tactlessnesses aside, treated the Sudeten Germans well. The
Sudetens had the right to use their own language, they had their own
schools. They were equal citizens in a free democracy; they were free
to enter politics and three Germans were cabinet ministers until the
crisis. From 1919 to 1933 they lived at peace with their Czech neighbors.
There were frictions and grievances, but utterly no secessionism until
Hitler came to power There was no “Sudeten question” before 1933.
The Sudetens indeed did not even include autonomy in their program
till 1938.

Second, the German thesis that the Sudeten crisis was a movement to
liberate a downtrodden mitority does not hold much water. It is pretext
to claim that Hitler wanted only to free Germans from non-German rule.
This was part of the story. But not all. There were German minorities in
Poland whom Hitler sacrificed without a qualm in order to hammer out
a pact with Poland which, when he was isolated, he desperately needed ;
he condemned the 350,000 good Germans in the South Tyrol to what
seemed permanent servitude, when he told Mussolini after the Austrian
coup that the Brenner frontier was eternal. These Tyrolean Germans
suffered infinitely more ignominiously than any Sudeten Germans ever
suffered. The very names on the gravestones of their ancestors were
erased. Hans Sachs became Giovanni Saccio.®

Third, the German press unendingly stated that the Sudeten area had
been torn from Germany by the peace treaties. This is pure fabrication.
The Sudeten area was never part of Germany. It has never been German
except in language. The Sudeten area was part of Austro-Hungary, not
of Germany, and the frontier between Germany and Czechoslovakia on
the north was one of the very few that the Versailles map makers did not
change. The boundary followed without alteration the historic line that
always divided the kingdom of Bohemia—since 1526 A.D. at any rate—
from Germany. The Czechoslovaks did get a few square miles of German

%In the summer of 1939 it was announced that the Tyrolese Germans would pe
moved back to Germany.
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soil in Silesia—a very few square miles indeed—but not one inch from
the Sudeten region.

The German pont of view is simple and may be briefly put. The Reich,
an overwhelmingly powerful expansionist nation, demands its proper
privileges ; it demands the room that its military and political significance
rightly entail. If anyone suffers, it is hard luck. One can no more stand
in the way of the Reich, in its irresistible march to dominance of conti-
nental Europe, than one can turn the centuries backward. One can no
more deflect Hitler from his path than one can deflect an avalanche. The
whole sweep of modern history is with the Germans ; the modern histori-
cal process reaches its culmination in German reversal of the peace
treaties. Hitler is indubitably a great man and the Jews who have to wash
sidewalks are unfortunate victims of a cosmic explosion, forlorn by-
products of a civilization past use. Hitler is Germany’s revenge not merely
for Versailles but for Napoleon. Hitler is, in fact, the Napoleon of the
twentieth century.

“Mortal Crisis Doth Portend an End!”’

Events moved with dismaying swiftness and certitude after the sack
of Austria. I can no more than very briefly foreshorten them here. On
February 20, immediately before the Austrian adventure, Hitler re-
ferred to the Sudetens and assured them protection; on March % the
German Diplomatische Korrespondenz, an official propaganda organ, sug-
gested autonomy for them. This was something quite new. Germany was
jumping in the Czechoslovak arena with both feet and in effect putting
forward the idea of dismemberment of the state. Quite properly, but with
great dignity and self-restraint, Prime Minister Milan Hodza of Czecho-
slovakia replied that Czechoslovakia must oppose any outside interference
in domestic affairs.

Already, trying to mend the situation, eager to forestall the storm, the
Czechs had made great concessions to the minorities. In February, 1937, a
year before, the government had made an agreement with all the German
minority parties, except Henlein’s group, promising them subsidies for
employment and public works, granting them jobs in the civil service in
proportion to their number, and extending the use of the German lan-
guage instead of Czech in official communications. The Henlein group
rejected these concessions as inadequate. It must be clearly understood
that the extremust Henlein party was only one of several German parties
in Czechoslovakia. German clericals, German agrarians, German social
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democrats, although good Germans, had no special fondness for the Nazis,
and were included 1n the Czechoslovak cabinet.

Konrad Henlein, the Sudeten leader, a puffy-faced sub-Hitler in his
early forties, was first a bank clerk, then a gymnasium instructor. By
1930 he was head of the German Turnveremn, or gymnastic association, in
Czechoslovakia, and he turned to politics. Hitler’s rise to dictatorship in
Germany enormously stimulated his movement. But at the beginning at
least he always stated unequivocally that he was a loyal subject of the
Czechoslovak state, working merely for the improvement of the German
minority within the country, and as late as 1936 he still asserted that he
was not a Nazi, but a convinced democrat. In 1933 he had said:

“The welfare of the Sudetens is indissolubly bound up with the welfare
of the Czechoslovak republic. We stand 1n principle and unanimously for
loyalty to the state. For more than a thousand years Germans and Czechs
have lived together in these lands, and always their fate has been com-
moen. . . . We feel too vividly the power of historical tradition to con-
sider seriously any kind of territorial revision.” (Italics mine )

Five years later he was to change his mind. Rather Herr Hitler (with
certain aid from the British) changed it for him—with a vengeance.

By mud-March, 1938, it was clearly obvious that the Germans were
going to do something about—or to—Czechoslovakia, without much delay.
Prague stiffened. The French government in an absolutely categorical
declaration promised on March 14 that it would fulfill its treaty obliga-
tions to assist Czechoslovakia if it were invaded; so did the Russians,
though—an important detail—the shrewd Litvinov had so written the
treaty between Czechoslovakia and the Soviet Union that the Russians
were obligated to march only if the French marched first. Even Mr.
Chamberlain in London seemed alarmed ; on March 24 he issued a state-
ment that did not give any explicit British pledge of the Czechoslovak
frontiers, but which warned Germany that if war broke out it might be
impossible to localize it.

Germany receded a step. Marshal Goering stated that Hitler wanted to
“improve” Czecho-German relations—ghastly joke this seems now!
Within Czechoslovakia the non-Henlein Germans, however, began to
desert the sinking ship. The representatives in the Prague cabinet of the
three non-Henlein German parties resigned. Some of their followers
merged with Henlein, which made his party the largest in the country.
Henlem, still theoretically standing for the “territorial integrity of
Czechoslovakia,” demanded a general election. The Prague government
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announced as a conciliatory measure that it would substantially enlarge
its program of concessions as outlined in February, 1937 by making a
totally new “Nationalities Statute,” which, it became known later,
amounted virtually to redrawing the constitution of the state in favor
of the minorities.

April was an angry month. Give a Nazi an inch; he takes 20 miles.
Dr. Benes pleaded for harmony with Germany ; Daladier in London again
gave complete assurance that France would, in the event of war, come
to Czechoslovak aid. (This assurance was once more repeated by M,
Bonnet on May 21 ; the record of French repudiation of promises and
funk is almost beyond belief.) But harmony was not what the Nazis
wanted. A blasting campaign against the Czechs began in the German
newspapers—officially controlled of course—a campaign as noteworthy
for falsehood as for ferocity. On April 22 the Czechoslovak government
raised the ban on public meetings and promised elections in May in
11,000 communities. On the very next day, April 23, answering this
retort courteous with a smash to the nose, Henlein announced his 8-point
“Karlsbad” demands.

These had best be given in full:

1. Equality of Sudeten Germans and Czechs with the Sudeten Germans

no longer to be considered merely a minority.

2. Recognition of the Sudeten Germans as a legal and corporate body.

3. Determination of the Sudeten boundaries within the state.

4. Full self-government for the Germans in this demarcated territory.

5. Legal protection and guarantees for Germans living in Czechoslovakia

outside this demarcated belt.

6. Removal of “injustices” and discriminations against Germans, in the
matter of language, jobs, and the like, inflicted since 1918, and repara-
tion for them.

. State and civil employees and officials in German areas to be Germans.

. The Germans to have full liberty to profess German nationality and to
proclaim allegiance to the ideology of Germany, i.e., Nazidom.

ooy

A state which accepted these eight demands would have ceased to be a
state. These extraordinary points at least cleared the air. They proved
one thing beyond doubt, namely that the Sudetens did not want a settle-
ment, since the demands were utterly impossible from any workable or
practical point of view, if Czechoslovakia was to survive. Yet the Czecho-
slovak government did not immediately reject them; it simply indicated
that the request that Czechoslovakia change its foreign policy was un-
reasonable, and that it could not grant its citizens the right to profes
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allegiance to another country. The demands were proof that Henlein had
given up any thought of a normal solution by negotiation. But Dr. Benes
continued to urge a settlement. Instantly Henlein countered with a state-
ment that the Karlsbad program did not embody his “maximum”
demands!!

In May came crisis. Stormingly the Sudetens began their election cam-
paign. They complained that they were crushed and suppressed ; yet they
were allowed to make speeches freely! They asserted that they were
victims of “political terroristm’ ; but they were allowed free expression of
their beliefs in a free election! The farce passed beyond reason.

It passed beyond peace, too—almost. Two Sudetens were killed in a
frontier brawl on the eve of the May 22 elections. The weekend very
nearly brought war. Henlein saw Hitler on the 1g9th. German troops
massed at the border, and there was every indication that the Germans
planned a Blitzkrieg, lightning war, to destroy Czechoslovakia before
the powers could—if they would—intervene. But with great promptness
and energy the Czechs met the threat by a partial mobilization. The
frontiers were manned, and several hundred thousand reservists called
up. So Hitler receded again, and the crisis continued to grind on.”

The Czech government met the Sudetens at a Round Table Conference
in June. Four different plans were prepared to meet the Sudeten ulti-
matum during the summer, even though Henlein had refused to negotiate
on the basis of the new Nationalities Statute—until “peace and order”
were restored ! In other words, the bandit refused to talk with the police-
man, until the policeman consented to stop committing “crimes.” The
fourth Czech plan, hammered out with infinite patience in circumstances
of almost inconceivable difficulty, when every concession could be inter-
preted as a surrender to blackmail, and was instantly followed by more
and more brutal Nazi pressure, performed the miracle of almost meeting
the Karlsbad program. The Germans and other minorities were promised
local autonomy, and were given quasi-independent status within the state.
Czechoslovakia was to be cantonized, like Switzerland ; the Czech cabinet
was to include “bureaus” representing each minority; the police and
gendarmes in the minority districts were to be turned over to the minori-
ties themselves.

Finally, new laws to govern this procedure were to be drawn up by a
commission consisting equally of representatives of the government and

7 As a result of having been frustrated by this May crisis, Hitler decided to build
the Siegfried line of German fortifications 1n the west
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the Sudetens. Conciliation could go no further, But it was no use. A trivial
incident on the frontier, when a Sudeten deputy was slapped by an
angry officer—the German headlines read “SAVAGE HORSEWHIP-
PING BY BESTIAL CZECH"—broke off negotiations. They were
half-heartedly resumed, but 1t was doubly clear by this time that a peace-
ful settlement was impossible. Already, after a violently agitated August,
it was September.

Meantime Lord Runciman had come to Prague as an official adviser
and mediator. To date it is difficult to assess accurately or in complete
detail the shocking réle that Runciman seems to have played. Most of
the independent American newspaper correspondents in Prague assert
that he seemingly favored the Sudeten case almost from the beginning.
His report at any rate went far beyond anything that even Henlein or
Hitler had dared openly to talk about—actual dismemberment of the
Czechoslovak state. The London Times, at a crucial juncture, also ap-
peared with an important editorial advocating rectification of the frontier,
and territorial cession of the Sudeten area to Germany. Obviously these
events greatly strengthened Hitler’s hand.

September is the month of the Nazi congress at Nuremberg. It met in
the tumultuous shadow of impending war. Germany was mobilized—
though the operation was masked with the term “maneuvers”’—with
1,300,000 men at arms. Europe paused, tense, to hear the Fuhrer. He
outdid himself on September g with a surly and bombastic speech, full of
the smoke and thunder of defiance. He refused to believe that negotia-
tions could bring a settlement; he said that Germany would capitulate to
no one. Germany roared ; the Czechs waited ; Europe quivered; and Mr.
Chamberlain flew to Berchtesgaden. But he did not fly there to save the
Czechs; he flew there to prevent a war.

War didn’t come. War was to be averted for another year. What
came instead was—Munich.



Chapter I1X
From Munich to Warsaw
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“The heart of Poland hath not ceased
To quiver, tho’ her sacred blood doth drown
The fields . .
—TENNYSON

HEN Mr. Chamberlain took off at Heston airdrome in the

early morning of September 15, 1938, to visit that well known
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